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OUR ASSETS
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Therma

ta Land base of 51 5000 net acres

Large inventory of ident4ied premium

undeveloped assets will provide value

added projects for the next decade

sz Current production capacity of approximately

120000 barrels per day and

it 33 billion barreis of estimated bitumen

in place in the McMurray and

Clearwater formations

Pehcan Lake

World class crude of pool with over

billion barrels of original oil in place

COlE on Canadian Natural lands

it Recoverable reserves and connngent

resources of 560 million barrels

through polymer floodetg and

primary production and

Plan to convert 80% of the field to polymer

flood by the end of 2014 increasing

production to 60000 barrels per day

Primary Heavy
it .4 million net acres of developed and

undeveloped land and dominant

infrastructure position

it Inventory of approximately

6000 potential drilling locations

Record drilling in 2009 of approximately

500 wells with target to drill over 600

wells in 2010 and

Low capital and operating costs allow

heavy crude oil assets to generate

sgnificant free cash flow through

commodity price cycles

Light

Provides excellertt balance to our portfolio

Ability to minimize operating costs

through efficient operations and

it Land base provides opportunities for

reserves and production growth using

enhanced oil recovery techniques

it

it

it

Largest land base holder in Western

Canada with 146 million developed and

undeveloped net acres which provides

exposure to conventional unconventional

and deep exploration opportunities

Extensive infrastructure of over

21000 miles of pipeline and high

level of operatorship facilitates

low cost production

Large inventory of drilling prospects with

more than 8000 potential locations allows

for high grade opportunities through

commodity arid cost cycles and

In 2010 unconventional development will

focus on our large Montney position in

Northeast British Columbia

Offshore

West Africa

it



Resources of 16 biluon hai rels OOlP with

best mining est mate recoverable 001k of

Non barrels

Upgraded ught sweet ci ude oil helps

ba ance por foso ana reduces

competihon in the heavy crude or markut

No pioduction declines noirnally associated

wuh crude oil ana ratural gas activihes with

decades of ustimated reserve nfe and

Futuie expansions target 500 000 oarrels

pEr day of production Erom our leases

North Sea

Significant potential wish billion barrels 001k

re Solid irventoiy of exploitation based value

creation while delivering field life extension

is

Provides substantial free cash flow to

the Company

Offshore West Afrka

Sizeable resource with 1.5 billion barrels 001k

Operated with high working irterest

Opportunity for expiotation and

Provides substantial free cash flow to

the Company



OUR DEFINED PLAN
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Esthnated ornt of cescn.rce pot urdnq current tecuuqUc

Poymer floodng of our Pefcan Lake asset demonstrates the importance of

technological advances Without application of enhanced oil recovery techniques

the area had rmprovernents through

nry possible
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OUR PERFORMANCE

2009 2008 2007

FINANCIAL millions except per share data

Revenue before royalties 11078 16173 12543

Net earnings 1580 4985 2608
Per common share basic and diluted 2.92 9.22 4.84

Adjusted net earnings from operations 2689 3492 2406
Per common share basic and diluted 4.96 6.46 4.46

Cash flow from operations 6090 6969 6198
Per common share basic and diluted 11.24 2.89 1.49

Capital expenditures net of dispositions 2997 7451 6425

Long-term debt 9658 13016 10940

Shareholders equity 19426 18374 13321

OPERATING

Daily production before royalties

Crude oil and NGLs mbbl/d

North America Conventional 234 244 247

North America Oil Sands Mining and Upgrading 50

North Sea 38 45 56

Offshore West Africa 33 27 28

355 316 331

Natural gas mmcf/d

North America 1287 1472 1643

North Sea 10 10 13

Offshore West Africa 18 13 12

1315 1495 1668

Barrels of oil equivalent mboe/d 575 565 609

Adusted net earnings from operations is non-GAAP measure that the Company utilizes to evaluate its performance The denvation of this measure is discussed in

the MDA
Cash flow from operations is non-GAAP measure that the Company considers key as it demonstrates the Companys ability to fund

captal reinvestment and repay debt

The derivation of this measure is discussed in the MDA
Includes the current portion of long-term debt

CANADIAN NATURAL



North America 793 984 iQ0
North Sea

Offshore West Africa

799 990 1068

North America 10651 jj60
North Sea 150 258 287
Offshore West Africa 192 192 192

10993 12053 12639

oilandNGLsmmbbl
North America 2664 948 920
North Sea 240 256 310
Offshore West Africa 123 142 128

3027 1346 1358

Iasbcf
North America 3027 521
North Sea 67 67 81

Offshore West Africa 85 94 64

3179 3684 3666

Barrels of oil equivalent mmboe 3557 1960 1969

Synthetic crude oil mmbbl 1946 1761

Excludes net stratigraphic test end service wells

December31 2009 reserve estimates are based upon 2009 12-month average reference price assumptions as detailed below and current costs 12-month average price

as defined by u.s Securities and Exchange Commission sEC is the unweighted average price of the first day of the month within the 12-month period prior to the end
of the

reporting period Prior to December31 2009
year

end
prices and costs were used in reserve estimates

Prior to December 312009 Horizon SCO reserves were reported separately
in accordance to the SECS Industry Guide With SECS Final Rule in effect January 12010 this

synthetic crude oil is now included in the Companys crude oil and natural gas reserve totals

Drillina activity

2009 2008 2007

CANADIAN NATURAL
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Canadian Natural continues to build world class crude oil and natural gas company and create

value for shareholders by delivering on key principles We have made tremendous progress since

our initial beginnings as shallow natural gas producer in Western Canada and the journey is far

from over as we have vast undeveloped assets to advance in the short mid- and long4erm

We believe that the assets that have been developed and acquired over the life of the Company provide balance and strength in all

commodity cycles The Company operates in both domestic and international basins and has successfully commenced production from

our Horizon Oil Sands Project Our Company provides balanced portfolio producing natural gas light crude oil heavy crude oii and

synthetic crude ol In all areas of our operations significant resource potential remains for Canadian Natural and our shareholders

Business Environment

In 2009 we experienced broad range of business environments Early 2009 was anchored by low commodity price environment and

continued concern over economic conditions In the second half of 2009 optimism began to grow allowing crude oil prices to follow

suit where they remained at relatively stable levels through to the end of the year Heavy crude oil differentials were favorable through

the year as refiners demanded heavy crude as crack spreads stayed narrow Our proactive three-pronged marketing strategy to blend

increase conversion capacity and support pipeline capacity is paying off and will continue to create value for our very significant heavy
crude oil assets The market for heavy crude oil has resulted in differentials to WTI near at-time lows

Natural gas pricing remained challenged through 2009 as supply and demand fell out of balance and record storage levels in North

America weighed on pricing Economic conditions and the uncertainty for demand led to extreme volatility
in natural gas pricing and

prces in Alberta fell to decade lows The outlook for natural gas prices remains urrcertain as U.S demand will need to grow to offset

high storage levels and the strong growth capability from both U.S and Canadian shale gas

The Alberta royalty program changes announced in 2007 resulted in challenging economics for natural gas drilling within the province

Weak natural gas prices and re-allocation of capital by the industry reduced natural gas investment in 2009 This lack of drilling has led

to softer drilling and service costs in Alberta possibly reaching low point in 2009 Crude oil drilling and heavy crude oil nethacks are

robust return business for Canadiarr Natural and capital allocation in 2009 reflected these opportunities

Business Approach
In the crude oil and natural gas industry commodity price cycles are inherent in the business To build world class company not only

must we withstand the downturns hut we must execute to come out even stronger The Company focuses on the items we can control

and ensures we maintain low cost profile to weather commodity price storms At the same time we take advantage of opportunities
and look to grow the Company organically and through value added acquisitions By looking at our executiorr and results over the last

20 years it is evident our strategy has been effectively proven

DERN ED PLAN EOtrj9 A.nlEf IOCOS rUdhf Oil

l2 years 35 yea Beyond

Primrose Pelican Potential for 20 years of

Pnmary Heavy 5-7% CAGH development

10 CANADiAN NATuRAL



Our team is dedcated to efficient capital allocation that facilitates growth while maintaining financial strength Our ability to generate

internal cash flow allows us to be flexible in the way we do business By having diverse asset base the Company is able to capitalize

on the parts of the business that can provide acceptable returns even during difficult times Our high working interest large land base

and high operatorship allows us to focus on controlling the infrastructure in our areas and timing development thereby delivering the

highest returns

2009 was volatile and uncertain year as we came out of very difficult economic downturn Yet we vvere still able to pay down debt

and deliver on our plan We drilled record number of primary heavy crude oil wells and proceeded with developments in our thermal

heavy crude oil projects Additionally we continued development of enhanced oil recovery techniques at Pelican Lake maintained our

large undeveloped land base in Western Canada and achieved first oil at our Horizon Oil Sands

North America Crude Oil

Our position in North America crude oil remains one of the strongest in the business We are the largest producer of heavy crude of in

Western Canada which has provided significant netbacks as heavy crude differentials remain narrow and we focus on maintaining low

costs We have extensive land holdings and significant development opportunities that will provide shareholder value over the long-term

We manage our heavy crude oil assets in three main categories In primary heavy crude oil we concluded record drilling program in

2009 with over 500 wells These wells provide quick returns and are an excellent complement to some of our longer lead projects In

thermal heavy crude oil we have deep inventory of projects ahead of us The 100% owned Primrose East expansion that was

completed in 2008 continues to ramp up as our team works to mitigate an early resource containment issue Work with the regulators

carries on as expected and steaming is targeted to ramp up again in 2010 We will develop our thermal heavy crude oil resource in

stepwise and methodical manner to ensure we control the cost and deploy capital in the most efficient manner We currently have plans

capable of providing more than 285000 barrels per day of incremental heavy crude oil production over the next several years The next

project Kirby In-Situ Oil Sands which will use steam assisted gravity drainage is targeted to provide an additional 45000 barrels per

day of production capacity and have first steam injection in 2013 At Pelican Lake we are converting the field to polymer flood and

expect to have flooded approximately 40% of the field by the end of 2010 The majority of the field is targeted to be converted over

the next few years enhancing recovery increasing production and adding significant value

Light crude oil in Western Canada provides further balance to our overall asset base We continue to optimize our field operations to

ncrease recovery with waterfloods and to evaluate and implement tertiary recovery to unlock value irr our light oil properties These

enhanced recovery techniques include CO floods in Southeast Saskatchewan and polymer floods in Southern Alberta The strength of

crude oil prices has also allowed our regional teams to target new light crLide of opportunities on traditional natural gas lands

North America Natura Gas

Canadian Natural maintains one of the strongest natural gas positions in Western Canada Being one of the largest producers arrd

holding the largest undeveloped acreage position provides significant upside for this business We continue to deploy capital as

appropriate to these natural gas resources in order to control costs and set up future development We have balanced portfolio within

our natural gas assets and will look to our unconventional areas such as the Montney shale gas and areas of the Deep Basin to provide

significant resource potential in the years to come Our strategy will focus on the right timing to bring on these resources to ensure we
maximize their value

DERNED PLAN North AflieflCa NfdtUt231 s.i.5

12 years 35 years Beyond

Optimize returns Potential for 8000 potential

3-5% CAGR drilling locations

CANADIAN NATURAL 11



Natural gas economics cannot currently compete with our heavy crude oil projects but we believe the time will come when natural gas

can again compete economically The focus in 2010 will be to mitigate expiries and drainage while drillng strategic wells for future

development We will leverage off our large infrastructure to help reduce costs Our ability to be flexible in our capital allocation will

allow us to unlock significant value from our large natural gas position when the opportunities present themselves

nternatona

Our International assets also balance our portfolio as source of light crude oil Both the North Sea and Offshore West Africa core areas

provide free cash flow funding Company growth initiatives We will take advantage of exploitation opportunities and recognize the

potential for significant development prospects We will leverage our North Sea learnings and experience to both Offshore COte dlvoire

and Gabon

We operate the vast majority of our International assets and look for ways to maximize value Cost reductions high grading drliing

inventory and identifying development drilling opportunities is key to value creation In Baobab we have now completed the four

re-drills of the failed wells from 2006 recovering approximately 11000 barrels per day of production At Espor we continued with

progress on upgrades to the Floating Production Storage and Offtake vessel to increase processing capacity At Gabon we completed

drilling on the first of four platforms on the Olowi Field Although production from the first platform is below expectations in 2010 we

will drill the next scheduled platform and look at overall strategies for maximizing value from the project

Horizon Oil Sands

2009 was major milestone for Canadian Natural as first production at our world class mining project was achieved The project was

sanctioned in 2005 and since then the team has worked diligently to complete construction of the plant targeting sustainable production

of 110000 barrels day of 340 API crude oil The team targets to complete the ramp up to full production by the middle of 2010

Through our disciplined and prudent approach to capital allocation the Company has successfully built legacy asset and retained

100% of the value for our shareholders with only nominal impact to the development plans for its other assets

Potential expansions at Horizon are currently being re-profiled to optimize economics while reducing execution risk The team will use

2010 to take lessons learned from Phase and determine how to apply them to future phases While many of our initiatives were

successful we recognize there are opportunities for improvement The team will build on these lessons learned to help identify the best

execution strategy going forward for future phases Ultimately Horizon production is targeted at 232000 to 250000 barrels per day

but it is important we focus on the optimum execution to ensure we control costs and get the best value from the asset Future

expansions at Horizon must provide acceptable risklreward parameters in order to proceed

DERNED PLAN IntefliatiOflal

12 years 35 years Beyond

Free cash High return Major growth area

flow projects acquisitions
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Financia Strength

Management understands the mportance of finanoal strength and promotes low risk approach to our business Not only does it

ensure the Company survives during economic uncertainties but it allows for fiexibdity in capital allocahon Our balance sheet is strong

as the Company is generating significant free cash flow Projects within the Company compete against each other for capital and

therefore the highest return projects are allocated capital first There are segments of our business where we could allocate more

capital but we will wait for the right time to maximize returns

There are opportunities to mwgate some commodity pnce volatility through hedging and the Company will engage in hedging to

protect base cash flow In years of high capital spending the Company will accelerate the hedging program to underpin cash flows

to ensure the projected capital requirements are met without exposing the Company to unnecessary risks By employing this strategy

vve are able to excel in all commodity and business conditions

We have increased our guarterly dividend for the tenth consecutive year The 2010 quarterly dividend on common shares increased by

43% to $0.15 per common share payable April 2010 This demonstrates the stability of Canadian Natural and our dedication to

long-term shareholder returns

Our Advantage
Our approach to our business is proven successful Although an economic recovery appears to be underway we remain cautious in our

business approach We will continue to utilize our large asset base to leverage cost saving opportunities We will maintain our land base

for future opportunities We will continue to execute projects that provide the best returns and these opportunities are plentiful

ci ode oil project insentory is extensise as is oui natuial gas inventory nd they will be developed to piovide significant value in the

years to come We continue to look forward to marketing strategies that will ensure we receive the best value for our heavy crude oil

production Our natural gas assets are strong and the opportunity to grow this part of our business will come and vvhen it does we will

he in position to capture the value Our International assets provide balance to our portfolio and our mining prolect at Horizon is now

beginning to pay off With all areas of our business providing free cash flow the ability to grow our Company has never looked

more promising

Our approach to our business is consistent and patient Just as it has been for over 20 years this discipline is ow advantage

AIIan Markin Murray Edwards

CHAIRMAN vicE-CHAIRMAN

DERNED PLAN HOnZOn Off Sands

12 years 35 years Beyond

Stabilize production Expansion to Expansion to

Re-profile expansions 232 250 mbbl/d 500 mbbl/d
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ii rio nBa Ar Bed Bore nnry our rrgarlao ye artrA Br 0/

so AKVK eBB bnA oobV BeHiai BnA KaAyK Na rBAr
verb rip 1yBayi /er BBBrVaKb or asBleeae BnBarBai orBiab KaArioBw BBr Br Tour

nra aS Bro or Ba ncdBee od ddednb voKBa BonLy or nbdai go
odd iu BBrBBO00 B- rAe BrobynoB dd va BK na-b KnaBbbi boKi roagn BB

BK rB ire ii BBB BeoBnBBBen rno Bci BabeL BK oBrrBB
Ba rL dBnny nry 00 Bir Krbr 0.00 pnrbo rby Br aKo or

era Be anw deo aB icier ceo in
oK Br Ma Br ii Ni Ba

ocr Bike neAr or ror Anordr uBryi da ebBe cc Bob OK KB
Kr baB rd BBr BrBb- Br ide 03 on AB

eke KoB ipkcrht or rend ryB Ary vrihn brbr Bi

odvdBn ur dogasBaBBr BrdnB aBA Broern Br Brian Ba Kar eBB

oK 0BiriLilip BooK 0001 BB Boare cc nB Bo ierDv ArBuBiB nB

no no BeinBn or rK3 or0 BBBBVK up Bap Me rBB Bob

onrog nOB Ko Bar Ar BriM1 rBd iph kdb iv oar oarBB via

rB nb in bd Kb vyBarrdBb abA nMBbar obdB-Bo BBBB Kak Ba LB oBir

By Kr to nta An ruB Be ndB

yBr be eaan r.o ABray Kr a0ABBBbn yr rB Knpav ony rBBA KB Ba KK
aodn rdv annayaanv rBn 3B or Her or

yBgnn norodoro Bd Ken do onenron do bra rh-Bn Brd BA ci

Br aabb ny BdnnratnK iTt no-nyu KB oBo KBv yr

BnaBn oy 3ig ti-v Bra rH Or rKniyn rBBr Br BA nd No
i-ear riB lOcK Br nn1ar oar Br Kr Ar bhA

ii OB1B coKe KonrdBdrB BerdB riB niB ernrr ornrB-B eAr In
bdnne Boi reKc--ni BrrrBK 0cc Di

aPe ora en abc rB.yBK gB odryo be orpBn dir Beovo BArn

AK ora Bnai BA/Bra BirD CI yo.e dno BB Oc BKr

Br aan BA OB Ka VOAK no
oB B- rKrKeto be BABy yor ao

Aen goB oAg coB roBKry coyvrBnn aro Ho Ba Doo di vi

Br cAB- iA-K AcooMr roABoBrBaa ri Kb aAbota riB1
lao nraB BK rb nao AB gooDy AKan on ndr in ad cc

By bo Aabaa anBaarKraorAto 00 zu lb yBrab BonB 3K

BBBBBI Do draBnatKB rrntrt 0KB coKt BAa BAtn

ocAr rod Br Tie Arar anIa aBAtAioBr 000 ntbocry BAiKh -Bar- BA in
a- inn AooroA Be naB BecKA ro aoaBao Pt

vrbra aianabyoi Br noA- baopBho veMra rdAoKr ib cry Bt

iv a-Bit adaar Ba rooK 0va Bonya oa BarBrt ac ar

iaar ab BoB -c rOB BetB 00 Brie oBceotvrr it Bo B/on ArK BoHr bBr NB

vdAao orB -ibm oBc BBr yaoot Bn ai 3K andot iOB oK ANn rK

-rb moB MryB aBBnr Hair err bt Bra rK arBor BrBb rD Ki .By KB
Borv BwaAiog iv AA .0 BrBBa nK an ryar on Brb DBayrB 01 BK

id ByAao buy rc Ar ByoiKbprKo iAeBD Ba gAnyB Ba ayKB -ao dOc rd

orB Mo oB nBtnyod nrcnrnW nB yA ny dor Ca rKnB Kr

ion iioy orboc 1001 iOn tBvB nr by bKH PB BA uB rBgBd
Br KanA Dry oH ii ad A0 bdy BBB BgcK eB 00 bigr in

B-i aB rbbb BKBA aBB brtBrBr ynb roB vBD Bard honnrBvdyo or 01 Br no Bob er0 BB

aar pr-r-/- aombA boKBra bAarydw Bavo Hid ryAag BBab jKo BoB Ar

ByK It obA at Ad Bar ABA /0 An oar in Ar IBO by By
bbs eaBBi bKnr Ma irK iou Knora MBIa BAr -BA

cr0 ian AA 1kb Ba aBc rA ri rOB on Br lB or

orb or B-B 0_ceo Ba aa ajnB in 51 or pyo eo

Be rbnvb ociB Ba -i Ka rKo ON A1 rAn Bi0VDA1 nbnr BoB- -n NB

heiBo DaB- rB-d rrMar M-oo iv
Br rBat Bbrar Non Mb roar rc ioKBy r0v -Bnhn KBoH

yBbnr KrhraBurgbBKr edDo nerKKab KnKA Bazc Brad My .K

Aba rib B-r onAy Ba do Kayn OB KB Eobr KnnnK trw aK ob Kp nBop Dac Ba Ba

VnKeto noKun
ai

KBKa iv Kayo hhoKaarajB KoDiaK dutarn nBodanyr pK BK AKn BK av

Ba riB errKinBVp 1K-Br oKrd bKrd rbKHKryr eKo roooKvvg KcrNbKiBaK BouBB.K ibnKr

KnM gnns rBKoB eBaKan KBan gK rib Kr -BK BBKbnKDBBeB Ba oiK

Kgby 1ABBBKnvKrbb rKr BIb Kb cry BOOK K-no nyKiB niK Ar tn BA Kc
joK eK ab icK yaK BK KroDv ocK By BK nrc eBB banK oK c- K-nB

BacK rKh Boot -Krpsbr yongyKnBg KwAurB oeK veB aooK iK BK ob

Kt uKHh rKu oKoB KeBAorboaarr eKoa BoKvee Kr KiKwb BnK Ka KioB Ba Ko

yKHv 0w Avoizb AnA uBdMA c.vK A1KrcV cAn rn Korr noB-Kin

biB AK KgKaAArmcKoobnha Ko BKyib upB Ku Ku BAKunt B-KM An Ti K-
KrrKBBKiaiBoBB3iKraabbooA3o Ke Ko Kar BnBbKy Kb

p0
ab -Laborn ry DnBarB or Ii 00

aBBw An KBBuBaA000DreB odabBBpa Be uBBrA odajA Ca

en nB hBr ordobBnB MpKn Br i-ancBI .0 yonraA err BK Ca
B-rKo-diKa1 bLrnbo narroit oL nc atn
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To develop to work together

to create value for the Companys shareholders

by doing it right with fun and integrity
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YEAR-END RESERVES

Determination of reserves

For the year ended December 31 2009 the Company retained qualified independent reserves evaluators Sproule Associates Limited

Sproule and GLJ Petroleum Consultants Ltd GLJ to evaluate and review all of the Companys proved as well as probable crude

oil synthetic crude oil bitumen natural gas coal bed methane and NGLs reserves and prepare Evaluation Reports on these reserves

Sproule evaluated and reviewed all of the Companys crude oil bitumen natural gas coal bed methane and NGLs reserves GLJ

evaluated all of the synthetic crude oil reserves related to the Companys oil sands mine The Company has been granted an exemption

from certain provisions of National Instrument 51-101 Standards of Disclosure for Oil and Gas Activities NI 51-101 which

prescribes the standards for the preparation and disclosure of reserves and related information for companies listed in Canada This

exemption allows the Company to substitute SEC requirements under Regulations S-K and S-X for certain disclosures required under

NI 51-1 01 On December 31 2008 the SEC released its final rules for the modernization of oil and gas reporting Final Rule The

material changes include the ability to include oil sands mining as an oil and gas activity ability to use reliable technology to establish

undeveloped reserves the optional ability to report probable reserves the requirement to track undeveloped locations and the directive

to use 12-month average prices and current costs These resulting changes are more in line with NI 51-101 however there are material

differences to the type of volumes disclosed and the basis from which the volumes are determined NI 51-101 requires gross reserves

and future net revenue under forecast pricing and costs however the SEC as discussed requires disclosure of net reserves after

royalties using 12-month average prices and current costs Therefore the difference between the reported numbers under the two

disclosure standards can be material

The Reserves Committee of the Companys Board of Directors has met with and carried out independent due diligence procedures with

Sproule and GLJ as to the Companys reserves

Corporate net reserves

Proved finding and on-stream costs excluding Horizon SCO reserves were $19.81 per barrel of oil equivalent with total reserve

additions replacing 69% of production On three-year basis proved finding and on-stream costs were $17.76 per barrel of oil

equivalent Using proved and probable reserves finding and on-stream costs were $22.64 per barrel of oil equivalent and averaged

$17.41 per barrel of oil equivalent over the past three years

Economic price revisions resulted in reduction of 327 billion cubic feet of natural gas 19 million barrels of crude oil and NGLs and

307 million barrels of SCO proved reserves Absent these revisions and excluding Horizon SCO proved finding and on-stream costs

would have been reported at $12.28 per barrel of oil equivalent

Under revised SEC reporting guidelines crude oil and natural gas reserves now include Horizon SCO reserves The net proved SCO

reserves on stand alone basis have an associated cumulative Phase finding and on-stream cost of $5.82 per barrel of

oil equivalent

North America net reserves

Proved finding and on-stream costs for North American operations excluding the impact of Horizon SCO reserves were $12.78 per
barrel of oil equivalent

Net proved reserve additions excluding economic revisions due to prices replaced 176% of 2009 production at finding and

on-stream cost of $6.45 per barrel of oil equivalent Net proved and probable reserve additions excluding economic revisions due

to prices replaced 213% of 2009 production at finding and on-stream cost of $5.32 per barrel of oil equivalent

International

North Sea net proved reserves were 16 million barrels of oil equivalent less than 2008 as result of technical revisions which were

largely offset by positive price revisions

In Offshore West Africa net proved reserves decreased by 21 million barrels of oil equivalent to 137 million barrels of oil equivalent

in 2009 due to production and negative price revisions
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RESERVES OF CRUDE OIL AND NATURAL GAS NET OF ROYALTIES

December 31 2009

Proved Proved Proved Proved and

Developed Undeveloped Total Probable

Crude oil and NGLs mmbbl
North America Synthetic crude oil 1589 61 1650 2512
North America Bitumen 268 427 695 1213
North America Crude oil and NGLs 204 15 319 447
North Sea 94 146 240 387
Offshore West Africa 106 17 123 179

2261 766 3027 4738aIasbcf_
North America 2333 694 3027 3992
North Sea 45 22 67 94
Offshore West Africa 81 85 124

2459 720 3179 4210

Total reserves mmboe 2671 886 3557 5440

FINDING AND ON-STREAM COSTS excluding Horizon SCO reserves and capital

Three Year

2009 2008 2007 Total

Net reserve replacement expenditures millions 2377 3475 3027 8879
Net reserve additions mmboe

Proved 120 168 212 500
Proved and probable 105 237 168 510

Finding and on-stream costs $/boe

Proved 19.81 20.68 14.28 17.76
Proved and probable 22.64 1466 18.02 17.41
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CRUDE OIL AND NGLS RESERVES RECONCILIATION NET OF ROYALTIES

North America International Total

Synthetic
Offshore

Crude Crude Oil North West

Net Proved Reserves mmbbl Oil Bitumen NGLs Total Sea Africa

Reserves December31 2008 690 258 948 256 142 1346

Extensions and discoveries 24 30 30

jpeecovy__ 74 74 74

SEC Rule Transition 1650 1650 1650

Production 49 24 73 14 11 98

Economic revisions due to prices 64 72 57 19

Revisions of prior estimates 79 90 59 27

Reserves December 31 2009 1650 695 319 2664 240 123 3027

North America International Total

Synthetic
Offshore

Net Proved and Crude Crude Oil North West

Probable Reserves mmbbl Oil Bitumen NGLs Total Sea Africa

Reserves December31 2008 1238 361 1599 399 191 2189

Extensions and discoveries 35 46 46

12 14 14

10 10 10

10 10 10

SEC RuleTransition 2512 2512 2512

asesofreservesin lace-
Sales of reserves in place

Production 49 24 73 14 11 98

Economic revisions due to prices 135 138 13 131

Revisions of prior estimates 102 12 9Q 11 84

Reserves December 31 2009 2512 1213 447 4172 387 179 4738

December 31 2009 reserve estimates are based upon 2009 12-month average reference price assumptions as detailed below and current costs

12-month average price as defined by the SEC is the unweighted average price of the first day of the month within the 12-month period prior
to the end of the reporting

period Prior to December31 2009 year
end prLcs and costs were used in the reserves estimates

2009 2009

12-month 2008 2007 12-month 2008 2007

Average Year-end Year-end Average Year-end Year-end

Price Price Price Price Price Price

Crude Oil and NGLs Natural Gas

Wfl@CushipgahomaUS$/bbl 61.18 44.60 $96.00 Henry Hub Louisiana US$/mmbtu 3.87 $6.80

WCS C$/bbl 58.49$ 33.07 n/a Atherta AEcQ CC$/mmbtu ______
3.87 6.34 $6.52

North Sea Brent US$/bbl 59.91 41.76 $96.02 British ColumbiaHqndppC$/mrnbtu 92 7.48_

company Average Price c$/bbl 59.39 34.51 62.87 company Average Price C$/mcf 4.02 6.51 6.48

foreign exchange rate of us$0.87/C$1.00 was used in the 2009 evaluation US$0.82/C$1.00 was used in the 2008 evaluation us$1.o1/C$1.oo was used in the

2007 evaluation

Proved reserve estimates were evaluated in accordance with the new SEC requirements The stated reserves have reasonable certainty of being economically recovered using

12-month average prices
and current costs held constant throughout the productive life of the properties

Prior to December 312009 Horizon SCO reserves were reported separately in accordance to the SECS Industry Guide With SECS Final Rule in effect January 12010 this

synthetic
crude oil is now included in the Companys crude oil and natural gas reserve totals

Bitumen as defined by the SEC under the Final Rule is petroleum in solid or semi-solid state in natural deposits with viscosity greater than 10000 centipoise
measured

at original temperature in the deposit
and atmospheric pressure on gas free basis Under this definition all the Companys thermal and primary heavy crude oil reserves

have been classified as bitumen Prior to December31 2009 these reserves would have been classified within the Companys conventional crude oil and NGL totals
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NATURAL GAS RESERVES RECONCILIATION NET OF ROYALTIES

North

America

North Offshore

Sea West Africa

Reserves additions are comprised of all
categories of reserves changes exclusive of production and Horizon SCO reserves

Reserves finding and on-stream costs are determined by dividing total cash capital expenditures for each year by net reserves additions for that year It excludes costs

associated with head office abandonments midstream and Horizon

SEC Reliable Technology accounts for reserves volumes added due to the reserves rule changes to allow booking of undeveloped reserves beyond one spacing unit with

supporting geoscience and engineering data

SEC Rule Transition accounts for the inclusion of synthetic crude oil reserves volume additions as result of oil sands mining being included as crude oil and natural gas
activity effective December 31 2009 For continuity purposes with respect to the transition from Industry Guide into the SECS Final Rule the following Horizon SCO
reserves table has been provided to illustrate the changes in the Horizon SCO reserves for the 2009 year

Net Proved

and Probable mmbblHorizon SCO Reserves Net Proved mmbbl

Reserves December31 2008 1946 2944
Production 18 18
Economic revisions due to prices 307 434
Revisions of prior estimates ..
Reserves December 31 2009 1650 2512

The December 31 2009 probable reserves have been evaluated in accordanceto the new SEC requirerrients Probable reserves are less certain to be recovered than proved
but which when added with proved are as likely as not to be recovered Prior to December 31 2009 proved and probable reserve estimates and values were evaluated in

accordance with the standards of the Canadian Oil and Gas Evaluation Handbook and as mandated by NI 51-101

Total
Net Proved Reserves bcf2

Reserves December 31 2008 3523 67 94 3684
Extensions and discoveries 92 92

Infill drilling

jproved recovery

SEC Reliable Technology
171

SEC Rule Transition

Pro pertypurc hases 15 15

Property disposals

Production 443 453
Economic revisions due to prices 335 12 327
Revisions of prior estimates ...ZQ_. ...
Reserves December 31 2009 3027 67 85 3179

Net Proved and Probable Reserves bcf19

Reserves December 31 2008 4619 94 131 4844
Extensions and discoveries

Infill drilling

Improved recovery

SEC Reliable Technology

SEC Rule Transition

Property purchases 19 19

Property disposals

Production 443 453
Economic revisions due to prices 429 427
Revisions of prior estimates

........1c .. ... J1Q
Reserves December 31 2009 3992 94 124 4210
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MANAGEMENTS DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

SPECIAL NOTE REGARDING

FORWARD-LOOKING STATEMENTS

Certain statements relating to Canadian Natural Resources Limited

the Company in this document or documents incorporated

herein by reference constitute forward-looking statements or

information collectively referred to herein as forward-looking

statements within the meaning of applicable securities legislation

Forward-looking statements can be identified by the words

believe anticipate expect plan estimate target

continue could intend may potential predict

should will objective project forecast goal
guidance outlook effort seeks schedule or

expressions of similar nature suggesting future outcome or

statements regarding an outlook Disclosure related to expected

future commodity pricing production volumes royalties operating

costs capital expenditures and other guidance provided

throughout this Managements Discussion and Analysis MDA
including the information in the Outlook section and the

sensitivity analysis constitute forward-looking statements

Disclosure of plans relating to and expected results of existing and

future developments including but not limited to the Horizon Oil

Sands Primrose East Pelican Lake Olowi Field Offshore Gabon

and the Kirby Thermal Oil Sands Project also constitute forward-

looking statements This forward-looking information is based on

annual budgets and multi-year forecasts and is reviewed and

revised throughout the year if necessary in the context of targeted

financial ratios project returns product pricing expectations and

balance in project risk and time horizons These statements are not

guarantees of future performance and are subject to certain risks

and the reader should not place undue reliance on these forward-

looking statements as there can be no assurances that the plans

initiatives or expectations upon which they are based will occur

In addition statements relating to reserves are deemed to be

forward-looking statements as they involve the implied assessment

based on certain estimates and assumptions that the reserves

described can be profitably produced in the future There are

numerous uncertainties inherent in estimating quantities of proved

crude oil and natural gas reserves and in projecting future rates of

production and the timing of development expenditures The total

amount or timing of actual future production may vary significantly

from reserve and production estimates

The forward-looking statements are based on current expectations

estimates and projections about the Company and the industry in

which the Company operates which speak only as of the date

such statements were made or as of the date of the report or

document in which they are contained and are subject to known

and unknown risks and uncertainties that could cause the actual

results performance or achievements of the Company to be

materially different from any future results performance or

achievements expressed or implied by such forward-looking

statements Such risks and uncertainties include among others

general economic and business conditions which will among

other things impact demand for and market prices of the

Companys products volatility of and assumptions regarding crude

oil and natural gas prices fluctuations in currency and interest

rates assumptions on which the Companys current guidance is

based economic conditions in the countries and regions in which

the Company conducts business political uncertainty including

actions of or against terrorists insurgent groups or other conflict

including conflict between states industry capacity ability of the

Company to implement its business strategy including exploration

and development activities impact of competition the Companys

defense of lawsuits availability and cost of seismic drilling and

other equipment ability of the Company and its subsidiaries to

complete capital programs the Companys and its subsidiaries

ability to secure adequate transportation for its products

unexpected difficulties in mining extracting or upgrading the

Companys bitumen products potential delays or changes in plans

with respect to exploration or development projects or capital

expenditures ability of the Company to attract the necessary

labour required to build its thermal and oil sands mining projects

operating hazards and other difficulties inherent in the exploration

for and production and sale of crude oil and natural gas availability

and cost of financing the Companys and its subsidiaries success

of exploration and development activities and their ability to

replace and expand crude oil and natural gas reserves timing and

success of integrating the business and operations of acquired

companies production levels imprecision of reserve estimates and

estimates of recoverable quantities of crude oil bitumen natural

gas and liquids not currently classified as proved actions by

governmental authorities government regulations and the

expenditures required to comply with them especially safety and

environmental laws and regulations and the impact of climate

change initiatives on capital and operating costs asset retirement

obligations the adequacy of the Companys provision for taxes

and other circumstances affecting revenues and expenses The

Companys operations have been and in the future may be

affected by political developments and by federal provincial and

local laws and regulations such as restrictions on production

changes in taxes royalties and other amounts payable to

governments or governmental agencies price or gathering rate

controls and environmental protection regulations Should one or

more of these risks or uncertainties materialize or should any of

the Companys assumptions prove incorrect actual results may

vary in material respects from those projected in the forward-

looking statements The impact of any one factor on particular

forward-looking statement is not determinable with certainty as

such factors are dependent upon other factors and the Companys

course of action would depend upon its assessment of the future

considering all information then available For additional

information refer to the Risks and Uncertainties section of this

MDA Readers are cautioned that the foregoing list of factors is

not exhaustive Unpredictable or unknown factors not discussed in

this report could also have material adverse effects on forward-

looking statements Although the Company believes that the

expectations conveyed by the forward-looking statements are

reasonable based on information available to it on the date such

forward-looking statements are made no assurances can be given

as to future results levels of activity and achievements All

subsequent forward-looking statements whether written or oral

attributable to the Company or persons acting on its behalf are

expressly qualified in their entirety by these cautionary statements

Except as required by law the Company assumes no obligation to

update forward-looking statements should circumstances or

Managements estimates or opinions change
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SPECIAL NOTE REGARDING
NON-GAAP FINANCIAL MEASURES

Managements Discussion and Analysis includes references to

financial measures commonly used in the crude oil and natural
gas

industry such as adjusted net earnings from operations cash flow

from operations cash production cost and net asset value These

financial measures are not defined by generally accepted accounting

principles in Canada GAAP and therefore are referred to as

non-GAAP measures The non-GAAP measures used by the

Company may not be comparable to similar measures presented by
other companies The Company uses these non-GAAP measures to

evaluate its performance The non-GAAP measures should not be

considered an alternative to or more meaningful than net earnings

as determined in accordance with Canadian GAAP as an indication

of the Companys performance The non-GAAP measures adjusted

net earnings from operations and cash flow from operations are

reconciled to net earnings as determined in accordance with

Canadian GAAP in the Financial Highlights section of this MDA
The derivation of cash production costs is included in the Operating

Highlights Oil Sands Mining and Upgrading section of this

MDA The Company also presents certain non-GAAP financial

ratios and their derivation in the Liquidity and Capital Resources

section of this MDA

MANAGEMENTS DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

Managements Discussion and Analysis of the financial condition

and results of operations of the Company should be read in

conjunction with the Companys audited consolidated financial

statements and related notes for the year ended December 31
2009 The consolidated financial statements have been prepared

in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles in

Canada Canadian GAAP reconciliation of Canadian GAAP
to generally accepted accounting principles in the United States

US GAAP is included in note 17 to the consolidated financial

statements All dollar amounts are referenced in millions of

Canadian dollars except where otherwise noted The calculation

of barrels of oil equivalent boe is based on conversion ratio

of six thousand cubic feet mcf of natural gas to one barrel

bbl of crude oil to estimate relative energy content This

conversion may be misleading particularly when used in isolation

since the mcf1 bbl ratio is based on an energy equivalency at

the burner tip and does not represent the value equivalency at the

wellhead Production volumes and per barrel statistics are presented

throughout this MDA on before royalty or gross basis and

realized prices are net of transportation and blending costs and

exclude the effect of risk management activities Production on an

after royalty or net basis is also presented for information

purposes only The following discussion and analysis refers primarily

to the Companys 2009 financial results compared to 2008 and

2007 unless otherwise indicated In addition this MDA details

the Companys capital program and outlook for 2010 Additional

information relating to the Company including its quarterly MDA
for the year and three months ended December 31 2009 its

Annual Information Form for the
year ended December 31 2009

and its audited consolidated financial statements for the year

ended December 31 2009 is available on SEDAR at www.sedar

corn and on EDGAR at www.sec.gov This MDA is dated

March 2010

ABBREVIATIONS

......AEcO lesta natural gas reference location

AIF Annual Information Form

API
Specific gravity measured in degrees on

the American Petroleum Institute scale

ARO Asse rnt obligations

bbl barrels

bbl/d barrels per day

bcf billion cubic feet

bcfld billion cubic feet per day
boe oil equivalent

sro qyiyalept per day
Bitumen Heavy crude oil generally more dense

than 14 API

Brent Dated Brent

CS Canadian dollars

cAPIX cp.fta..expeditures

CBM Coal Bed Methane

CICA Canadian Institute of Chartered Accountants

cc1 Carbon dioxide

ç9e cii equivalents

Canadian GAAP Generally accepted accounting principles

in Canada

çss cyq qem stimulatiop

EOR Enhanced oil recovery

EP pprProduction

FPSO oatingProductio Storage and Offtake vessel

çHG Greenhouse gas ..
gigajoules

GJ/d gigajo eperdy
Heavy Pffe.rentia Heavy rude oil differential fromwn

Horizon Horizon Oil Sands

LIBOR London Interbank Offered Rate

IN Liquid Natural Gas

mbbl thousand barrels

nbbI/d housand barrels per day
nboe thousand barrels of oil equivalent

mboe housandbarrelsofo qyyalent per day
mcf thousand cubic feet

mçfld otisn ciJbc feet day

mmbbl million barrels

mmboe Tiori Prres..of oil equivalent

mmbtu million British thermal units

mmcf/d cucfeet per day

mmçfe iif..cubic feet equivalent

NGL5 Natural
gas liquids

NYM EX New Y9c..change
NYSE New pçj Exchange

P9 Discovere
original

oil in place

PRT Petroleum Revenue Tax

SAGD Steam assisted gravity drainage

SCO cryc oil

SEC United States Securities

and hageçommissio
tcf trillion cubic feet

ISX Toronto Stock Exchange

YK yd Kingdom
US United States

US GAAP Generally accepted accounting principles

in the United States

US$ United States dollars

WCS Western Canadian Select

WCSB nSedimentary Basin

WTI West Texas Intermediate
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OBJECTIVE AND STRATEGY

The Companys objectives are to increase crude oil and natural gas production reserves cash flow and net asset value on per

common share basis through the development of its existing crude oil and natural gas properties and through the discovery and/or

acquisition of new reserves The Company strives to meet these objectives by having defined growth and value enhancement plan for

each of its products and segments The Company takes balanced approach to growth and investments and focuses on creating

long-term shareholder value The Company allocates its capital by maintaining

Balance among its products namely natural gas light/medium crude oil and NGLs Pelican Lake crude oil primary heavy crude oil

and thermal heavy crude oil and SCO

Balance among near- mid- and long-term projects

Balance among acquisitions exploitation and exploration and

Balance between sources and terms of debt financing and maintenance of strong balance sheet

Discounted value of crude oil and natural gas reserves plus value of undeveloped land less net debt

Pelican Lake crude oil is 1417 API oil which receives medium quality crude netbacks due to lower production costs and lower royalty rates

The Companys three-phase crude oil marketing strategy includes

Blending various crude oil streams with diluents to create more attractive feedstock

Supporting and participating in pipeline expansions and/or new additions and

Supporting and participating in projects that will increase the downstream conversion capacity for heavy crude oil

Operational discipline and cost control are fundamental to the Company By consistently controlling costs throughout all cycles of the

industry the Company believes it will achieve continued growth Cost control is attained by developing area knowledge by dominating

core areas and by maintaining high working interests and operator status in its properties

The Company is committed to maintaining strong balance sheet and flexible capital structure The Company believes it has built the

necessary financial capacity to complete all of its growth projects Additionally the Companys risk management hedge program

reduces the risk of volatility in commodity prices and supports the Companys cash flow for its capital expenditures programs

Strategic accretive acquisitions are key component of the Companys strategy The Company has used combination of internally

generated cash flows and debt financing to selectively acquire properties generating future cash flows in its core regions

Highlights for the year ended December 31 2009 include the following

Achieved net earnings of $1.6 billion adjusted net earnings from operations of $2.7 billion and cash flow from operations of

$6.1 billion

Completed the construction of Phase of Horizon and commenced operations

Achieved annual crude oil and natural gas production guidance

Achieved first crude oil production from Platform in the Olowi Field in Offshore Gabon

Reduced long-term debt by $3.4 billion to $9.7 billion in 2009 from $13.0 billion in 2008 and

Increased annual dividend payout to $0.42 from $0.40 our 10th consecutive year of dividend increases
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NET EARNINGS AND CASH FLOW FROM OPERATIONS

Financial Highlights

millions except per common share amounts 2009 2008 2007

11078 16173$ 12543

1580 4985 2608
Per common share basic and diluted 2.92 9.22 4.84

3A92$2O6
Cash flow from operations $6090F$ 6969 6198

Per common share basic and diluted 11.24 12.89 1.49
DIvIdends declared per common share 0.42 0.40 0.34

42650 36114
20856 19230

Capital expenditures net of dispositions 7451 6425

Adjusted net earnings from operations is non-GAAP measure that represents net
earnings adjusted for certain items of non-operational nature The Company evaluates

its performance based on adjusted net earnings from operations The reconciliation Adjusted Net
Earnings from Operations presented below lists the after-tax effects of

certain items of non-operational nature that are included in the Companys financial results Adjusted net earnings from operations may not be comparable to similar

measures presented by other companies

Cash flow from
operations is non-GAAP measure that

represents net earnings adjusted for non-cash items before working capital adjustments The Company evaluates its

performance based on cash flow from operations The Company considers cash flow from operations key measure as it demonstrates the Companys ability to generate
the cash flow necessary to fund future growth through capital investment and to repay debt The reconciliation Cash Flow from Operations presented below lists the effects

of certain non-cash items that are included in the Companys financial results Cash flow from operations may not be comparable to similar measures presented by
other companies

Adjusted Net Earnings from Operations

millions 2009 2008 2007

Net earnings as rported 1580 4985 2608
stock-based cniac ense ret of tax 134
Unrealized skrnanag tlossainn8tof tax

ibi

2112 977

unrealized_foreign çharigegainloss net of tax

incoitieiiuuuu1 41 864

698 449
ect of statutory tax rate and other legislative changes on

Adjusted net earnings from
operations 2689 3492 2406

The Companys employee stock option plan provides for cash payment option Accordingly the intrinsic value of outstanding vested options is recorded as liability

on the Companys balance sheet and periodic changes in the intrinsic value are recognized in net earnings or are capitalized to Oil Sands Mining and upgrading
construction costs

Derivative financial instruments are recorded at fair value on the balance sheet with changes in fair value of non-designated hedges recognized in net earnings The

amounts ultimately realized may be materially different than reflected in the financial statements due to changes in prices of the
underlying items hedged primarily crude

oil and natural gas

Unrealized foreign exchange gains
and losses result primarily from the translation of US dollar denominated long-term debt to period-end exchange rates offset by the

impact of cross
currency swap hedges and are recognized in net earnings

All substantively enacted or enacted adjustments in applicable income tax rates and other
legislative changes are applied to underlying assets and liabilities on the

Companys consolidated balance sheet in determining future income tax assets and liabilities The impact of these tax rate and other legislative changes is recorded in

net earnings during the period the
legislation is substantively enacted or enacted Income tax rate changes during 2009 resulted in reduction of future income tax

liabilities of approximately $19 million in North America Income tax rate changes during 2008 resulted in reduction of future income tax liabilities of approximately
$19 million in North America and $22 million in Côte dlvoire Offshore West Africa Income tax rate and other legislative changes during 2007 resulted in reduction

of future income tax liabilities of approximately $864 million in North America

Cash Flow from Operations

millions 2009 2008 2007

Netearg_ 1580 4985 2608
Non-cash items

2819 2683 2863
Asset retirement ogtio9ccretion 71 70

52 193

Unrealized risk management loss gain 1991 3090 1400
Unrealizedfgxchngain loss 661 832 524
D2fff78detroleum revenue tax expense recovery is 67 44

Future income tax recovery expense 99 1607 456
Cash flow from operations 6090 6969 6198

For 2009 the Company reported net earnings of $1580 million compared to net earnings of $4985 million for 20082007 $2608 million
The 2009 operating results of the Company were significantly impacted by lower benchmark crude oil and natural gas pricing partially

offset by the impact of the commencement of production from Horizon Net earnings for the year ended December 31 2009 included
net unrealized after-tax

expenses of $1109 million related to the effects of risk management activities fluctuations in foreign exchange
rates stock-based compensation and the impact of statutory tax rate and other legislative changes on future income tax liabilities

2008 $1493 million after-tax income 2007 $202 million after-tax income Excluding these items adjusted net earnings from

operations for the year ended December 31 2009 decreased to $2689 million from $3492 million for 2008

2007 $2406 million primarily due to the impact of lower realized pricing lower natural gas sales volumes higher production

expenses higher depletion depreciation and amortization expense including the impact of ceiling test impairment in Gabon Offshore

West Africa higher accretion expense higher interest expense and the impact of realized foreign exchange losses partially offset by
the impact of higher crude oil sales volumes lower royalty expense realized risk management activities and the weaker Canadian dollar

relative to the US dollar during 2009
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The impacts of unrealized risk management activities stock-based compensation and changes in foreign exchange rates are expected

to continue to contribute to significant volatility in consolidated net earnings and are discussed in detail in the relevant sections of

this MDA

Cash flow from operations for the year ended December 31 2009 decreased to $6090 million $11.24 per common share from

$6969 million $12.89 per common share for 2008 2007 $6198 million $11.49 per common share The decrease was primarily

due to the impact of lower realized pricing lower natural gas sales volumes higher production expense higher interest expense and

the impact of realized foreign exchange losses partially offset by the impact of higher crude oil sales volumes lower royalty expense

lower current income tax and PRT and the impact of realized risk management gains and the weaker Canadian dollar relative to the

US dollar during 2009

The Companys 2009 average sales price per
bbl of conventional crude oil and NGL5 decreased 30% to average $57.68 per bbl from

$82.41 per
bbl in 2008 2007 $55.45 per bbl The Companys average natural gas price decreased 46% to average $4.53 per mcf

from $8.39 per mcf for 2008 2007 $6.85 per mcf

Total production of crude oil and NGLs before royalties increased 13% to 355463 bbl/d from 315667 bbl/d for 2008 2007

331232 bbl/d The increase in crude oil and NGL5 production was primarily due to new production from Horizon and the Olowi Field

in Offshore Gabon partially offset by the impact of planned maintenance shutdowns in the North Sea and in North America due to

the cyclic nature of the Companys thermal production and shut in of Primrose East for part of the year

Total natural gas production before royalties decreased 12% to average 1315 mmcf/d from 1495 mmcf/d for 2008 2007

1668 mmcf/d The decrease in natural gas production primarily reflected natural production declines and the Companys strategic

reduction in natural gas drilling activity in North America

Total crude oil and NGLS and natural gas production volumes before royalties increased 2% to average 574730 boe/d from 564845 boe/d

for 2008 2007 609206 boe/d Total production for 2009 was within the Companys previously issued revised guidance

SUMMARY OF QUARTERLY RESULTS

The following is summary of the Companys quarterly results for the eight most recently completed quartersreamounts
2009 Total Dec 31 Sep 30 Jun 30 Mar 31

3319$ 2823 2750 2186

jning__$i5SO 455 658 162 305

Net earnings per common share

basic and diluted 2.92 0.85 1.21 0.30 0.56

2008 Total Dec 31 Sep 30 Jun 30 Mar31

2511 4583 5112 3967

1770 2835 347 727

Net earnings loss per common share

basic and diluted 9.22 3.27 5.25 0.65 1.35

Volatility in quarterly net earnings over the eight most recently completed quarters was primarily due to

Crude oil pricing The impact of fluctuating demand geopolitical uncertainties on worldwide benchmark pricing and the

fluctuations in the Heavy Crude Oil Differential from WTI Heavy Differential in North America

Natural gas pricing The impact of seasonal fluctuations in both the demand for natural gas and inventory storage levels and the

impact of increased shale gas production in the US as well as fluctuations in imports of liquefied natural gas into the US

Crude oil and NGLs sales volumes Fluctuations in production from the Companys Primrose thermal projects the results from the

Pelican Lake water and polymer flood projects and the commencement of operations at Horizon Sales volumes also reflected

fluctuations due to timing of liftings and maintenance activities in the North Sea and Offshore West Africa and the impact of the

shut in and subsequent restoration of some of the production in the Baobab Field

Natural gas sales volumes Production declines due to the Companys strategic decision to reduce natural gas drilling activity in

North America and the allocation of capital to higher return crude oil projects as well as natural decline rates

Production expense Fluctuations primarily due to the impact of the demand for services industry-wide inflationary cost pressures

experienced in prior quarters fluctuations in product mix the impact of seasonal costs that are dependent on weather and the

commencement of operations at Horizon and the Olowi Field in Offshore Gabon

Depletion depreciation and amortization Fluctuations due to changes in sales volumes finding and development costs associated

with crude oil and natural gas exploration estimated future costs to develop the Companys proved undeveloped reserves the

commencement of operations at Horizon and the Olowi Field in Offshore Gabon and the impact of ceiling test impairment at the

Olowi Field at December 31 2009
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Stock-based compensation Fluctuations due to the mark-to-market movements of the Companys stock-based compensation

liability Stock-based compensation expense recovery reflected fluctuations in the Companys share price

Risk management Fluctuations due to the recognition of realized and unrealized gains and losses from the mark-to-market and

subsequent settlement of the Companys risk management activities

Foreign exchange rates Fluctuations in the Canadian dollar relative to the US dollar impacted the realized price the Company
received for its crude oil and natural gas sales as sales prices are based predominately on US dollar denominated benchmarks

Similarly unrealized foreign exchange gains and losses were recorded with respect to US dollar denominated debt and the

re-measurement of North Sea future income tax liabilities denominated in UK pounds sterling to US dollars partially offset by the

impact of cross currency swap hedges

Income tax expense recovery Fluctuations in income tax expense recovery include statutory tax rate and other legislative

changes substantively enacted or enacted in the various periods

BUSINESS ENVIRONMENT

Yearly average 2009 2008 2007

WTI benchmark price US$/bbl 61.93 99.65 72.40

Dated Brent benchmark price US$/bbl 61.61 96.99 72.59

WCS blend differential from WTI US$/bbl 9.64 20.03 23.25

WCS blend differential from WTI 16% 20% 32%
SCO price US$/bbl 61.51 102.48 70.11

Condensate benchmark price US$/bbl 60.60 100.10 72.88

NYMEX benchmark price US$/mmbtu 4.03 8.95 6.92

AECO benchmark price C$/GJ 3.91 771 6.26

US Canadian dollar average exchange rate 0.8760 0.9381 0.9304

US Canadian dollar year end exchange rate 0.9555 0.8166 1.0120

Beginning in 2008 the Company has quantified the Heasi Differential
using

the WCS blend as the heasi crude oil marker Prior period amounts have been reclassified

Commodity Prices

Substantially all of the Companys production is sold based on US dollar benchmark pricing Specifically crude oil is marketed based on

WTI and Brent indices Canadian natural gas pricing is primarily based on Alberta AECO reference pricing which is derived from the

NYMEX reference pricing and adjusted for its basis or location differential to the NYMEX delivery point at Henry Hub The Companys
realized price is also highly sensitive to fluctuations in foreign exchange rates The

average value of the Canadian dollar in relation to

the US dollar fluctuated significantly throughout 2009 with high of approximately $0.97 in December 2009 and low of approximately

$0.77 in March 2009

The overall decrease in WTI pricing in 2009 reflected decrease in demand as result of worldwide financial and economic events

during the year and ongoing geopolitical uncertainty resulting in increased market volatility partially offset by strong Asian demand in

the second half of the year For 2009 \A/Tl averaged US$61.93 per bbl decrease of 38% compared to US$99.65 per bbl for 2008

2007 US$72.40 per bbl

Brent averaged US$61.61 per bbl for 2009 decrease of 36% compared to US$96.99 per bbl for 2008 2007 US$72.59 per bbl

Crude oil sales contracts for the North Sea and Offshore West Africa are typically based on Brent pricing which is more reflective of

international markets and the overall supply and demand balance

The Heavy Differential averaged 16% of \IVTI for 2009 compared to 20% for 2008 2007 32% reflecting relatively weak refinery

margins

The Company anticipates continued volatility in the crude oil pricing benchmarks due to the unpredictable nature of supply and

demand factors geopolitical events and the timing and extent of recovery of the global economy The Heavy Differential is expected to

continue to reflect seasonal demand fluctuations and refinery margins

NYMEX natural gas prices averaged US$4.03 per mmbtu for 2009 decrease of 55% from US$8.95 per mmbtu for 2008

2007 US$6.92 per mmbtu Alberta based AECO natural gas pricing for 2009 decreased 49% to average $3.91 per Gi from

$7.71 per GJ in 2008 2007 $6.26 per Gi During 2009 natural gas pricing decreased due to significant increase in production from

shale gas reservoirs in the US significant decline in industrial demand caused by the onset of worldwide financial and economic

events and record storage levels in North America

Operating Royalty and Capital Costs

Strong commodity prices in recent years have resulted in increased demand for oilfield services worldwide This has led to inflationary

operating and capital cost pressures throughout the crude oil and natural gas industry particularly related to drilling activities and oil

sands developments
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In Canada the Federal Government has indicated its intent to develop regulations that would be in effect in the near term to address

industrial GHG emissions as part of the national GHG reduction target The Federal Government has also outlined national and sectoral

reduction targets for several categories of air pollutants In Alberta GHG regulations came into effect July 2007 affecting facilities

emitting more than 100 kilotonnes of C02e annually Two of the Companys facilities the Primrose/Wolf Lake in-situ heavy crude oil

facilities and the Hays sour natural gas plant fall under the regulations The British Columbia carbon tax is currently being assessed at

$15/tonne of C02e on fuel consumed and gas flared in the province This rate is scheduled to increase to $20/tonne on July 2010

and to $30/tonne by July 2012 As part of its involvement with the Western Climate Initiative British Columbia has also announced

that certain upstream oil and gas facilities will be included in regional cap
and trade system beginning in 2012 It is estimated that six

facilities in British Columbia will be included under the cap and trade system based on proposed 25 kt C02e threshold Saskatchewan

is expected to release GHG regulations in 2010 that would require the North Tangleflags in-situ heavy oil
facility

to meet reduction

target for its GHG emissions intensity In the UK GHG regulations have been in effect since 2005 During Phase 2005-2007 of the

UK National Allocation Plan the Company operated below its CO2 allocation For Phase 2008-2012 the Companys CO2 allocation

has been decreased below the Companys estimated current operations emissions The Company continues to focus on implementing

reduction programs based on efficiency audits to reduce CO2 emissions at its major facilities and on trading mechanisms to ensure

compliance with requirements now in effect

Legislation to regulate GHGs in the United States through cap and trade system is currently before the US Congress although there

is no certainty as to the form or stringency of the final legislation In the absence of legislation the US Environmental Protection Agency

EPA is authorized under the Clean Air Act to regulate GHG5 although EPA action would be subject to legal and political challenges

The ultimate form of Canadian regulation is anticipated to be strongly influenced by the regulatory decisions made within the US

Various states have enacted or are evaluating low carbon fuel standards which may affect access to market for crude oil with higher

emissions intensity

Continued cost pressures and the final outcome of changes to environmental regulations may adversely impact the Companys future

net earnings cash flow and capital projects For additional details refer to the Greenhouse Gas and Other Air Emissions section of

this MDA

The Alberta Government implemented changes to the Alberta Royalty Framework ARF effective January 2009 The ARF includes

number of changes to royalty rates for natural gas conventional crude oil and oil sands production Under the ARF royalties payable

vary according to commodity prices and the productivity of wells Changes to the Alberta royalty regime under the ARF include the

implementation of sliding scale for oil sands royalties ranging from to 9% on gross revenue basis pre-payout and 25% to 40%

on net revenue basis post-payout depending on benchmark crude oil pricing For additional details refer to the Royalties section

of this MDA

ANALYSIS OF CHANGES IN REVENUE BEFORE ROYALTIES AND RISK MANAGEMENT ACTIVITIES

Changes due to Changes due to

millions 2007 Volumes Prices Other 2008 Volumes Prices Other 2009

North America

Crude oil and NGLs 5847 49 3013 $iT$ 424 2649 5738

Natural Gas 4302 531 914 4685 598 1852 2235

10149 580 3927 13496 1022 4501 7973

North Sea

Crude oil and NGLs 1575 334 512 1753 344 465 944

Natural gas 22 17

1597 339 511 1769 344 464 961

Offshore West Africa

Crude oil and NGLs 751 136 280 895 413 436 872

Natural gas 25 19 18 26 41

776 131 299 944 431 462 913

Subtotal

Crude oil and NGLs 8173 519 3805 11459 355 3550 7554

Natural gas 4349 531 932 4750 580 1877 2293

12522 1050 4737 16209 935 5427 9847

Oil Sands Miningan4pdi 253 253

Midstream 74 77 72

Intersegment eliminations

and other 53 60 113J
19 94

Total 12543 1050 4737 57 16173 318 5427 11078

Eliminates primarily internal transportation electricity charges and natural gas sales
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Revenue decreased 32% to $11078 million for 2009 from $16173 million for 2008 2007 $12543 million The decrease was

primarily due to decreased realized crude oil and NGLs and natural gas prices company-wide

For 2009 17% of the Companys crude oil and natural gas revenue was generated outside of North America 2008 17% 2007 19%
North Sea accounted for 9% of crude oil and natural gas revenue for 2009 2008 11% 2007 13% and Offshore West Africa

accounted for 8% of crude oil and natural gas revenue for 2009 2008 6% 2007 6%

ANALYSIS OF DAILY PRODUCTION BEFORE ROYALTIES

Crude oil and NGLs bbvd
North America Conventional 234523 243826 246779
North America Oil Sands Mining and Upgrading 50250

North Sea 37761 45274 55933

Offshore West Africa 32929 26567 28520

355463 315667 331232

Natural gas mmcf/d

North America 1287 1472 1643

North Sea 10 10 13

Offshore West Africa 18 13 12

1315 1495 1668

Total barrels of oil equivalent boe/d 574730 564845 609206

Product mix

Light/medium crude oil and NGLs 21% 22% 23%
Pelican Lake crude oil 6% 6% 6%
Primary heavy crude oil 15% 16% 15%
Thermal heavycrudeoil ii 11% 12% 11%

Synthetic crude oil 9%
Natural gas 38% 44% 45%

Percentage of gross revenue excluding midstream revenue

Crude oil and NGLs 75% 68% 62%
Natural gas 25% 32% 38%

Net of transportation and blending costs and excluding risk management activities

ANALYSIS OF DAILY PRODUCTION NET OF ROYALTIES

2009 2008 2007

Crude oil and NGLs bbl/d

North America Conventional 201873 207933 210769
North America Oil Sands Mining and Upgrading 48833
North Sea 37683 45182 55825

Offshore West Africa 29922 22641 26012

318311 275756 292606

Natural gas mmcf/d

North America 1214 1225 1378

North Sea 10 10 13

Offshore West Africa 17

1241 1246 1402

Total barrels of oil equivalent boe/d 525103 483541 526193

Total production averaged 574730 boe/d for 2009 2% increase from 564845 boe/d for 2008 2007 609206 boe/d

Total production of crude oil and NGLs before royalties increased 13% to 355463 bbl/d for 2009 from 315667 bbl/d for 2008

2007 331232 bbl/d The increase in crude oil and NGLs production from 2008 was primarily due to the commencement of

production from Horizon and the Olowi Field in Offshore Gabon and the restoration of some of the production in the Baobab Field in

Offshore Côte dlvoire Crude oil and NGLs production for 2009 was within the Companys previously issued guidance of 352000 to

363000 bbl/d

Natural gas production continued to represent the Companys largest product offering accounting for 38% of the Companys total

production in 2009 Total natural gas production before royalties decreased 12% to 1315 mmcf/d for 2009 from 1495 mmcf/d for

2009 2008 2007

The Companys business approach is to maintain large project inventories and production diversification among each of the commodities

it produces namely natural gas light/medium crude oil and NGLs Pelican Lake crude oil primary heavy crude oil thermal heavy crude

oil and SCO
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2008 2007 1668 mmcf/d The decrease in natural gas production from 2008 primarily reflected natural production declines due to

the Companys strategic decision to reduce natural gas drilling activity to focus on higher return crude oil projects Natural gas production

for 2009 exceeded the Companys previously issued guidance of 1305 to 1314 mmcf/d

For 2010 annual production is forecasted to average between 400000 and 445000 bbl/d of crude oil and NGLs and between 1117

and 1185 mmcf/d of natural gas

North America Conventional

North America crude oil and NGLs production for 2009 decreased 4% to average 234523 bbl/d from 243826 bbl/d for 2008

2007 246779 bbl/d The decrease in production from 2008 was primarily due to the cyclic nature of the Companys thermal

production and was in line with expectations

North America natural gas production for 2009 decreased 13% to average 1287 mmcf/d from 1472 mmcf/d for 200820071643 mmcf/d

The decrease in natural gas production from 2008 reflected production declines due to the Companys strategic decision to reduce

natural gas drilling activity to focus on higher return crude oil projects

North America Oil Sands Mining and Upgrading

Horizon Phase achieved first production of synthetic crude oil during 2009 Production averaged 50250 bbl/d for 2009 Production

volumes fluctuated throughout the year as the Company continued to stabilize and ramp up production

North Sea

North Sea crude oil production for 2009 was 37761 bbl/d decrease of 17% from 45274 bbl/d for 2008200755933 bbl/d due

to expected production decline

Offshore West Africa

Offshore West Africa crude oil production for 2009 increased 24% to 32929 bbl/d from 26567 bbl/d for 2008 2007 28520 bbl/d

Production increased in 2009 due to additional volumes from the Baobab drilling program which was completed in the second quarter

and new production from the Olowi Field in Offshore Gabon offset by expected declines at Espoir

Production volumes from the first platform at the Olowi Field continue to be below expectations and as result the Company

recognized ceiling test impairment of $115 million at December 31 2009 Drilling results and production data is being reviewed in

order to develop appropriate remediation strategies and determine the impact on future production from the Field the impact on

recoverable reserves and the scope of the overall development plan The Company continues drilling at the next scheduled platform

with production targeted for the second quarter of 2010

CRUDE OIL INVENTORY VOLUMES

The Company recognizes revenue on its crude oil production when title transfers to the customer and delivery has taken place Revenue

has not been recognized on crude oil volumes that were stored in various tanks pipelines or floating production storage and offtake

vessels as follows

bbl 2009 2008 2007

North America Conventional 1131372 761351 1097526

North America Oil Sands Mining and Upgrading SCO 1224481

North Sea 713112 558904 1032723

Offshore West Africa 51103 1113156 342987

3120068 243341 2473236

Prior period inventory volumes include one-time adjustments to sales volumes for MDA reporting purposes only
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OPERATING HIGHLIGHTS CONVENTIONAL

Crude oil and NGLs $IbbI

Sales rice 57 68 82 41 55 45

Netback
35.03 55.67 36.17

Natural gas $Imcf

Sales price 4.53 8.39 6.85ies1146 111
Production expense 1.08 1.02 0.91

Netback
3.13 5.91 4.83

Barrels of oil equivalent $/boe 11

Sales price 44.87 68.62 49.05e978 626
Production expense 11.98 11.79 9.75

Netback 28.17 47.05 33.04

Amounts expressed on per unit basis are based on sales volumes

Net of transportation and blending Costs and
excluding risk management activities

Natural gas royalties for 2009 reflect the impact of natural gas physical sales contracts

ANALYSIS OF PRODUCT PRICES CONVENTIONAL

2009 2008 2007

Crude oil and NGLs $/bbl

Offshore West Africa 65.27 97.96 71 .68

$/mcf 112

North Sea 4.66 4.09 4.26

10.03

Company average $boe 12
44.87 68.62 49.05

Amounts expressed on per unit basis are based on sales volumes

Net of
transportation and blending costs and excluding risk management activities

Realized crude oil and NGLs prices decreased 30% to average $57.68 per bbl for 2009 from $82.41 per bbl for 2008 2007 $55.45

per bbl The decrease in 2009 was primarily result of lower WTI and Brent benchmark crude oil prices during most of the year partially

offset by the impact of the narrowing of the Heavy Differential and the weaker Canadian dollar relative to the US dollar during 2009

The Companys realized natural gas price decreased 46% to average $4.53 per mcf for 2009 from $8.39 per mcf for 2008
2007 $6.85 per mcf The decrease in 2009 was primarily due to lower benchmark prices resulting from lower demand as well as

higher storage levels due to increased shale gas production in the US

North America

North America realized crude oil prices decreased 29% to average $54.70 per bbl for 2009 from $77.42 per bbl for 2008
2007 $49.16 per bbl The decrease in 2009 was due to decreased VVTI benchmark pricing partially offset by the impact of

narrower Heavy Differential and weaker Canadian dollar

The Company continues to focus on its crude oil marketing strategy including the development of blending strategy that expands
markets within current pipeline infrastructure supporting pipeline projects that will provide capacity to transport crude oil to new
markets and working with refiners to add incremental heavy crude oil conversion capacity During 2009 the Company contributed

approximately 140000 bbl/d of heavy crude oil blends to the WCS stream The Company has entered into 20-year transportation

agreement to commit to ship 120000 bbl/d of heavy sour crude oil on the proposed 500000 bbl/d Keystone Pipeline US Gulf Coast

expansion from Hardisty Alberta to the US Gulf Coast Contemporaneously the Company also entered into 20-year crude oil

purchase and sales agreement to sell 100000 bbl/d of heavy sour crude oil to major US refiner Deliveries under the agreements are

expected to commence in 2012 upon completion of the pipeline expansion and are subject to Keystones receipt of regulatory approval
of the pipeline expansion

2009 2008 2007
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In the first quarter of 2010 the Company announced together with North West Upgrading Inc the submission of joint proposal to

the Alberta Government to construct and operate bitumen refinery near Redwater Alberta This proposal was submitted in response

to request for proposal under the Alberta Royalty Frameworks Bitumen Royalty In Kind BRIK program

North America realized natural gas prices decreased 46% to average $4.51 per
mcf for 2009 from $8.41 per mcf for 2008

2007 $6.87 per mcf primarily related to lower benchmark prices due to the impact of weather and storage levels

Comparisons of the prices received for the Companys North America conventional production by product type were as follows

Yearly average
2009 2008 2007

Wellhead Price

57.02 89.04 66.24medium crude oil and NGLs $/bbl 1$ 4629
Pelican Lake crude oil C$Ibbl

55.66 74.91 43177

Thermal heavy crude oil C$Ibbl
51.18 71.89 43.49

4.51 8.41 6.87
Natural gas C$Imcf

Amounts expressed on per unit basis are based on sales volumes

Net of transportation and blending costs and excluding risk management activities

North Sea

North Sea realized crude oil prices decreased 31% to average $68.84 per bbl for 2009 from $100.31 per bbl for 20082007 $74.99 per bbl

Realized crude oil prices per bbl in any particular period are dependant on the terms of the various sales contracts the frequency and

timing of liftings
of each field and prevailing crude oil prices at the time of lifting The decrease in realized crude oil prices in the North

Sea from 2008 reflected weaker Brent benchmark pricing partially offset by the impact of the weaker Canadian dollar

Offshore West Africa

Offshore West Africa realized crude oil prices decreased 33% to average $65.27 per
bbl for 2009 from $97.96 per bbl for 2008

2007 $71.68 per bbl Realized crude oil prices per bbl in any particular period are dependant on the terms of the various sales

contracts the frequency and timing of liftings
of each field and prevailing crude oil prices at the time of lifting The decrease in realized

crude oil prices in Offshore West Africa from 2008 reflected weaker Brent benchmark pricing partially offset by the impact of the

weaker Canadian dollar

ROYALTIES CONVENTIONAL

2009 2008 2007

Crude oil and NGL5 $/bblY1

NorthAmerica 7.93 11.99 7.19

North Sea 0.14 0.21 0.14

Offshore West Africa
5.79 14.81 6.40

Companyaverage
6.73 10.48 5.94

Natural gas $Imcf

North America ____________
0.32 .47 1.12

Offshore West Africa 0.53 1.52 0.51

Company average
0.32 1.46 .1

Company average $/boe 4.72 9.78 6.26

Percentage of revenue

CrudeoilandNGLs 12% 13% 11%

atur2
Boe

11% 14% 13%

Amounts expressed on per
unit basis are based on sales volumes

Natural gas royalties for 2009 reflect the impact of natural gas physical sales contracts

Net of transportation and blending costs and excluding risk management activities

North America

Government royalties on significant portion of North America crude oil and NGLs production fall under the oil sands royalty regime

and are calculated on project by project basis as percentage of gross revenue less operating capital and abandonment costs

net profit For 2008 and prior years royalties were calculated as of
gross revenues until the Companys capital investments in the

applicable project were fully recovered at which time the royalty increased to 25% of net profit Effective January 2009 changes to

the Alberta royalty regime under the ARF include the implementation of sliding scale for oil sands royalties ranging from to 9% on

gross revenue basis pre-payout and 25% to 40% on net revenue basis post-payout depending on benchmark crude oil pricing
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In addition effective January 2009 new royalty formulas under the ARF for conventional crude oil and natural gas operate on sliding
scales ranging up to 50% determined by commodity prices and well productivity

In March 2009 the Government of Alberta announced new incentive programs to stimulate activity in Alberta These programs provide for

royalty credit of $200 per meter on new conventional crude oil and natural gas wells drilled between April 2009 and March 31 2010
to maximum of 10% of conventional Crown royalties paid in Alberta

Reduced royalty rates that set the maximum royalty at 5% for the first 12 months of production up to maximum of 50000 boe
or 500 mmcfe for new conventional crude oil and natural gas wells that commence production between April 2009 and
March 31 2010

In June 2009 the Government of Alberta extended the two incentive programs described above by one year to March 31 2011

Effective September 2009 the Province of British Columbia announced an oil and gas stimulus package that includes

one-year 2% royalty rate for all natural gas wells drilled between September 2009 and June 30 2010 Qualifying wells must
commence production before December 31 2010

permanent increase of 15% in the existing royalty holiday credits for the Deep Royalty Program

Permanent qualification of horizontal wells drilled to vertical depth between 1900 and 2300 meters into the Deep Royalty Program

An additional $50 million allocation for the Infrastructure Royalty Credit Program to stimulate investment in oil and gas roads
and pipelines

Crude oil and NGLs royalties for 2009 compared to 2008 reflected weaker realized crude oil prices and the impact of the ARF and

averaged approximately 14% of gross revenues for 2009 compared to 15% for 2008 2007 15% North America crude oil and NGLs

royalties per bbl are anticipated to average 17% to 19% of gross revenue for 2010

Natural gas royalties averaged approximately 7% of gross revenues for 2009 compared to 18% for 2008 2007 16% primarily due
to lower benchmark natural gas prices and the impact of the ARF North America natural gas royalties per mcf are anticipated to average
11%to 13% ofgrossrevenuefor2olo

North Sea

North Sea government royalties on crude oil were eliminated effective January 2003 The remaining royalty is gross overriding

royalty on the Ninian Field

Offshore West Africa

Under the terms of Production Sharing Contracts PSCs royalty rates fluctuate based on realized commodity pricing capital costs
and the timing of liftings from each field Royalty rates as percentage of revenue averaged approximately 9% for 2009 compared to
15% for 2008 2007 9% Offshore West Africa royalty rates are anticipated to average 7% to 9% of

gross revenue for 2010

PRODUCTION EXPENSE CONVENTIONAL

2009 2008 2007

Crude oil and NGL5 $/bbl

North America $14.63$14.96$ 12.26
North Sea 26.98 26.29 20 78
Offshore West Africa

Company average 15.92 16.26 13.34

Natural gas $Imcf

North America
fl7

NorthSea
2.16 2.51 217

Offshore West Africa 1.61 1148

Companyaverage 1.02 0.91

Company average $/boe 11.98 1.79 9.75

Amounts expressed on per
unit basis are based on sales volumes

North America

North America crude oil and NGLs production expense for 2009 decreased 2% to $14.63 per bbl from $14.96 per bbl for 2008 2007
$12.26 per bbl The decrease in production expense per bbl from 2008 was primarily result of the Companys focus on optimizing
service costs together with lower power prices and cost of natural gas for fuel for the Companys thermal operations partially offset by
the impact of increased property tax
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North America natural gas production expense for 2009 increased 7% to $1.07 per md from $1.00 per mcf for 20082007 $0.90 per md
The increase in production expense per mcf from 2008 was primarily result of the impact of lower production volumes on fixed costs

offset by reductions due to the Companys focus on optimizing service costs and lower power prices

North Sea

North Sea crude oil production expense
increased on per barrel basis from 2008 primarily due to lower production volumes on

relatively fixed operating cost base and the weakening of the Canadian dollar against the UK pound sterling

Offshore West Africa

Offshore West Africa crude oil production expense increased on per barrel basis from 2008 Production expense was impacted by the

timing of liftings
of each field and higher operating costs per barrel in Gabon

DEPLETION DEPRECIATION AND AMORTIZATION CONVENTIONA

millions except per boe amounts
2009 2008 2007

North America
2060 2236 2350

North Sea
261 317 340

Offshore West Africa
335 132 165

2855
Expense

656 685

$/boe
Ti3iJ2.9Ti2.84

Amounts expressed on per unit basis are based on sales volumes

Depletion Depreciation and Amortization DDA expense for 2009 decreased slightly to $2656 million from $2685 million for

2008 2007 $2855 million primarily due to the impact of lower sales volumes offset by the impact of ceiling test impairment

related to Gabon Offshore West Africa

ASSET RETIREMENT OBLIGATION ACCRETION CONVENTIONAL

millions except per boe amounts
2009 2008 2007

North America
41 42 38

North Sea
24 27 30

Offshore West Africa

Expense
69 71 70

$/boe
0.36 0.34 0.32

Amounts expressed on per unit basis are based on sales volumes

Asset retirement obligation accretion expense represents the increase in the carrying amount of the asset retirement obligation due to

the passage of time Accretion expense in 2009 was comparable to 2008

OPERATING HIGHLIGHTS OIL SANDS MINING AND UPGRADING

FINANCIAL METRICS

$IbbI111
2009 2008 2007

SCOpic2 .I-
56.57

Bitumen royalties
131 2.15

Amounts expressed on per unit basis are based on sales volumes

Net of transportation and excluding risk management activities

Calculated based on actual bitumen royalties expensed during the period divided by the corresponding SCO sales volumes

PRODUCTION COSTS

The following tables provide reconciliations of Oil Sands Mining and Upgrading production costs to the Segmented Information disclosed

in note 16 to the Companys consolidated financial statements

millions
2009 2008 2007

Natural gas costs
84

Total cash production costs
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$/bbl 2009 2008 2007

34.97

Natural
gas costs 4.92

Total cash production costs 39.89

Sales bbld 46896

Amounts
expressed on per unit basis are based on sales volumes

First sales from Horizon occurred in the second quarter of 2009

Production expense in 2009 reflected the effects of the commencement of operations Total cash production costs averaged $39.89 per
bbl in 2009 Cash production costs in 2009 reflected the impact of maintenance costs related to premature equipment failures and

overall plant reliability Cash production costs are targeted to average $31.00 to $37.00 per bbl in 2010

millions 2009 2008 2007

187
Asset retirement obligation accretion 21

Total 208

$/bbl 2009 2008 2007

Depreciation depletion and amortization_______________ 10.95

Asset retirement obligation accretion 1.22

Total
12.17

Amounts expressed on per unit basis are based on sales volumes

During 2009 Horizon Phase assets were completed and available for their intended use Accordingly capitalization of all associated
Phase development costs including capitalized interest and stock-based compensation and all directly attributable Phase
administrative costs has ceased and depletion depreciation and amortization of these assets has commenced Depletion depreciation
and amortization included the disposal of portion of the tailings line pipe related to premature wear

MIDSTREAM

millions 2009 2008 2007

Revenue _______ 72 77 74
Production expense i9 25 22

Midstream
cash_flow 53 52 52

Depreciation

Segment earnings before taxes 44 44 44

The Companys midstream assets consist of three crude oil pipeline systems and 50% working interest in an 84-megawatt cogeneration

plant at Primrose Approximately 80% of the Companys heavy crude oil production is transported to international mainline liquid

pipelines via the 100% owned and operated ECHO Pipeline the 62% owned and operated Pelican Lake Pipeline and the 15% owned
Cold Lake Pipeline The midstream pipeline assets allow the Company to control the transport of its own production volumes as well as

earn third party revenue This transportation control enhances the Companys ability to manage the full
range

of costs associated with

the development and marketing of its heavier crude oil

ADMINISTRATION EXPENSE

millions except per boe amounts
11

2009 2008 2007

Expense 181 180 208
$/boe 0.87 0.87 0.93

Amounts expressed on per unit basis are based on sales volumes

Administration expense for 2009 was comparable to 2008 Administration expense on boe basis in 2009 includes sales volumes

associated with the commencement of Horizon
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STOCK-BASED COMPENSATION

millions
2009 2008 2007

Expense recovery
355 52 193

The Companys Stock Option Plan the Option Plan provides current employees the option holders with the right to elect to

receive common shares or direct cash payment in exchange for options surrendered The design of the Option Plan balances the need

for long-term compensation program to retain employees with the benefits of reducing the impact of dilution on current Shareholders

and the reporting of the obligations associated with stock options Transparency of the cost of the Option Plan is increased as changes

in the intrinsic value of outstanding stock options are recognized each period The cash payment feature provides option holders with

substantially the same benefits and allows them to realize the value of their options through simplified administration process

The Company recorded $355 million $261 million after-tax stock-based compensation expense during 2009 primarily as result of

normal course graded vesting of options granted in prior periods the impact of vested options exercised or surrendered during the year

and the 56% increase in the Companys share price for the year ended December 31 2009 December 31 2009 $76.00

December 31 2008 $48.75 December 31 2007 $72.58 December 31 2006 $62.15 As required by Canadian GAAP the

Company records
liability

for potential cash payments to settle its outstanding employee stock options each reporting period based

on the difference between the exercise price of the stock options and the market price of the Companys common shares pursuant to

graded vesting schedule For the year ended December 31 2009 the Company capitalized $2 million in stock-based compensation

to Oil Sands Mining and Upgrading 2008 $23 million recovery 2007 $58 million capitalized

The stock-based compensation liability reflected the Companys potential cash
liability

should all the vested options be surrendered for

cash payout at the market price on December 31 2009 In periods when substantial stock price changes occur the Companys

earnings are subject to significant volatility The Company utilizes its stock-based compensation plan to attract and retain employees in

competitive environment All employees participate in this plan

For the year ended December 31 2009 the Company paid $94 million for stock options surrendered for cash settlement

2008 $207 million 2007 $375 million

INTEREST EXPENSE

millions except per boe amounts and interest rates 2009 2008 2007

Expenspss
Less capitalized interest Oil Sands Mining and Upgrading 106 481 356

Expense net 410 128 276

$/boe _____
1.96 0.62 1.24

Average effective interest rate 4.3% 5.1% 5.5%

Amounts expressed on per unit basis are based on sales volumes

Gross interest expense decreased from 2008 primarily due to lower debt levels and lower variable interest rates and reflected the impact

of fluctuations in foreign exchange rates on US dollar denominated debt The Companys average
effective interest rate decreased from

the comparable period in 2008 primarily due to lower variable interest rates

During 2009 interest capitalization ceased on Horizon Phase as the Phase assets were completed and available for their intended

use increasing net interest expense accordingly

RISK MANAGEMENT ACTIVITIES

The Company utilizes various derivative financial instruments to manage its commodity price currency and interest rate exposures

These derivative financial instruments are not intended for trading or speculative purposes

millions
2009 2008 2007

Crude oil and NGLs financial instruments 1330 2020 505

Natygasfinancial instruments L1 3L
Foreign currency contracts

110 139

Realized gain loss 1253 1860 162

Crude oil and NGLs financial instruments 2039 3104 1244

Naturalnandal instruments 58 16 156

Foreign currency contracts
10

Unrealized loss gain 1991 3090 1400

Net loss gain 738 1230 1562

Complete details related to outstanding derivative financial instruments at December31 2009 are disclosed in note 13 to the Companys

consolidated financial statements
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The commodity derivative financial instruments currently outstanding have not been designated as hedges for accounting purposes the

non-designated hedges The fair value of these non-designated hedges is based on prevailing forward commodity prices in effect at

the end of each reporting period and is reflected in risk management activities in consolidated net earnings The cash settlement

amount of the commodity derivative financial instruments may vary materially depending upon the underlying crude oil and natural gas
prices at the time of final settlement as compared to their mark-to-market value at December 31 2009

Due to changes in crude oil and natural gas forward pricing and the reversal of prior period unrealized gains and losses the Company
recorded net unrealized loss of $1991 million $1437 million after-tax on its risk management activities for the year ended December 31
2009 2008 $3090 million unrealized gain $2112 million after-tax 2007 $1400 million unrealized loss $977 million after-tax

FOREIGN EXCHANGE

millions 2009 2008 2007

524
Net gain loss 631 718 471

Amounts are reported net of the hedging effect of cross currency swap hedges

As result of foreign currency translation the Companys operating results are affected by the fluctuations in the exchange rates

between the Canadian dollar US dollar and UK pound sterling majority of the Companys revenue is based on reference to US dollar

benchmark prices An increase in the value of the Canadian dollar in relation to the US dollar results in decreased revenue from the sale

of the Companys production Conversely decrease in the value of the Canadian dollar in relation to the US dollar results in increased

revenue from the sale of the Companys production Production expenses and future income tax liabilities in the North Sea are subject

to foreign currency fluctuations due to changes in the exchange rate of the UK pound sterling to the US dollar The value of the

Companys US dollar denominated debt is also impacted by the value of the Canadian dollar in relation to the US dollar

The net unrealized foreign exchange gain in 2009 was primarily related to the strengthening Canadian dollar in relation to the US dollar

with respect to the US dollar denominated debt partially offset by the impact of the re-measurement of North Sea future income
tax liabilities denominated in UK pounds sterling to US dollars Included in the net unrealized gain for the year ended December 31 2009

was an unrealized loss of $338 million 2008 $449 million unrealized gain 2007 $351 million unrealized loss related to the impact of

cross currency swap hedges The net realized foreign exchange loss for 2009 was primarily due to the result of foreign exchange rate

fluctuations on settlement of working capital items denominated in US dollars or UK pounds sterling and the repayment of

US dollar denominated debt The Canadian dollar ended the year at US$09555 compared to US$08166 at December 31 2008
December 31 2007 US$1.0120

TAXES

millions except income tax rates 2009 2008 2007

Current 91 245 121

Deferred 15 67 44

Taxes otherthan incometax 106 178 165

North America 28 33 96
North Sea 278 340 210reWest Af rica 82 128 74

Current income tax 388 501 380
Future income tax 99 1607 456

Income tax rate and other legislative changes 2314

308 2149 788

Effective income tax rate before income tax rate

and other legislative changes 24.3% 27.8% 32.2%

Includes North America Conventional Crude Oil and Natural Gas Midstream and Oil Sands Mining and Upgrading segments

Includes the effects of one time recoveries of $19 million due to British Columbia corporate income tax rate reductions
substantively enacted or enacted during 2009

Includes the effects of one time recoveries of $19 million due to British Columbia corporate income tax rate reductions and $22 million due to Côte dlvoire corporate income
tax rate reductions

substantively enacted or enacted during 2008

Includes the effect of one time recoveries of $864 million due to Canadian Federal income tax rate reductions and other legislative changes substantively enacted or enacted

during 2007

Taxes other than income tax primarily includes current and deferred PRT which is charged on certain fields in the North Sea at the rate

of 50% of net operating income after allowing for certain deductions including related capital and abandonment expenditures

Taxable income from the conventional crude oil and natural gas business in Canada is primarily generated through partnerships with

the related income taxes payable in subsequent periods North America current income taxes have been provided on the basis of this
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corporate structure In addition current income taxes in each business segment will vary depending on available income tax deductions

related to the nature timing and amount of capital expenditures incurred in any particular year

The Company is subject to income tax reassessments arising in the normal course The Company does not believe that any liabilities

ultimately arising from these reassessments will be material

For 2010 based on budgeted prices and the current availability of tax pools the Company expects to incur current income tax expense

in Canada of $450 million to $550 million and in the North Sea and Offshore West Africa of $220 million to $260 million

NET CAPITAL EXPENDITURES

millions
2009

Expenditures on property plant and equipment $6 336

ndacqtioretention______ 77

Seismic evaluations 73 107 124

1244 1664 1642

Production and related facilities
977 1282 1205

Total net reserve replacement expenditures 2377 3475 3027

Oil Sands Mining and Upgrading

Horizon Phase construction costs 69 2732 2740

Horizon Phase commissioning costs and other 202 364

Horizon Phases 2/3 construction costs 104 336 124

Capitalized interest stock-based compensation and other 98 480 437

Sustaining capital
80

Total Oil Sands Mining and Upgrading
553 3912 3301

Midstream

Abandonments3 48 38 71

Head office
13 17 20

Total net capital expenditures 2997 7451 6425

By segment

North America 1663 2344 2428

North Sea
168 319 439

Offshore West Africa 544 81 159

Other

Oil Sands Mining and Upgrading
553 3912 3301

Midstream

Abandonments 13 48 38 71

Head office 13 17 20

Total 2997 7451 6425

Net capital expenditures exclude adjustments related to differences between carrying
value and tax value and other fair value adjustments

Net expenditures for Oil sands Mining and Upgrading assets also include the impact of intersegment eliminations

Abandonments represent expenditures to settle ARO and have been reflected as capital expenditures in this table

The Companys operating strategy is focused on building diversified asset base that is balanced among various products In order to

facilitate efficient operations the Company concentrates its activities in core regions where it can dominate the land base and

infrastructure The Company focuses on maintaining its land inventories to enable the continuous exploitation of play types and

geological trends greatly reducing overall exploration risk By dominating infrastructure the Company is able to maximize utilization of

its production facilities thereby increasing control over production costs

Net capital expenditures for 2009 were $2997 million compared to $7451 million for 2008 2007 $6425 million The decrease in

capital expenditures from the prior year reflects the completion of Horizon Phase construction Capital expenditures were also

impacted by the effects of an overall strategic reduction in the North America natural gas drilling program

Drilling Activity number of wells
2009 2008 2007

Net successful natural gas wells 109 269 383

Net successful crude oil wells 644 682 592

Drywells
46 39 93

Stratigraphic test/service wells 329 131 254

Total 1128 1121 1322

Success rate excluding stratigraphic test service wells 94% 96% 91

2008 2007
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North America

North America excluding Oil Sands Mining and Upgrading accounted for approximately 58% of the total capital expenditures for the

year ended December 31 2009 compared to approximately 32% for 2008200739%

During 2009 the Company targeted 117 net natural gas wells including 21 wells in Northeast British Columbia 39 wells in the

Northern Plains region 47 wells in Northwest Alberta and 10 wells in the Southern Plains region The Company also targeted 676 net

crude oil wells during the year The majority of these wells were concentrated in the Companys crude oil Northern Plains region where

496 primary heavy crude oil wells 60 Pelican Lake crude oil wells 82 thermal crude oil wells and light crude oil wells were drilled

Another 36 wells targeting light crude oil were drilled outside the Northern Plains region

The Company continued to access its large crude oil
drilling inventory to maximize value in both the short and long term Due to the

Companys focus on drilling crude oil wells in recent years low natural gas price and as result of royalty changes under the ARE natural

gas drilling activities have been reduced Deferred natural gas well locations have been retained in the Companys prospect inventory

As part of the phased expansion of its In-Situ Oil Sands Assets the Company is continuing to develop its Primrose thermal projects

During 2009 the Company drilled 82 thermal oil wells and 36 stratigraphic test wells and observation wells Overall Primrose thermal

production for 2009 was approximately 64000 bbl/d 2008 65000 bbl/d 2007 64000 bbl/d The Primrose East Expansion new

facility located 15 kilometers from the existing Primrose South steam plant and 25 kilometers from the Wolf Lake central processing

facility was completed and first steaming commenced in September 2008 with first production achieved in the fourth quarter of 2008

During the first quarter of 2009 operational issues on one of the pads caused steaming to cease on all well pads in the Primrose East

project area During 2009 upon receipt of regulatory approval the Company began diagnostic steaming and is continuing to work on

resolving the issue

The next planned phase of the Companys In-Situ Oil Sands Assets expansion is the Kirby project located 120 kilometers north of the

existing Primrose facilities During 2007 the Company filed combined application and Environmental Impact Assessment for this

project with Alberta Environment and the Alberta Energy and Utilities Board Final corporate sanction and project scope is targeted for

late 2010 Currently the Company is proceeding with the detailed engineering and design work

Development of new pads and tertiary recovery conversion projects at Pelican Lake continued as expected throughout 2009 Drilling

consisted of 60 horizontal crude oil wells with plans to drill 147 additional horizontal crude oil wells in 2010 The response from the

water and polymer flood projects continues to be positive Pelican Lake production averaged approximately 37000 bbl/d in 2009

2008 37000 bbl/d 2007 34000 bbl/d

For 2010 the Companys overall drilling activity in North America is expected to comprise approximately 93 natural gas wells and 956
crude oil wells excluding stratigraphic and service wells

Oil Sands Mining and Upgrading

With construction completed Horizon Phase assets are now available for their intended use Accordingly capitalization of all associated

development costs including capitalized interest and stock-based compensation and all directly attributable Phase administrative

costs ceased and depletion depreciation and amortization of these assets commenced

Production was lower than anticipated due to number of challenges encountered in the third and fourth quarter The challenges

primarily relate to

Premature equipment failures in the Ore Preparation Plant Primary Upgrading the Naphtha Recovery Unit and the Sulphur Plant

Ore processing challenges arising in September resulting from higher percentage of clays in the second mine bench and the lack

of available blending materials from other mine benches associated with early mine operations and

Equipment failure in the hydrogen plant requiring shutdown for an extended period of time and issues with one of the

coker furnaces

Engineering and procurement is underway for Tranche of the Phase 2/3 expansion with focus on increasing reliability and uptime
Tranches and of Phase 2/3 continue to be re-profiled The Company continues to work on completing its lessons learned from the

construction of Phase and implementing these into the development of future expansions

North Sea

During 2009 the Company drilled 0.9 net oil wells and 0.3 net exploration wells at Deep Banff which did not find commercial reserves

Focus continued on lowering costs and high grading infill drilling opportunities ahead of the planned restart of platform drilling

operations in the second quarter of 2010

The Company also completed planned maintenance turnarounds at four of its five Platform installations on time and on budget
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Offshore West Africa

The Company drilled 6.1 net wells during 2009

The Company completed the Baobab drilling program in the first quarter of 2009 adding approximately 10000 bbl/d net to the Company

Progress on the
Facility Upgrade Project at Espoir to increase processing capacity of the Floating Production Storage and Offtake Vessel

FPSO has reverted to the original schedule to accommodate effective utilization of the installation vessel at Olowi

LIQUIDITY AND CAPITAL RESOURCES

millions except ratios
2009 2008 2007

514 392 1382

Long-term debt 11 9658 13016 10940

hoIdersfq
Share capital

2834 2768 2674

104 262 72
Accumulated other comprehensive loss income

Total 19426 18374 13321

Debt to book capitalization
314 33% 41% 45%

Debt to market capitalization
315 19% 33% 22%

8% 33% 22%

After tax return on average capital employed 37 19% 12%

calculated as current assets less current liabilities excluding the current portion of long-term debt

Includes the current portion of long-term debt 2009 $nil 2008 $420 million 2007 $nil

Long-term debt at December 31 2009 and 2008 is stated at its carrying value net of fair value adjustments original issue discounts and transaction costs

Calculated as current and long-term debt divided by the book value of common shareholders equity plus current and long-term debt

Calculated as current and long-term debt divided by the market value of common shareholders equity plus current and long-term debt

Calculated as net earnings for the year as percentage of average common shareholders equity
for the year

Calculated as net earnings plus after-tax interest expense for the year as percentage of average capital employed Average capital employed is the average shareholders

equity
and current and long-term debt for the year including $12855 million in average capital employed related to the Horizon Oil sands 2008 $10678 million

2007 $7001 million

At December 31 2009 the Companys capital resources consisted primarily of cash flow from operations available bank credit facilities

and access to debt capital markets Cash flow from operations is dependent on factors discussed in the Risks and Uncertainties

section of this MDA The Companys ability to renew existing bank credit facilities and raise new debt is also dependent upon these

factors as well as maintaining an investment grade debt rating and the condition of capital and credit markets The Company continues

to believe that its internally generated cash flow from operations supported by the implementation of its on-going hedge policy the

flexibility of its capital expenditure programs supported by its multi-year financial plans its existing bank credit facilities and its ability

to raise new debt on commercially acceptable terms will provide sufficient liquidity to sustain its operations in the short medium and

long term and support its growth strategy

During 2009 the Company repaid $2350 million remaining on the non-revolving syndicated credit
facility

related to the acquisition of

Anadarko Canada Corporation and cancelled the facility At December 31 2009 the Company had $2004 million of available credit

under its bank credit facilities The Companys current debt ratings are BBB high with stable trend by DBRS Limited Baa2 with

stable outlook by Moodys Investors Service and BBB with stable outlook by Standard Poors

Further details related to the Companys long-term debt at December 31 2009 are discussed below and in note to the Companys

audited annual consolidated financial statements

Long-term debt was $9658 million at December 31 2009 resulting in debt to book capitalization level of 33% as at December 31 2009

December 31 2008 41% December 31 2007 45% This ratio is below the 35% to 45% range targeted by management The

Company remains committed to maintaining strong balance sheet and flexible capital structure The Company has hedged portion

of its crude oil and natural gas production for 2010 at prices that protect investment returns to ensure ongoing balance sheet strength

and the completion of its capital expenditure programs

During 2009 the Company filed new base shelf prospectuses that allow for the issue of up to $3000 million of medium-term notes in

Canada and US$3000 million of debt securities in the United States until November 2011 If issued these securities will bear interest

as determined at the date of issuance

The Companys commodity hedging program reduces the risk of volatility in commodity prices and supports the Companys cash flow

for its capital expenditures programs This program currently allows for the hedging of up to 60% of the near 12 months budgeted

production and up to 40% of the following 13 to 24 months estimated production For the purpose of this program the purchase of

crude oil put options is in addition to the above parameters As at December 31 2009 in accordance with the policy approximately

39% of budgeted crude oil and approximately 17% of budgeted natural gas volumes were hedged using collars for 2010
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Further details related to the Companys commodity related derivative financial instruments outstanding at December 31 2009 are

discussed in note 13 to the Companys audited annual consolidated financial statements

Share Capital

As at December 31 2009 there were 542327000 common shares outstanding and 32106000 stock options outstanding As at

March 2010 the Company had 542655000 common shares outstanding and 30702000 stock options outstanding

The Company did not renew its Normal Course Issuer Bid during 2009 During 2008 and 2009 the Company did not purchase any
common shares for cancellation under the programs then in place

On March 2010 the Companys Board of Directors approved an increase in the annual dividend declared by the Company to $0.60

per common share for 2010 The increase represents 43% increase from the prior year The dividend policy undergoes periodic

review by the Board of Directors and is subject to change In March 2009 an increase in the annual dividend paid by the Company to

$0.42 per common share was approved for 2009 The increase represented 5% increase from 2008

On March 2010 the Board of Directors approved resolution to file with the Toronto Stock Exchange Notice of Intention to

purchase by way of normal course issuer bid up to 2.5% of the Companys issued and outstanding common shares Subject to

acceptance by the Toronto Stock Exchange of the Notice of Intention the purchases would be made through the facilities of the Toronto

Stock Exchange and the New York Stock Exchange

Share Split

On March 2010 the Companys Board of Directors approved resolution to subdivide the Companys common shares on two for

one basis subject to shareholder approval The proposal will be voted on at the Companys Annual and Special Meeting of Shareholders

to be held on May 2010

COMMITMENTS AND OFF BALANCE SHEET ARRANGEMENTS

In the normal course of business the Company has entered into various commitments that will have an impact on the Companys future

operations These commitments primarily relate to firm commitments for gathering processing and transmission services operating
leases relating to offshore FPSOs drilling rigs and office space expenditures relating to ARO as well as long-term debt and interest

payments As at December 31 2009 no entities were consolidated under CICA Handbook Accounting Guideline 15 Consolidation

of Variable Interest Entities The following table summarizes the Companys commitments as at December 31 2009

millions 2010 2011 2012 2013 2014 Thereafter

Product transportation and pipeline 207 162 136 125 126 1051
124 103 102 101 261

Offshore drilling 49 __$
Asset retirement obligations 16 20 21 31 39 6479.erb2L_ 400 419 366 819 366 5424

jp3____________________ 473 451 415 370 350 4779
Office leases 25 19

Other 271 67 23 15 12 34

Amounts
represent managements estimate of the future undiscounted payments to settle ARO related to resource properties fadlities and production platforms based on

current legislation and industry operating practices Amounts disclosed for the period 2010-2014
represent

the minimum required expenditures to meet these obligations
Actual

expenditures in any particular year may exceed these minimum amounts

The long-term debt
represents principal repayments only and does not reflect fair value adjustments original issue discounts or transaction costs No debt repayments are

reflected for $1897 million of revolving bank credit facilities due to the extendable nature of the facilities

Interest expense amounts
represent

the scheduled fixed rate and variable rate cash payments related to long-term debt Interest on variable rate long-term debt was estimated

based upon prevailing interest rates as of December 31 2009

LEGAL PROCEEDINGS

The Company is defendant and plaintiff in number of legal actions In addition the Company is subject to certain contractor

construction claims The Company believes that
any liabilities that might arise pertaining to any such matters would not have material

effect on its consolidated financial position

RESERVES

For the year ended December 31 2009 the Company retained qualified independent reserves evaluators Sproule Associates Limited

Sproule and GLJ Petroleum Consultants Ltd GLJ to evaluate and review all of the Companys proved as well as probable crude

oil synthetic crude oil bitumen natural gas coal bed methane and NGLs reserves and prepare Evaluation Reports on these reserves

Sproule evaluated and reviewed all of the Companys crude oil bitumen natural gas coal bed methane and NGLs reserves GLJ

evaluated all of the synthetic crude oil reserves related to the Companys oil sands mine The Company has been granted an exemption
from certain provisions of National Instrument 51-101 Standards of Disclosure for Oil and Gas Activities NI 51-101 which

prescribes the standards for the preparation and disclosure of reserves and related information for companies listed in Canada This

exemption allows the Company to substitute SEC requirements under Regulations S-K and S-X for certain disclosures required under

NI 51-101 On December 31 2008 the SEC released its final rules for the modernization of oil and gas reporting Final Rule The
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material changes include the ability to include oil sands mining as an oil and gas activity ability to use reliable technology to establish

undeveloped reserves the optional ability to report probable reserves the requirement to track undeveloped locations and the directive

to use 12-month average prices and current costs These resulting changes are more in line with NI 51-101 however there are material

differences to the type of volumes disclosed and the basis from which the volumes are determined NI 51-101 requires gross reserves

and future net revenue under forecast pricing and costs however the SEC as discussed requires disclosure of net reserves after

royalties using 12-month average prices and current costs Therefore the difference between the reported numbers under the two

disclosure standards can be material

The Company annually discloses proved reserves and the standardized measure of discounted future net cash flows using 12-month

average prices and current costs as mandated by the SEC in the supplementary oil and gas information section of the Companys Annual

Report and in its annual Form 40-F filing
with the SEC

The following tables summarize the Companys proved crude oil and natural gas reserves net of royalties as at December 31 2009

and 2008

Synthetic
Other North Offshore

Crude Oil America North West

Oil Bitumen NGL5 Total Sea Africa Total
Crude oil and NGLs mmbblvedreserves
Reserves December 31 2008 690 258 948 256 142 1346

Extensions and discoveries 24 30 30
75 83 83

ableTechnoloy13
SEC Rule Transition 1650 1650 1650

Purchases of reserves in place

Sales of reserves in place

Production 49 24 73 14 11 98

Economic revisions due to prices 64 72 57 19

Revisions of prior estimates ....-... 79 1J90 59 4. 27

Reserves December 31 2009 650 695 319 664 240 123 027

Prior to December 31 2009 the companys Horizon SCO reserves were reported separately
in accordance with SECS Industry

Guide With SECs Final Rule in effect

January 2010 this synthetic crude oil is now included in the Companys crude oil and natural gas reserve totals

Bitumen as defined by the SEC under the Final Rule is petroleum in solid or semi solid State in natural deposits
with viscosity greater than 10 000 centipoiSe

measured

at original temperature in the deposit and atmospheric pressure on gas free basis Under this definition all the Companys thermal and primary heavy crude oil reserves

have been included Prior to December31 2009 these numbers would have been included within the Companys conventional crude oil and NGL totals

SEC reliable technology accounts for reserve volumes added due to the reserve rule changes

For continuity purposes with respect to the transition from Industry
Guide into SECS Final Rule the following

SCO table has been provided to illustrate the changes in the

Companys Horizon SCO reserves for the 2009 year

Horizon SCO reserves mmbbl
Net Proved mmbl

Reserves December31 2008
1946

Production
18

Economic revisiorrs due toplices
07

Revisions of prior estimates
29

Reserves December 31 2009 1650
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North

America

North

Sea

Offshore

West AfricaNatural gas bcf Total

Net proved reserves

Reserves December31 2008 ______ 3523 67 94 3684
Extensions and discoveries 92 92

Improved recovery

SEC ReliaeTechy_
Purchases of reserves in place 15

Sales of reserves in place

Production 443 453
Economic revisions due to prices 335 12 327
Revisions of prior estimates 170 163

Reserves December 31 2009 3027 67 85 3179

The Companys net proved crude oil and NGLs reserves at December 31 2009 excluding synthetic crude oil totaled 1377 mmbbl

Approximately 132% of the production was replaced by reserve additions and revisions during 2009 Additions resulting from exploration

and development and acquisition activities amounted to 121 mmbbl while net positive revisions amounted to mmbbl

The Companys net proved natural gas reserves net of royalties at December 31 2009 totaled 3179 bcf Additions related to exploration

development acquisition and dispostion activities amounted to 12 bcf while net negative revisions amounted to 164 bcf This net loss

is largely due to the change in price from year end 2008 to year end 2009

The Reserves Committee of the Companys Board of Directors has met with and carried out independent due diligence procedures with

each of Sproule and GLJ to review the qualifications of and procedures used by each evaluator in determining the estimate of the

Companys quantities and net present value of remaining synthetic crude oil crude oil NGLs and natural gas reserves

Additional reserves disclosure is annually disclosed in the supplementary oil and gas information of the Companys Annual Report

RISKS AND UNCERTAINTIES

The Company is exposed to various operational risks inherent in exploring developing producing and marketing crude oil and natural

gas and the mining and upgrading of bitumen into SCO These inherent risks include but are not limited to the following items

Economic risk of finding producing and replacing reserves at reasonable cost including the risk of reserve revisions due to economic

and technical factors Reserve revisions can have positive or negative impact on asset valuations ARO and depletion rates

Prevailing prices of crude oil and NGLs and natural gas

Regulatory risk related to approval for exploration and development activities which can add to costs or cause delays in projects

Labour risk associated with securing the manpower necessary to complete capital projects in timely and cost effective manner

Operating hazards and other difficulties inherent in the exploration for and production and sale of crude oil and natural gas

Success of exploration and development activities

Timing and success of integrating the business and operations of acquired companies

Credit risk related to non-payment for sales contracts or non-performance by counterparties to contracts

Interest rate risk associated with the Companys ability to secure financing on commercially acceptable terms

Foreign exchange risk due to fluctuating exchange rates on the Companys US dollar denominated debt and as the majority of sales

are based in US dollars

Environmental impact risk associated with exploration and development activities including GHG

Risk of catastrophic loss due to fire explosion or acts of nature

Geopolitical risks associated with changing governmental policies social instability and other political economic or diplomatic

developments in the Companys operations

Future legislative and regulatory developments related to environmental regulation

Reservoir quality

The ability to replace reserves of oil and gas whether sourced from exploration improved recovery or acquisition

Potential actions of governments regulatory authorities and other stakeholders that may impose operating costs or restrictions in the

jurisdations where the Company has operations
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Changing royalty regimes

Business interruptions because of unexpected events such as fires blowouts freeze-ups equipment failures and other similar events

affecting the Company or other parties whose operations or assets directly or indirectly affect the Company and that may or may

not be financially recoverable and

Other circumstances affecting revenue and expenses

The Company uses variety of means to help mitigate and/or minimize these risks The Company maintains comprehensive property

loss and business interruption insurance program to reduce risk to an acceptable level Operational control is enhanced by focusing

efforts on large core areas with high working interests and by assuming operatorship of key facilities Product mix is diversified

consisting of the production of natural gas and the production of crude oil of various grades The Company believes this diversification

reduces price risk when compared with over-leverage to one commodity Accounts receivable from the sale of crude oil and natural gas

are mainly with customers in the crude oil and natural gas industry and are subject to normal industry credit risks The Company

manages these risks by reviewing its exposure to individual companies on regular basis and where appropriate ensures that parental

guarantees or letters of credit are in place to minimize the impact in the event of default Substantially all of the Companys accounts

receivables are due within normal trade terms Derivative financial instruments are utilized to help ensure targets are met and to

manage commodity prices foreign currency rates and interest rate exposure The Company is exposed to possible losses in the event

of non-performance by counterparties to derivative financial instruments however the Company manages this credit risk by entering

into agreements with substantially all investment grade financial institutions and other entities The arrangements and policies concerning

the Companys financial instruments are under constant review and may change depending upon the prevailing market conditions

The Companys capital structure mix is also monitored on continual basis to ensure that it optimizes flexibility minimizes cost and

offers the greatest opportunity for growth This includes the determination of reasonable level of debt and any interest rate exposure

risk that may exist

For additional detail regarding the Companys risks and uncertainties refer to the Companys Annual Information Form

ENVIRONMENT

The Company continues to invest in people technologies facilities and infrastructure to recover and process crude oil and natural gas

resources efficiently and in an environmentally sustainable manner

The crude oil and natural gas industry is experiencing incremental increases in costs related to environmental regulation particularly in

North America and the North Sea Existing and expected legislation and regulations require the Company to address and mitigate the

effect of its activities on the environment Increasingly stringent laws and regulations may have an adverse effect on the Companys

future net earnings and cash flow from operations

The Companys associated environmental risk management strategies focus on working with legislators and regulators to ensure that

any new or revised policies legislation or regulations properly reflect balanced approach to sustainable development Specific measures

in response to existing or new legislation include focus on the Companys energy efficiency air emissions management released water

quality reduced fresh water use and the minimization of the impact on the landscape Training and due diligence for operators and

contractors are key to the effectiveness of the Companys environmental management programs and the prevention of incidents The

Companys environmental risk management strategies employ an Environmental Management Plan the Plan Details of the Plan

along with performance results are presented to and reviewed by the Board of Directors quarterly

The Companys Plan and operating guidelines focus on minimizing the impact of operations while meeting regulatory requirements

regional management frameworks industry operating standards and guidelines and internal corporate standards The Company as

part of this Plan has implemented proactive program that includes

An internal environmental compliance audit and inspection program of the Companys operating facilities

suspended well inspection program to support future development or eventual abandonment

Appropriate reclamation and decommissioning standards for wells and facilities ready for abandonment

An effective surface reclamation program

due diligence program related to groundwater monitoring

An active program related to preventing and reclaiming spill sites

solution gas conservation program

program to replace the majority of fresh water for steaming with brackish water

Water programs to improve efficiency of use recycle rates and water storage

Environmental planning for all projects to assess impacts and to implement avoidance and mitigation programs
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Reporting for environmental liabilities

program to optimize efficiencies at the Companys operating facilities

Continued evaluation of new technologies to reduce environmental impacts

Development and implementation of tailings management plan and

CO2 reduction programs including the injection of CO2 into tailings and for use in enhanced oil
recovery

For 2009 the Companys capital expenditures included $48 million for abandonment expenditures 2008 $38 million

2007 $71 million

The Companys estimated undiscounted ARO at December 31 2009 was as follows

Estimated ARO undiscounted millions 2009 2008

North America Conventional 3346 3072
North America Oil Sands Mining and Upgrading 1485 93

North Sea 1522 1216
Offshore West Africa 253 93

6606 4474
North Sea PRT recovery 568 529

6038 3945

Prior period amounts have been reclassified to conform to the presentation adopted in 2009

The estimate of ARO is based on estimates of future costs to abandon and restore wells production facilities and offshore production

platforms Factors that affect costs include number of wells drilled well depth and the specific environmental legislation The estimated

costs are based on engineering estimates using current costs in accordance with present legislation and industry operating practice The

Companys strategy in the North Sea consists of developing commercial hubs around its core operated properties with the goal of

increasing production lowering costs and extending the economic lives of its production facilities thereby delaying the eventual

abandonment dates The future abandonment costs incurred in the North Sea are estimated to result in PRT recovery of $568 million

2008 $529 million 2007 $555 million as abandonment costs are an allowable deduction in determining PRT and may be carried

back to reclaim PRT previously paid The expected PRT recovery reduces the Companys net undiscounted abandonment
liability

to

$6038 million 2008 $3945 million

GREENHOUSE GAS AND OTHER AIR EMISSIONS

The Company through the Canadian Association of Petroleum Producers CAPP is working with Iegislaors and regulators as they

develop and implement new GHG emission laws and regulations Internally the Company is pursuing an integrated emissions reduction

strategy to ensure that it is able to comply with existing and future emissions reduction requirements for both GHGs and air pollutants

such as sulphur dioxide and oxides of nitrogen The Company continues to develop strategies that will enable it to deal with the risks

and opportunities associated with new GHG and air emissions policies In addition the Company is working with relevant parties to

ensure that new policies encourage technological innovation energy efficiency targeted research and development while not impacting

competitiveness

In Canada the Federal Government has indicated its intent to develop regulations that would be in effect in the near term to address

industrial GHG emissions as part of the national GHG reduction target The Federal Government has also outlined national and sectoral

reduction targets for several categories of air pollutants

In Alberta GHG reduction regulations came into effect July 2007 affecting facilities emitting more than 100 kilotonnes of C02e

annually Two of the Companys facilities the Primrose/Wolf Lake in-situ heavy crude oil facilities and the Hays sour natural gas plant fall

under the regulations The British Columbia carbon tax is currently being assessed at $1 5/tonne of C02e on fuel consumed and gas flared

in the province This rate is scheduled to increase to $20/tonne on July 2010 and to $30/tonne by July 2012 As part of its

involvement with the Western Climate Initiative British Columbia has also announced that certain upstream oil and gas facilities will be

included in regional cap and trade system beginning in 2012 It is estimated that six facilities in British Columbia will be included under

the cap and trade system based on proposed 25 kt CO2e threshold Saskatchewan is expected to release GHG regulations in 2010 that

may require the North Tangleflags in-situ heavy oil
facility

to meet reduction
target for its GHG emissions intensity In the UK GHG

regulations have been in effect since 2005 During Phase 2005 2007 of the UK National Allocation Plan the Company operated

below its CO2 allocation For Phase 2008 2012 the Companys CO2 allocation has been decreased below the Companys estimated

current operations emissions The Company continues to focus on implementing reduction programs based on efficiency audits to reduce

CO2 emissions at its major facilities and on trading mechanisms to ensure compliance with requirements now in effect
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Legislation to regulate GHGs in the United States through cap and trade system is currently before the US Congress although there

is no certainty as to the form or stringency of the final legislation In the absence of legislation the US Environmental Protection Agency

EPA is authorized under the Clean Air Act to regulate GHGs although EPA action would be subject to legal and political challenges

The ultimate form of Canadian regulation is anticipated to be strongly influenced by the regulatory decisions made within the US

Various states have enacted or are evaluating low carbon fuel standards which may affect access to market for crude oil with higher

emissions intensity

There are number of unresolved issues in relation to Canadian Federal and Provincial GHG regulatory requirements Key among them

is the form of regulation an appropriate facility
emission threshold availability and duration of compliance mechanisms and resolution

of federal/provincial harmonization agreements The Company continues to pursue GHG emission reduction initiatives including solution

gas conservation compressor optimization to improve fuel gas efficiency CO2 capture and sequestration in oil sands tailings CO2

capture and storage in association with enhanced oil recovery and participation in an industry initiative to promote an integrated

CO2 capture and storage network

The additional requirements of enacted or proposed GHG regulations on the Companys operations will increase capital expenditures

and operating expenses especially those related to the Horizon Project and the Companys other existing and planned large oil sands

projects This may have an adverse effect on the Companys net earnings and cash flow from operations

Air pollutant standards and guidelines are being developed federally and provincially and the Company is participating in these

discussions Ambient air quality and sector based reductions in air emissions are being reviewed Through Company and industry

participation with stakeholders guidelines have been developed that adopt structured process to emission reductions that is

commensurate with technological development and operational requirements

CRITICAL ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES

The preparation of financial statements requires the Company to make judgments assumptions and estimates in the application of

Canadian GAAP that have significant impact on the financial results of the Company Actual results may differ from those estimates

and those differences may be material Critical accounting estimates are reviewed by the Companys Audit Committee annually The

Company believes the following are the most critical accounting estimates in preparing its consolidated financial statements

Property Plant and Equipment Depletion Depreciation and Amortization

Under Canadian GAAP the Company follows the CICAs guideline on the full cost method of accounting for its conventional crude oil

and natural gas properties and equipment Accordingly all costs relating to the exploration for and development of conventional crude

oil and natural gas reserves whether successful or not are capitalized and accumulated in country-by-country cost centres Proceeds

on disposal of properties are ordinarily deducted from such costs without recognition of gain or loss except where such dispositions

result in change in the depletion rate of the specific cost centre of 20% or more Under Canadian GAAP substantially all of the

capitalized costs and estimated future capital costs related to each cost centre from which there is production are depleted on the

unit-of-production method based on the estimated proved reserves of that country using estimated future prices and costs rather than

constant prices and costs as required by the SEC for US GAAP purposes

Under Canadian GAAP the carrying amount of crude oil and natural gas properties in each cost centre may not exceed their recoverable

amount the ceiling test The recoverable amount is calculated as the undiscounted cash flow using proved reserves and estimated

future prices and costs If the carrying amount of cost centre exceeds its recoverable amount an impairment loss equal to the amount

by which the carrying amount of the properties exceeds their estimated fair value is charged against net earnings Fair value is calculated

as the cash flow from those properties using proved and probable reserves and estimated future prices and costs discounted at

risk-free interest rate At December 31 2009 ceiling test impairment of $1 15 million was recognized under Canadian GAAP related

to the Olowi Field in Offshore Gabon Further net revenues exceed capitalized costs for all other cost centres therefore no other

impairments were required under Canadian GAAP Under US GAAP the ceiling test differs from Canadian GAAP in that future net

revenues from proved reserves are based on prices and costs using the average first-day-of-the-month price during the previous

12-month period and costs as at the balance sheet date and are discounted at 10% Capitalized costs and future net revenues are

determined on net of tax basis These differences in applying the ceiling test in the current year resulted in the recognition of an

after-tax ceiling test impairment of $815 million under US GAAP

The alternate acceptable method of accounting for crude oil and natural gas properties and equipment is the successful efforts method

major difference in applying the successful efforts method is that exploratory dry holes and geological and geophysical exploration

costs would be charged against net earnings in the year
incurred rather than being capitalized to property plant and equipment In

addition under this method cost centres are defined based on reserve poois rather than by country The use of the full cost method

usually results in higher capitalized costs and increased DDA rates compared to the successful efforts method

Crude Oil and Natural Gas Reserves

The estimation of reserves involves the exercise of judgment Forecasts are based on engineering data estimated future prices expected

future rates of production and the timing of future capital expenditures all of which are subject to many uncertainties and interpretations

The Company expects that over time its reserve estimates will be revised either upward or downward based on updated information

such as the results of future drilling testing and production levels Reserve estimates can have significant impact on net earnings as

they are key component in the calculation of depletion depreciation and amortization and for determining potential asset impairment

For example revision to the proved reserve estimates would result in higher or lower DDA charge to net earnings Downward
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revisions to reserve estimates may also result in an impairment of crude oil and natural gas property plant and equipment carrying

amounts under the ceiling test

Asset Retirement Obligations

Under CICA Handbook Section 3110 Asset Retirement Obligations the Company is required to recognize liability
for the future

retirement obligations associated with its property plant and equipment An ARO liability associated with the retirement of tangible

long-lived asset is recognized to the extent of legal obligation resulting from an existing or enacted law statute ordinance or written

or oral contract or by legal construction of contract under the doctrine of promissory estoppel The ARO is based on estimated costs

taking into account the anticipated method and extent of restoration consistent with legal requirements technological advances and

the possible use of the site Since these estimates are specific to the sites involved there are many individual assumptions underlying

the Companys total ARO amount These individual assumptions can be subject to change

The estimated fair values of ARO related to long-term assets are recognized as liability in the period in which they are incurred

Retirement costs equal to the estimated fair value of the ARO are capitalized as part of the cost of associated capital assets and are

amortized to expense through depletion over the life of the asset The fair value of the ARO is estimated by discounting the expected

future cash flows to settle the ARO at the Companys average credit-adjusted risk-free interest rate which is currently 6.9% In

subsequent periods the ARO is adjusted for the passage of time and for any changes in the amount or timing of the underlying future

cash flows The estimates described impact earnings by way of depletion on the retirement cost and accretion on the asset retirement

liability In addition differences between actual and estimated costs to settle the ARO timing of cash flows to settle the obligation and

future inflation rates may result in gains or losses on the final settlement of the ARO

An ARO is not recognized for assets with an indeterminate useful life e.g pipeline assets and the Horizon upgrader and related

infrastructure because an amount cannot be reasonably determined An ARO for these assets will be recorded in the first period in

which the lives of these assets are determinable

Income Taxes

The Company follows the lability method of accounting for income taxes Under this method future income tax assets and liabilities

are recognized based on the estimated tax effects of temporary differences between the carrying value of assets and liabilities in the

consolidated financial statements and their respective tax bases using income tax rates substantively enacted or enacted as of the

consolidated balance sheet date Accounting for income taxes is complex process that requires management to interpret frequently

changing laws and regulations e.g changing income tax rates and make certain judgments with respect to the application of tax law

estimating the timing of temporary difference reversals and estimating the realizability of tax assets These interpretations and judgments

impact the current and future income tax provisions future income tax assets and liabilities and net earnings

Risk Management Activities

The Company utilizes various derivative financial instruments to manage its commodity price foreign currency and interest rate

exposures These financial instruments are entered into solely for hedging purposes and are not used for speculative purposes

The estimated fair value of derivative financial instruments has been determined based on appropriate internal valuation methodologies

Fair values determined using valuation models require the use of assumptions concerning the amount and timing of future cash flows

and discount rates In determining these assumptions the Company has relied primarily on external readily observable market inputs

including quoted commodity prices and volatility interest rate yield curves and foreign exchange rates The resulting fair value estimates

may not necessarily be indicative of the amounts that may be realized or settled in current market transaction and these differences

may be material

Purchase Price Allocations

The purchase prices of business combinations and asset acquisitions are allocated to the underlying acquired assets and liabilities based

on their estimated fair value at the time of acquisition The determination of fair value requires the Company to make assumptions and

estimates regarding future events The allocation process is inherently subjective and impacts the amounts assigned to individually

identifiable assets and liabilities As result the purchase price allocation impacts the Companys reported assets and liabilities and

future net earnings due to the impact on future DDA expense and impairment tests

The Company has made various assumptions in determining the fair values of the acquired assets and liabilities The most significant

assumptions and judgments relate to the estimation of the fair value of the crude oil and natural gas properties To determine the fair

value of these properties the Company estimates crude oil and natural gas reserves and future prices of crude oil and natural

gas Reserve estimates are based on the work performed by the Companys internal engineers and outside consultants The judgments

associated with these estimated reserves are described above in Crude Oil and Natural Gas Reserves Estimates of future prices are

based on prices derived from price forecasts among industry analysts and internal assessments The Company applies estimated future

prices to the estimated reserves quantities acquired and estimates future operating and development costs to arrive at estimated

future net revenues for the properties acquired
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CONTROL ENVIRONMENT

The Companys management including the President and the Chief Financial Officer and Senior Vice-President Finance evaluated the

effectiveness of disclosure controls and procedures as at December 31 2009 and concluded that disclosure controls and procedures

are effective to ensure that information required to be disclosed by the Company in its annual filings and other reports filed with

securities regulatory authorities in Canada and the United States is recorded processed summarized and reported within the time

periods specified and such information is accumulated and communicated to the Companys management to allow timely decisions

regarding required disclosures

The Companys management also performed an assessment of internal control over financial reporting as at December 31 2009 and

concluded that internal control over financial reporting is effective Further there were no changes in the Companys internal control

over financial reporting during 2009 that have materially affected or are reasonably likely to materially affect internal controls over

financial reporting

While the Companys management believes that the Companys disclosure controls and procedures and internal controls over financial

reporting provide reasonable level of assurance they are effective they recognize that all control systems have inherent limitations

Because of its inherent limitations the Companys control systems may not prevent or detect misstatements Also projections of any

evaluation of effectiveness to future periods are subject to the risk that controls may become inadequate because of changes in

conditions or that the degree of compliance with the policies or procedures may deteriorate

NEW ACCOUNTING STANDARDS

During 2009 the Company adopted the following new accounting standards issued by the CICA

Goodwill and Intangible Assets

Effective January 2009 Section 3064 Goodwill and Intangible Assets replaced Section 3062 Goodwill and Other Intangible

Assets and Section 3450 Research and Development Costs In addition EIC-27 Revenue and Expenditures during the

Pre-operating Period was withdrawn The new standard addresses when an internally generated intangible asset meets the

definition of an asset The adoption of this standard which was adopted retroactively did not have an impact on the Companys

results of operations or financial position

Credit Risk and the Fair Value of Financial Assets and Liabilities

On January 20 2009 the Emerging Issues Committee EIC issued new abstract EIC173 Credit Risk and the Fair Value of

Financial Assets and Financial Liabilities This abstract concludes that an entitys own credit risk and the credit risk of the counterparty

should be taken into account when determining the fair value of financial assets and financial liabilities including derivative financial

instruments This abstract applies to all financial assets and liabilities measured at fair value in interim and annual financial statements

for periods ending on or after January 20 2009 The adoption of this abstract did not have material impact on the Companys

results of operations or financial position

The Company also adopted the following amendments to accounting standards issued by the CICA

Financial Instruments

Effective July 12009 Section 3855 Financial Instruments Recognition and Measurement was amended to add guidance on

the assessment of embedded derivatives upon reclassification of financial asset from the held-for-trading category This amendment

did not have any impact on the Companys results of operations or financial position

Financial Instruments Disclosures

Effective October 2009 Section 3862 Financial Instruments Disclosures was amended to include additional disclosure

requirements for fair value measurements of financial instruments and to enhance liquidity risk disclosure requirements The

amendment requires the classification and disclosure of fair value measurements using three-level hierarchy that reflects the

significance of the inputs used in making the fair value measurements This amendment affected disclosure only and did not impact

the Companys accounting for financial instruments

INTERNATIONAL FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS

In February 2008 the CICAs Accounting Standards Board confirmed that Canadian publicly accountable enterprises will be required to

adopt International Financial Reporting Standards IFRS as promulgated by the International Accounting Standards Board IASB
in place of Canadian GAAP effective January 2011

The Company has established formal IFRS project governance structure The structure includes Steering Committee which consists

of senior levels of management from finance and accounting operations and information technology IT The Steering Committee

provides regular updates to the Companys Management and the Audit Committee of the Board of Directors
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The Companys IFRS conversion project has been broken down into the following phases

Phase Diagnostic identification of potential accounting and reporting differences between Canadian GAAP and IFRS

Phase Planning establishment of project governance processes resources budget and timeline

Phase Policy Delivery and Documentation establishment of accounting policies under IFRS

Phase Policy Implementation establishment of
processes for accounting and reporting IT change requirements and education

Phase Sustainment ongoing compliance with IFRS after implementation

The Company has completed the Diagnostic and Planning phases Phases and Significant differences were identified in accounting
for Property Plant Equipment PPE including exploration costs depletion and depreciation capitalized interest impairment

testing and asset retirement obligations Other significant differences were noted in accounting for stock-based compensation risk

management activities and income taxes The Company is continuing to perform the necessary research to develop and document IFRS

policies to address the major differences noted Phase summary of the significant differences identified is included below At this

time the impact on the Companys future financial position and results of operations is not reasonably determinable In addition

certain IFRS standards are expected to change prior to adoption in 2011 and the impact of these potential changes is not known

The Company has identified developed and tested process and system changes required to capture data required for IFRS accounting
and reporting Phase including requirements to capture both Canadian GAAP and IFRS data in 2010 IT system changes are

substantially complete and implemented as at December 31 2009

Summary of Identified IFRS Accounting Policy Differences

Property Plant Equipment

Adoption of IFRS will significantly impact the Companys accounting policies for PPE For Canadian GAAP purposes the Company
follows the full cost method of accounting for its conventional crude oil and natural gas properties and equipment as prescribed by

Accounting Guideline 16 Application of the full cost method of accounting is discussed in the Critical Accounting Estimates section

of this MDA Significant differences in accounting for PPE under IFRS include

Pre-exploration costs must be expensed Under full cost accounting these costs are currently included in the country cost centre

Exploration and evaluation costs will be initially capitalized as exploration and evaluation assets Once technical feasibility and

commercial viability of reserves is established for an area the costs will be transferred to PPE If technically feasible and commercially

viable reserves are not established for new area the costs must be expensed Under full cost accounting exploration and evaluation

costs are currently disclosed as PPE but withheld from depletion Costs are transferred to the depletable assets when proved

reserves are assigned or when it is determined that the costs are impaired

PPE for producing properties will be depreciated at an asset level Under full cost accounting PPE is depleted on country cost

centre basis

Interest directly attributable to the acquisition or construction of qualifying asset must be capitalized to the cost of the asset Under

Canadian GAAP capitalization of interest is discretionary

Impairment of PPE will be tested at cash generating unit level the lowest level at which cash inflows can be identified Under

full cost accounting impairment is tested at the country cost centre level

IFRS First-time Adoption of International Financial Reporting Standards issued by the IASB includes transition exemption for oil

and gas companies following full cost accounting under their previous GAAP The transition exemption allows full cost companies to

allocate their existing full cost PPE balances using reserve values or volumes to IFRS compliant units of account without requiring

retroactive adjustment subject to an initial impairment test The Company intends to adopt this transition exemption

Asset Retirement Obligations

Canadian GAAP accounting requirements for ARO are discussed in the Critical Accounting Estimates section of this MDA
significant difference in accounting for ARO under IFRS is that the liability must be re-measured at each balance sheet date using the

current discount rates whereas under Canadian GAAP the discount rates do not change once the liability is recorded On transition to

IFRS the change in ARO
liability on PPE for which the full cost exemption above is applied must be recorded in retained earnings For

the change in ARO liability on other non-full cost PPE the change will be adjusted to PPE in accordance with the general exemption
for decommissioning liabilities included in IFRS In future periods the impact of changes in discount rates on the ARO liability for all

PPE is adjusted to PPE

Stock-based Compensation

Under Canadian GAAP the Companys stock option plan liability is valued using the intrinsic value method calculated as the amount by

which the market price of the Companys shares exceeds the exercise price of the option for vested options Under IFRS the stock option

plan liability must be measured using fair value option pricing model such as the Black-Scholes-Merton model The Company intends to

utilize the exemption in IFRS under which options that were settled prior to January 2010 will not have to be retrospectively restated
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In come Taxes

Both Canadian GAAP and IFRS follow the
liability

method of accounting for income taxes where tax liabilities and assets are recognized

on temporary differences However there are certain exceptions to the treatment of temporary differences under IFRS that may result

in an adjustment to the Companys future tax liability under IFRS In addition the Companys future tax liability
will be impacted by the

tax effects of any changes noted in the above areas

Other IFRS Exemptions

The Company also intends to adopt the following IFRS transition exemptions

The Company intends to elect to reset the foreign currency translation adjustment to zero by transferring the Canadian GAAP

balance to retained earnings on January 2010 rather than retrospectively restating the balance

The Company intends to adopt the IFRS election to not restate business combinations entered into prior to January 2010

OUTLOOK

The Company continues to implement its strategy of maintaining large portfolio of varied projects which the Company believes will

enable it over an extended period of time to provide consistent growth in production and create shareholder value Annual budgets

are developed scrutinized throughout the year
and revised if necessary in the context of targeted financial ratios project returns

product pricing expectations and balance in project risk and time horizons The Company maintains high ownership level and

operatorship level in all of its properties and can therefore control the nature timing and extent of capital expenditures in each of its

project areas The Company expects production levels in 2010 to average between 400000 bblfd and 445000 bbl/d of crude oil and

NGL5 and between 1117 mmcf/d and 1185 mmcf/d of natural gas

The forecasted capital expenditures in 2010 are currently expected to be as follows

millions
2010 Forecast

Conventional crude oil and natural gas

Americanaturala_____ 674

North America crude oil and NGLs 1900

North Sea
199

Offshore West Africa
264

Property acquisitions dispositions and midstream 100

3137

Oils Sands Mining and Upgrading

Horizon Phase 2/3 Tranche 479

Honzon_Phasfpiflflg_______ 95

Sustaining capital
164

Capitalized interest and other costs
47

785

Total 3922

The above capital expenditure budget incorporates the following levels of drilling activity

Number of wells 2010 Forecast

Thn natural ga____________ 93

966

227

Stratigraphic test wells mining
166

Total 1452

North America Natural Gas

The 2010 North America natural gas drilling program is highlighted by the continued high-grading of the Companys natural gas asset

base as follows

Number of wells
2010 Forecast

ntionalnaturalas_ 36

Cardium natural gas

aturalas
Foothills natural gas

Total
93
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North America Crude Oil and NGLs

The 2010 North America crude oil drilling program is highlighted by continued development of the Primrose thermal projects Pelican

Lake and strong conventional primary heavy program as follows

Number of wells 2010 Forecast

Conventional primary heavy crude oil 610
Thermal heavy crude oil 28

Light crude oil
17

Pelican Lake crude oil 201

Total 956

Oil Sands Mining and Upgrading

In 2010 Horizon Phase 2/3 Tranche expenditures are targeted to increase
reliability of the plant while also affording some

debottlenecking opportunities

Engineering and procurement is under way for Tranche of the Phase 2/3 expansion and Tranches and of Phase 2/3 continue to

be re-profiled The Company continues to work on completing its lessons learned from the construction of Phase and implementing
these into the development of future expansions

North Sea

During 2010 the Company will recommence platform drilling activities in the Northern North Sea with program of infill wells and

workovers

Offshore West Africa

During 2010 the Company will complete .the project to increase capacity on the Espoir FPSO At Olowi the Company will complete

commissioning of the remaining platforms and continue the drilling program from these locations

SENSITIVITY ANALYSIS

The following table is indicative of the annualized sensitivities of cash flow from operations and net earnings from changes in certain key
variables The analysis is based on business conditions and sales volumes during the fourth quarter of 2009 excluding mark-to-market

gains losses on risk management activities and capitalized interest and is not necessarily indicative of future results Each separate line

item in the sensitivity analysis shows the effect of change in that variable only with all other variables being held constant

Cash flow

Cash flow from Net

from operations Net earnings

operations per common earnings per common
millions share basic millions share basic

Price changes

Crude oil WTI US$1 .00/bbl

Excluding financial_derivatives 109 0.20 90 0.17

lncludjp financial_derivatives ____ _____ _____ 91$ 0.17 76

NaturaIgAECOC$0.i0/mcf1 ____ ____ ____ _______ ________
Exclujjinancial_derivatives _______ ______ 33 0.06

______
24 004

Including financial_derivatives ______ 18 0.03 14 0.03

Volume changes

Crude oil 10000 bbl/d
_____

161 0.30 105 0.19

Natugi0 mmcf/d ______ ________ _____ 12 0.02 0.01

Foreign currency rate change

$0.01 change in US$

Including financial derivatives
______

95 97 0.17 0.18 31 32 0.06

Interestratechange1% 13 0.02 13 0.02

For details of financial instruments in place refer to note 13 to the companys audited annual consolidated financial statements as at December31 2009
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DAILY PRODUCTION BY SEGMENT BEFORE ROYALTIES

QI Q2 Q3 Q4 2009 2008 2007

Crude oil and NGLs bbl/d

North America Conventional 253833 232139 223307 229206 234523 243826 246779

North America

59599 66907 70194

North Sea 42369 40362 34034 34408 37761 45274 55933

Offshore West Africa 3O431 33572 35021 32643 32929 26567 28520

Total 330017 365672 359269 366451 355463 315667 331232alasmcf/dL_-
North America 1347 1322 1264 1218 iii
North Sea 10 10 12

Offshore West Africa 12 20 21 20 18 13 12

Total 1369 1352 1293 1250 1315 1495 1668

Barrels of oil equivalent boe/d

North America Conventional 478301 452494 433928 432167 449 054 489081 520564

North America

Sands Mininu and Upciradinq 3384 59599 66907 70194 50250

North Sea 44 039 42045 35380 36440 39444 46956 58099

30543
Offshore West Africa

Total 558142 590984 574755 574857 574730 564845 609206

PER UNIT RESULTS CONVENTIONAL1

Qi Q2 Q3 Q4 2009 2008 2007

Crude oil and NGLs $/bblpce2S4l.2S 59.56 62.90 68.00 57.68 8241 55.45

3.98 7277.89 7.963 10.48 5.94

Production expense
15.02 16.5916.71 15.45 15.92 16.26 13.34

Netback 22.25 35.70 38.30 44.59 35.03 55.67 36.17

Natural gas $Imcf

5.46 4.11 3.80 4.75 4.53 8.39 6.85

1.11

Royalties
0.72 0.06 ii 46

Production expense
1.18 1.05105 1.03 1.02 0.91

Netback 3.56 3.00 2.62 3.37 3.13 5.91 4.83

Barrels of oil equivalent $Iboe

Sales price
37.87 44.52 45.52 51.95 44.87 68.62 49.05

4.14 4.34 4.85 5.60 6.26

Production expense
11.77 12.21 12.26 11.72 11.98 11 79 9.75

Netback 21.96 7.97 28.41 34.63$28.17 47.05 33.04

Amounts expressed on per unit basis are based on sales volumes

Net of transportation and blending costs and excluding risk management activities

Natural gas royalties
for 2009 reflect the impact of natural gas physical

sales contracts
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TRADING AND SHARE STATISTICS

Qi Q2 Q3 Q4 2009 2008

TSX-C$

Trading volume thousands 520160
Share Price $/share

79.00 79.001$ 111.30

Low 35.85 47.70 52.71 65.97 35.85 3419
lose

Market capitalization as

at December 31 millions 41217 26373
Shares outstanding thousands 542327 540991

NYSE-US$

jJnvolumjousands 757307 967228
Share Price $Ishare

High 4854 63.46 71.93 76.51 76.51 109.32

Low 27.69 37.73 45.03 62.05 27.69 26.43

Close 38.56 52.49 67.19 71.95 71.95 39.98

Market capitalization as

at December 31$ millions 39020 21629
Shares outstanding thousands 542327 540991
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MANAGEMENTS REPORT

The accompanying consolidated financial statements and all other information contained elsewhere in this Annual Report are the

responsibility of management The consolidated financial statements have been prepared by management in accordance with the

accounting policies described in the accompanying notes Where necessary management has made informed judgements and estimates

in accounting for transactions that were not complete at the balance sheet date In the opinion of management the financial statements

have been prepared in accordance with Canadian generally accepted accounting principles appropriate in the circumstances The

financial information presented elsewhere in the Annual Report has been reviewed to ensure consistency with that in the consolidated

financial statements

Management maintains appropriate systems of internal control Policies and procedures are designed to give reasonable assurance that

transactions are appropriately authorized and recorded assets are safeguarded from loss or unauthorized use and financial records are

properly maintained to provide reliable information for preparation of financial statements

PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP an independent firm of Chartered Accountants has been engaged as approved by vote of the

shareholders at the Companys most recent Annual General Meeting to audit and provide their independent audit opinions on the

following

the Companys consolidated financial statements as at December 31 2009 and

the effectiveness of the Companys internal control over financial reporting as at December 31 2009

Their report is presented with the consolidated financial statements

The Board of Directors the Board is responsible for ensuring that management fulfills its responsibilities for financial reporting and

internal controls The Board exercises this responsibility through the Audit Committee of the Board which is comprised entirely of

independent directors The Audit Committee meets with management and the independent auditors to satisfy itself that management

responsibilities are properly discharged and to review the consolidated financial statements before they are presented to the Board for

approval The consolidated financial statements have been approved by the Board on the recommendation of the Audit Committee

Steve Laut Douglas Proll CA Randall Davis CA

PRESIDENT CHIEF FINANCIAL OFFICER VICE-PRESIDENT FINANCE

SENIOR VICE-PRESIDENT FINANCE ACCOUNTING

Calgary Alberta Canada

March 2010
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MANAGEMENTS ASSESSMENT OF INTERNAL CONTROL
OVER FINANCIAL REPORTING

Management is responsible for establishing and maintaining adequate internal control over financial reporting for the Company as

defined in Rules 3a1 5f and 15di 5f under the United States Securities Exchange Act of 1934 as amended

Management including the Companys President and the Companys Chief Financial Officer and Senior Vice-President Finance

performed an assessment of the Companys internal control over financial reporting based on the criteria established in Internal Control

Integrated Framework issued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission COSO

Based on the assessment management has concluded that the Companys internal control over financial reporting is effective as at

December 31 2009 Management recognizes that all internal control systems have inherent limitations Because of its inherent

limitations internal control over financial reporting may not prevent or detect misstatements Also projections of any evaluation of

effectiveness to future periods are subject to the risk that controls may become inadequate because of changes in conditions or that

the degree of compliance with the policies or procedures may deteriorate

PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP an independent firm of Chartered Accountants has provided an opinion on the Companys internal

control over financial reporting as at December 31 2009 as stated in their Auditors Report

Steve Laut Douglas Proll CA
PRESIDENT CHIEF FINANCIAL OFFICER

SENIOR VICE-PRESIDENT FINANCE

Calgary Alberta Canada

March 2010
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INDEPENDENT AUDITORS REPORT

To the Shareholders of Canadian Natural Resources Limited

We have completed integrated audits of Canadian Natural Resources Limiteds 2009 2008 and 2007 consolidated financial statements

and of its internal control over financial reporting as at December 31 2009 Our opinions based on our audits are presented below

Consolidated Financial Statements

We have audited the accompanying consolidated balance sheets of Canadian Natural Resources Limited the Company as at December 31

2009 and December 31 2008 and the related consolidated statements of earnings shareholders equity comprehensive income and

cash flows for each of the years in the three
year period ended December 31 2009 These financial statements are the responsibility of

the Companys management Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these financial statements based on our audits

We conducted our audits of the Companys financial statements as at December 31 2009 and for each of the years in the three year

period then ended in accordance with Canadian generally accepted auditing standards and the standards of the Public Company

Accounting Oversight Board United States Those standards require that we plan and perform an audit to obtain reasonable assurance

about whether the financial statements are free of material misstatement An audit of financial statements includes examining on

test basis evidence supporting the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements financial statement audit also includes

assessing the accounting principles used and significant estimates made by management and evaluating the overall financial statement

presentation We believe that our audits provide reasonable basis for our opinion

In our opinion the consolidated financial statements referred to above present fairly in all material respects the financial position of

the Company as at December31 2009 and December 31 2008 and the results of its operations and its cash flows for each of the years

in the three year period ended December 31 2009 in accordance with Canadian generally accepted accounting principles

Internal Control Over Financial Reporting

We have also audited Canadian Natural Resources Limiteds internal control over financial reporting as at December 31 2009 based

on criteria established in Internal Control Integrated Framework issued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway

Commission COSO The Companys management is responsible for maintaining effective internal control over financial reporting and

for its assessment of the effectiveness of internal control over financial reporting included in the accompanying Managements Report

Our responsibility is to express an opinion on the Companys internal control over financial reporting based on our audit

We conducted our audit of internal control over financial reporting in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting

Oversight Board United States Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about

whether effective internal control over financial reporting was maintained in all material respects An audit of internal control over

financial reporting includes obtaining an understanding of internal control over financial reporting assessing the risk that material

weakness exists testing and evaluating the design and operating effectiveness of internal control based on the assessed risk and

performing such other procedures as we consider necessary in the circumstances We believe that our audit provides reasonable basis

for our opinion

companys internal control over financial reporting is process designed to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of

financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external purposes
in accordance with generally accepted accounting

principles companys internal control over financial reporting includes those policies and procedures that pertain to the maintenance

of records that in reasonable detail accurately and
fairly

reflect the transactions and dispositions of the assets of the company ii provide

reasonable assurance that transactions are recorded as necessary to permit preparation of financial statements in accordance with generally

accepted accounting principles and that receipts and expenditures of the company are being made only in accordance with authorizations

of management and directors of the company and iii provide reasonable assurance regarding prevention or timely detection of

unauthorized acquisition use or disposition of the companys assets that could have material effect on the financial statements

Because of its inherent limitations internal control over financial reporting may not prevent or detect misstatements Also projections

of any evaluation of effectiveness to future periods are subject to the risk that controls may become inadequate because of changes in

conditions or that the degree of compliance with the policies or procedures may deteriorate

In our opinion the Company maintained in all material respects effective internal control over financial reporting as at December 31 2009

based on criteria established in Internal Control Integrated Framework issued by the COSO

Chartered Accountants

March 2010
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CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS

As at December31

millions of Canadian dollars 2009 2008

ASSETS

Current assets

13$ 27

Accounts receivable 1148 1059

Inventory prepaids and other 584

Future income tax note 146

Current portion of other long-term assets note 1851

1891 3392
39115 38966

Other long-term assets note 18 292

41024 42650

LIABILITIES

Current liabilities

Accounts paiable 240 383

Accrued liabilities 1522 1802

Future income tax note 585

Current portion of long-term debt note 420

Current portion of other long-term liabilities note 643 230

2405 3420
9658 12596

1848 1124
Future income tax note 7687 7136

21598 24276

SHAREHOLDERS EQUITY

2834 2768
Retained earnings 16696 15344

Accumulated other comprehensive loss income note 10 104 262

19426 18374

41024 42650

Commitments and contingencies note 14

Approved by the Board of Directors

4Lej
Catherine Best

CHAIR OF THE AUDIT COMMI1TEE
AND DIRECTOR

Murray Edwards

VICE-CHAIRMAN OF THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS

AND DIRECTOR
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF EARNINGS

For the years ended December 31

millions of Canadian dollars except per common share amounts 2009 2008 2007

Revenue 11078 16173 12543

Less royalties 2017 1391

Revenue net of royalties 10142 14156 11152

Production 2987 2451 2184

1218 1936 1570

Depletion depreciation and amortization 2819 2683 2863

Asset retirement obligation accretion note 90 71 70

Administration 181 180 208

Stock-based compensation 355 52 193

Interest net 410 128 276

Risk management activities note 13 1230 1562

Foreign exchange gain loss 631 718 471

8167 6885 8455

Earnings before taxes 1975 7271 2697

Taxes other than income tax note 106 178 165

Current income tax expense note 388 501 380

Future income tax recovery expense note 1607 456

Net earnings 1580 4985 2608

Basic and diluted 2.92 9.22 4.84
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF
SHAREHOLDERS EQUITY

For the
years

ended December 31

millions of canadian dollars 2009 2008 2007

Share capital note

Balance beginning of year 2768 2674 2562
Issued upon exercise of stock options 24 18 21

Previously recognized liability on stock options exercised for common shares 42 76 91

Balance end of year 2834 2768 2674

Retained earnings

Balancebeginning of year aipllreported 15344

Transition adjustment on adoption of financial instruments standards 10

Balance beginning of year as restated 15344 10575 8151

Net earnings 1580 4985 2608
Dividends on common shares note 228 216 184
Balance end of year 16696 5344 10575

Accumulated other comprehensive loss income note 10

Balance beginning of year as originally reported 262 72 13
Transition adjustment on adoption of financial instruments standards 159

Balance beginning of year as restated 262 72 146

Other comprehensive loss income net of taxes 366 190 74
Balance end of year 104 262 72

Shareholders equity 19426 18374 13321

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF
COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

For the years ended December 31

millions of Canadian dollars 2009 2008 2007

Net earnings 1580 4985 2608
Net change in derivative financial instruments

designated as cash flow hedges

Unrealized loss income during the year net of taxes of

$5 million 2008 $1 million 2007 $6 million 33 30 38

Reclassification to net earnings

net of taxes of $1 million 2008 $6 million 2007 $45 million 10 12 96
43 18 58

Foreign currency translation adjustment

Translation of net investment 323 172 16
Other comprehensive loss income net of taxes 366 190 74
Comprehensive income 1214 5175 2534
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS

For the years ended December 31

millions of Canadian dollars 2009 2008 2007ictiviti_
1580 4985 2608

Non-cash items

Depletion depreciation and amortization 28192683 2863

Asset retirement obligation accretion 90 71 70

Stock-based compensation expense recç_ 355 52 193

Unrealized 1991 3090 1400

Unrealized foreign exchang_ejglos 661 832 524

Deferred petroleum revenue tax expense recovy 15 67 44

99 1607 456

Other 25 38

48 38 71
Net change in non-cash working capital note 15 235 189 346

5812 6767 5819activiti
2021 623 1925

Issue of medium-term notes 273

pyt of senior unsecured notes 34 31 33
Issue of US dollar debt securities 1215 2553

Issue of common shares on exercise of
stocIot.iorisions

24 18 21

Dividends on common shares 225 208 178

Net change in non-cash working capital note 15 12 46

2268 417 719

Investing activities

2985 7433 6464

Net proceeds on sale of property plant and equipment 36 20 10

2949 7413 6354

Net change in non-cash working capital note 15 609 235 186

3558 7178 6540

Decrease increase in cash and cash equivalents 14
Cash and cash equivalents beginning of year

27 21 23

Cash and cash equivalents end of year
13 27 21

Supplemental disclosure of cash flow information note 15
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLiDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

tabular amounts in millions of Canadian dollars unless othmwise stated

ACCOUNTING POLICIES

Canadian Natural Resources Limited the Company is senior independent crude oil and natural gas exploration development and

production company head-quartered in Calgary Alberta Canada The Companys conventional crude oil and natural gas operations are

focused in North America largely in Western Canada the United Kingdom UK portion of the North Sea and Côte dlvoire and

Gabon in Offshore West Africa

Horizon oil sands properties Horizon produce synthetic crude oil through bitumen mining and upgrading operations During 2009

Horizon Phase assets were completed and available for their intended use All Horizon related financial results are included in the Oil

Sands Mining and Upgrading segment

Also within Western Canada the Company maintains certain midstream activities that include pipeline operations and an electricity

co-generation system

The consolidated financial statements of the Company have been prepared in accordance with accounting principles generally accepted

in Canada Canadian GAAP summary of differences between accounting principles in Canada and those generally accepted in

the United States US GAAP is contained in note 17

Significant accounting policies are summarized as follows

PRINCIPLES OF CONSOLIDATION

The consolidated financial statements include the accounts of the Company and all of its subsidiary companies and partnerships

significant portion of the Companys activities are conducted jointly with others and the consolidated financial statements reflect only

the Companys proportionate interest in such activities

MEASUREMENT UNCERTAINTY

Management has made estimates and assumptions regarding certain assets liabilities revenues and expenses in the preparation of the

consolidated financial statements Such estimates primarily relate to unsettled transactions and events as of the date of the consolidated

financial statements Accordingly actual results may differ from estimated amounts

Purchase price allocations depletion depreciation and amortization and amounts used in impairment calculations are based on

estimates of crude oil and natural gas reserves The estimation of reserves involves the exercise of judgement Forecasts are based on

engineering data estimated future prices expected future rates of production and the timing of future capital expenditures all of

which are subject to many uncertainties and interpretations The Company expects that over time its reserve estimates will be revised

upward or downward based on updated information such as the results of future drilling testing and production levels and may be

affected by changes in commodity prices As result the impact of differences between actual and estimated oil and gas reserves

amounts on the consolidated financial statements of future periods may be material

The calculation of asset retirement obligations includes estimates of the future costs to settle the asset retirement obligation the timing

of the cash flows to settle the obligation and the future inflation rates The impact of differences between actual and estimated costs

timing and inflation on the consolidated financial statements of future periods may be material

The calculation of income taxes requires judgement in applying tax laws and regulations estimating the timing of temporary difference

reversals and estimating the realizability of future tax assets These estimates impact current and future income tax assets and liabilities

and current and future income tax expense recovery

The measurement of petroleum revenue tax expense in the United Kingdom and the related provision in the consolidated financial

statements are subject to uncertainty associated with future recoverability of crude oil and natural gas reserves commodity prices and

the timing of future events which may result in material changes to deferred amounts

The estimation of fair value for derivative financial instruments requires the use of assumptions In determining these assumptions the

Company has relied primarily on external readily observable market inputs including quoted commodity prices and volatility interest

rate yield curves and foreign exchange rates The resulting fair value estimates may not necessarily be indicative of the amounts that

could be realized or settled in current market transaction and these differences may be material

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS

Cash comprises cash on hand and demand deposits Other investments term deposits and certificates of deposit with an original term

to maturity at purchase of three months or less are reported as cash equivalents on the balance sheet
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INVENTORIES

Inventories are carried at the lower of cost and net realizable value Cost consists of purchase costs direct production costs direct

overhead and depletion depreciation and amortization and is determined on first-in first-out basis Inventories are primarily comprised

of crude oil production held for sale

PROPERTY PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Conventional Crude Oil and Natural Gas

The Company follows the full cost method of accounting for its conventional crude oil and natural gas properties and equipment as

prescribed by Accounting Guideline 16 AcG 16 issued by the Canadian Institute of Chartered Accountants CICA Accordingly

all costs relating to the exploration for and development of conventional crude oil and natural gas reserves are capitalized and

accumulated in country by country cost centres Directly attributable administrative overhead incurred during the development of

certain large capital projects is capitalized until the projects are available for their intended use Proceeds on disposal of properties are

ordinarily deducted from such costs without recognition of gain or loss except where such dispositions result in change in the

depletion rate of the specific cost centre of 20% or more

Oil Sands Mining and Upgrading

Horizon is comprised of both mining and upgrading operations and accordingly capitalized costs are accounted for separately from the

Companys Canadian conventional crude oil and natural gas costs Capitalized mining activity costs include property acquisition

construction and development costs Construction and development costs are capitalized separately to each Phase of Horizon The

construction and development of particular Phase of Horizon is considered complete once the Phase is available for its intended use

Costs related to major maintenance turnaround activities are capitalized and amortized on straight line basis over the period to the

next scheduled major maintenance turnaround During 2009 Horizon Phase assets were completed and available for their intended

use Accordingly capitalization of all associated Phase development costs including capitalized interest and stock based compensation

and all directly attributable Phase administrative costs ceased and depletion depreciation and amortization of these assets commenced

Midstream and Other

The Company capitalizes all costs that expand the capacity or extend the useful life of the assets

OVERBURDEN REMOVAL COSTS

Overburden removal costs incurred during development of the Horizon mine are capitalized to property plant and equipment

Overburden removal costs incurred during production of the Horizon mine are included in the cost of inventory unless the overburden

removal activity has resulted in betterment of the mineral property in which case the costs are capitalized to property plant and

equipment Capitalized overburden removal costs are amortized over the life of the mining reserves that directly benefit from the

overburden removal activity

CAPITALIZED INTEREST

The Company capitalizes construction period interest based on major qualifying costs incurred and the Companys cost of borrowing

Interest capitalization on particular project ceases once this project is available for its intended use

LEASES

Leases that transfer substantially all of the benefits and risks of ownership to the Company are accounted for as capital leases and are

recorded as property plant and equipment with an offsetting liability All other leases are accounted for as operating leases whereby

lease costs are expensed as incurred Contractual arrangements that meet the definition of lease are accounted for as capital leases

or operating leases as appropriate

DEPLETION DEPRECIATION AMORTIZATION AND IMPAIRMENT

Conventional Crude Oil and Natural Gas

Substantially all costs related to each country by country cost centre are depleted on the unit of production method based on the

estimated proved reserves of that country Volumes of net production and net reserves before royalties are converted to equivalent units

on the basis of estimated relative energy content In determining its depletion base the Company includes estimated future costs to be

incurred in developing proved reserves and excludes the cost of unproved properties and major development projects Costs for major

development projects as identified by management are not subject to depletion until the projects are available for their intended use

Unproved properties and major development projects are assessed periodically to determine whether impairment has occurred When

proved reserves are assigned or the value of an unproved property or major development project is considered to be impaired the cost

of the property or the amount of the impairment is added to costs subject to depletion Processing and production facilities are

depreciated on straight line basis over their estimated lives

The Company reviews the carrying amount of its conventional crude oil and natural gas properties the properties relative to their

recoverable amount the ceiling test for each cost centre at each annual balance sheet date or more frequently if circumstances or

events indicate impairment may have occurred The recoverable amount is calculated as the undiscounted cash flow from the properties

using proved reserves and expected future prices and costs If the carrying amount of the properties exceeds their recoverable amount
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an impairment loss is recognized in depletion and depreciation expense equal to the amount by which the carrying amount of the

properties exceeds their fair value Fair value is calculated as the cash flow from those properties using proved and probable reserves

and expected future prices and costs discounted at risk-free interest rate

Oil Sands Mining and Upgrading

Mine-related costs and costs of the upgrader and related infrastructure located on the Horizon site are amortized on the

unit-of-production method based on the estimated proved reserves of Horizon or productive capacity respectively Moveable

mine-related equipment is depreciated on straight-line basis over its estimated useful life

The Company reviews the carrying amount of Horizon relative to its recoverable amount if circumstances or events indicate impairment

may have occurred The recoverable amount is calculated as the undiscounted cash flow from Horizon assets using proved and probable

reserves and expected future prices and costs If the carrying amount exceeds the recoverable amount an impairment loss is recognized

in depletion equal to the amount by which the carrying amount of the assets exceeds fair value Fair value is calculated as the discounted

cash flow from Horizon using proved and probable reserves and expected future prices and costs

Midstream and Other

Midstream assets are depreciated on straight-line basis over their estimated lives The Company reviews the recoverability of the

carrying amount of the midstream assets when events or circumstances indicate that the carrying amount might not be recoverable If

the carrying amount of the midstream assets exceeds their recoverable amount an impairment loss equal to the amount by which the

carrying amount of the midstream assets exceeds their fair value is recognized in depreciation Other capital assets are amortized on

declining balance basis

ASSET RETIREMENT OBLIGATIONS

The Company provides for future asset retirement obligations on its resource properties facilities production platforms gathering

systems and oil sands mining operations and tailings ponds based on current legislation and industry operating practices The fair

values of asset retirement obligations related to property plant and equipment are recognized as liability
in the period in which they

are incurred Retirement costs equal to the fair value of the asset retirement obligations are capitalized as part of the cost of the

associated property plant and equipment and are amortized to expense through depletion and depreciation over the lives of the

respective assets The fair value of an asset retirement obligation is estimated by discounting the expected future cash flows to settle

the asset retirement obligation at the Companys average credit-adjusted risk-free interest rate In subsequent periods the asset

retirement obligation is adjusted for the passage of time and for changes in the amount or timing of the underlying future cash flows

Actual expenditures are charged against the accumulated asset retirement obligation as incurred

The Companys Horizon upgrader and related infrastructure and its midstream pipelines have an indeterminate life and therefore the

fair values of the related asset retirement obligations cannot be reasonably determined The asset retirement obligations for these assets

will be recorded in the year
in which the lives of the assets are determinable

FOREIGN CURRENCY TRANSLATION

Foreign operations that are self-sustaining are translated using the current rate method Under this method assets and liabilities are

translated to Canadian dollars from their functional currency using the exchange rate in effect at the consolidated balance sheet date

Revenues and expenses are translated to Canadian dollars at the monthly average exchange rates Gains or losses on translation are

included in accumulated other comprehensive income loss in shareholders equity in the consolidated balance sheets

Foreign operations that are integrated are translated using the temporal method For foreign currency balances and integrated

subsidiaries monetary assets and liabilities are translated to Canadian dollars at the exchange rate in effect at the consolidated balance

sheet date Non-monetary assets and liabilities are translated at the exchange rate in effect when the assets were acquired or obligations

incurred Revenues and expenses are translated to Canadian dollars at the monthly average exchange rates Provisions for depletion

depreciation and amortization are translated at the same rate as the related assets Gains or losses on translation of integrated foreign

operations and foreign currency balances are included in the consolidated statements of earnings

REVENUE RECOGNITION AND COSTS OF GOODS SOLD

Revenue from the production of crude oil and natural gas is recognized when title passes to the customer delivery has taken place and

collection is reasonably assured The Company assesses customer creditworthiness both before entering into contracts and throughout

the revenue recognition process

Revenue as reported represents the Companys share and is presented before royalty payments to governments and other mineral

interest owners Revenue net of royalties represents the Companys share after royalty payments to governments and other mineral

interest owners

Related costs of goods sold are comprised of production transportation and blending and depletion depreciation and amortization

expenses
These amounts have been separately presented in the consolidated statements of earnings
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PRODUCTION SHARING CONTRACTS

Production generated from Offshore West Africa is currently shared under the terms of various Production Sharing Contracts PSCs
Revenues are divided into cost recovery oil and profit oil Cost recovery oil allows the Company to recover its capital and production

costs and the costs carried by the Company on behalf of the respective Government State Oil Companies the Governments Profit

oil is allocated to the joint venture partners in accordance with their respective equity interests after portion has been allocated to the

Governments The Governments share of profit oil attributable to the Companys equity interest is allocated to royalty expense and

current income tax expense in accordance with the terms of the PSCs

PETROLEUM REVENUE TAX

The Company accounts for the UK petroleum revenue tax PRT over the life of the field The total future liability or recovery of PRT

is estimated using proved and probable reserves and anticipated future sales prices and costs The estimated future PRT is then

apportioned to accounting periods on the basis of total estimated future operating income Changes in the estimated total future PRT

are accounted for prospectively

INCOME TAX

The Company follows the liability method of accounting for income taxes Under this method future income tax assets and liabilities

are recognized based on the estimated tax effects of temporary differences in the carrying value of assets and liabilities in the consolidated

financial statements and their respective tax bases using income tax rates substantively enacted or enacted as of the consolidated

balance sheet date The effect of change in income tax rates on the future income tax assets and liabilities is recognized in net

earnings in the period of the change

Taxable income arising from the conventional crude oil and natural gas business in Canada is primarily generated through partnerships

with the related income taxes payable in subsequent periods Accordingly North America current and future income taxes have been

provided on the basis of this corporate structure

STOCK-BASED COMPENSATION PLANS

The Company accounts for stock-based compensation using the intrinsic value method as the Companys Stock Option Plan

the Option Plan provides current employees with the right to elect to receive common shares or direct cash payment in exchange

for options surrendered liability for potential cash settlements under the Option Plan is accrued over the vesting period of the stock

options based on the difference between the exercise price of the stock options and the market price of the Companys common shares

after consideration of an estimated forfeiture rate This liability is revalued at each reporting date to reflect changes in the market price

of the Companys common shares and actual forfeitures with the net change recognized in net earnings or capitalized during the

construction period in the case of Horizon When stock options are surrendered for cash the cash settlement paid reduces the

outstanding liability When stock options are exercised for common shares under the Option Plan consideration paid by employees and

any previously recognized liability associated with the stock options are recorded as share capital

The Company has an employee stock savings plan and stock bonus plan Contributions to the employee stock savings plan are

recorded as compensation expense at the time of the contribution Contributions to the stock bonus plan are recognized as compensation

expense over the related vesting period

FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

The Company classifies its financial instruments into one of the following categories held-for-trading financial assets and financial

liabilities held-to-maturity investments loans and receivables available-for-sale financial assets and other financial liabilities All

financial instruments are required to be measured at fair value on initial recognition Measurement in subsequent periods is dependent

on the classification of the respective financial instrument

Held-for-trading financial instruments are subsequently measured at fair value with changes in fair value recognized in net earnings

Available-for-sale financial assets are subsequently measured at fair value with changes in fair value recognized in other comprehensive

income net of tax All other categories of financial instruments are measured at amortized cost using the effective interest method

Cash and cash equivalents are classified as held-for-trading and are measured at fair value Accounts receivable are classified as loans

and receivables Accounts payable accrued liabilities certain other long-term liabilities and long-term debt are classified as other

financial liabilities Although the Company does not intend to trade its derivative financial instruments risk management assets and

liabilities are classified as held-for-trading for accounting purposes

Financial assets and liabilities are categorized using three-level hierarchy that reflects the significance of the inputs used in making fair value

measurements for these assets and liabilities The fair values of financial assets and liabilities included in Level are determined by reference

to quoted prices in active markets for identical assets and liabilities Fair values of financial assets and liabilities in Level are based on inputs

other than Level quoted prices that are observable for the asset or liability
either directly as prices or indirectly derived from prices The fair

values of Level financial assets and liabilities are not based on observable market data The disclosure of the fair value hierarchy excludes

financial assets and liabilities where book value approximates fair value due to the liquid nature of the asset or liability

Transaction costs that are directly attributable to the acquisition or issue of financial asset or liability
and original issue discounts on

long-term debt have been included in the carrying value of the related financial asset or liability and are amortized to consolidated net

earnings over the life of the financial instrument using the effective interest method
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RISK MANAGEMENT ACTIVITIES

The Company uses derivative financial instruments to manage its commodity price foreign currency and interest rate exposures These

financial instruments are entered into solely for hedging purposes and are not used for speculative purposes All derivative financial

instruments are recognized on the consolidated balance sheet at estimated fair value at each balance sheet date The estimated fair

value of derivative financial instruments is determined based on appropriate internal valuation methodologies and/or third party

indications Fair values determined using valuation models require the use of assumptions concerning the amount and timing of future

cash flows and discount rates

The Company documents all derivative financial instruments that are formally designated as hedging transactions at the inception of

the hedging relationship in accordance with the Companys risk management policies The effectiveness of the hedging relationship is

evaluated both at inception of the hedge and on an ongoing basis

The Company periodically enters into commodity price contracts to manage anticipated sales of crude oil and natural gas production

in order to protect cash flow for capital expenditure programs The effective portion of changes in the fair value of derivative commodity

price contracts formally designated as cash flow hedges is initially recognized in other comprehensive income and is reclassified to risk

management activities in consolidated net earnings in the same period or periods in which the commodity is sold The ineffective

portion of changes in the fair value of these designated contracts is immediately recognized in risk management activities in consolidated

net earnings All changes in the fair value of non-designated crude oil and natural gas commodity price contracts are recognized in risk

management activities in consolidated net earnings

The Company enters into interest rate swap contracts to manage its fixed to floating interest rate mix on certain of its long-term debt

The interest rate swap contracts require the periodic exchange of payments without the exchange of the notional principal amounts on

which the payments are based Changes in the fair value of interest rate swap contracts designated as fair value hedges and corresponding

changes in the fair value of the hedged long-term debt are included in interest expense in consolidated net earnings Changes in the

fair value of non-designated interest rate swap contracts are included in risk management activities in consolidated net earnings

Cross currency swap contracts are periodically used to manage currency exposure on US dollar denominated long-term debt The cross

currency swap contracts require the periodic exchange of payments with the exchange at maturity of notional principal amounts on

which the payments are based Changes in the fair value of the foreign exchange component of cross currency swap contracts

designated as cash flow hedges are included in foreign exchange in consolidated net earnings The effective portion of changes in the

fair value of the interest rate component of cross currency swap contracts designated as cash flow hedges is initially
included in other

comprehensive income and is reclassified to interest expense when realized with the ineffective portion recognized in risk management

activities in consolidated net earnings Changes in the fair value of non-designated cross currency swap contracts are included in risk

management activities in consolidated net earnings

Realized gains or losses on the termination of financial instruments that have been designated as cash flow hedges are deferred under

accumulated other comprehensive income on the consolidated balance sheets and amortized into consolidated net earnings in the

period in which the underlying hedged item is recognized In the event designated hedged item is sold extinguished or matures prior

to the termination of the related derivative instrument any
unrealized derivative gain or loss is recognized immediately in consolidated

net earnings Realized gains or losses on the termination of financial instruments that have not been designated as hedges are recognized

in consolidated net earnings immediately

Upon termination of an interest rate swap designated as fair value hedge the interest rate swap is de-recognized on the balance sheet

and the related long-term debt hedged is no longer revalued for changes in fair value The fair value adjustment on the long-term debt

at the date of termination of the interest rate swap is amortized to interest expense over the remaining term of the debt

Foreign currency forward contracts are periodically used to manage foreign currency cash management requirements.The foreign

currency forward contracts involve the purchase or sale of an agreed upon amount of US dollars at specified future date at forward

exchange rates Changes in the fair value of foreign currency forward contracts designated as cash flow hedges are initially recorded in

other comprehensive income and are reclassified to foreign exchange loss gain when realized Changes in the fair value of foreign

currency forward contracts not included as hedges are included in risk management activities in consolidated net earnings

Embedded derivatives are derivatives that are included in non-derivative host contract Embedded derivatives are recorded at fair value

separately from the host contract when their economic characteristics and risks are not clearly and closely related to the host contract

COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

Comprehensive income is comprised of the Companys net earnings and other comprehensive income Other comprehensive income

includes the effective portion of changes in the fair value of derivative financial instruments designated as cash flow hedges and foreign

currency translation gains and losses on the net investment in self-sustaining foreign operations Other comprehensive income is shown

net of related income taxes

PER COMMON SHARE AMOUNTS

The Company uses the treasury stock method to determine the dilutive effect of stock options and other dilutive instruments This

method assumes that proceeds received from the exercise of in-the-money stock options not accounted for as liability are used to

purchase common shares at the average market price during the year The Companys Option Plan described in note results in

liability and expense for all outstanding stock options As such the potential common shares associated with the stock options are not
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included in the calculation of diluted earnings per share The dilutive effect of other convertible securities is calculated by applying the

if-converted method which assumes that the securities are converted at the beginning of the period and that income items are

adjusted to net earnings

RECENTLY ISSUED ACCOUNTING STANDARDS UNDER CANADIAN GAAP

The following standards will be effective for the Companys year beginning on January 2011

Business Combinations Consolidated Financial Statements and Non-Controlling Interests

Section 1582 Business Combinations 1601 Consolidated Financial Statements and 1602 Non-Controlling Interests

replace Section 1581 Business Combinations and 1600 Consolidated Financial Statements The new standards are the

Canadian equivalent of IFRS Business Combinations and lAS 27 Consolidated and Separate Financial Statements Section

582 is effective for business combinations for acquisition dates on or after January 2011 Earlier adoption is permitted provided

all three new standards are adopted simultaneously Section 1582 requires equity instruments issued as part of the purchase

consideration to be measured at fair value at the acquisition date rather than the date when the acquisition was agreed to and

announced In addition most acquisition costs are expensed as incurred instead of being included in the purchase consideration

The new standard also requires non-controlling interests to be measured at fair value instead of carrying amounts Section 1602

provides guidance on the treatment of non-controlling interests after acquisition Section 1601 carries forward existing guidance on

the preparation of consolidated financial statements other than non-controlling interests There is no impact on the Companys
results of operations or financial position at this time

INTERNATIONAL FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS

In February 2008 the CICAs Accounting Standards Board confirmed that Canadian publicly accountable entities will be required to

adopt International Financial Reporting Standards IFRS as promulgated by the International Accounting Standards Board in place of

Canadian GAAP effective January 2011 The Company has assessed which accounting policies will be affected by the change to IFRS

and continues to assess the potential impact of these changes on its financial position and results of operations

COMPARATIVE FIGURES

Certain prior year figures have been reclassified to conform to the presentation adopted in 2009

CHANGES IN ACCOUNTING POLICIES

During 2009 the Company adopted the following new accounting standards issued by the CICA

Goodwill and Intangible Assets

Effective January 2009 Section 3064 Goodwill and Intangible Assets replaced Section 3062 Goodwill and Other Intangible

Assets and Section 3450 Research and Development Costs In addition EIC-27 Revenue and Expenditures during the

Pre-Operating Period was withdrawn The new standard addresses when an internally generated intangible asset meets the

definition of an asset The adoption of this standard which was adopted retroactively did not have an impact on the Companys
results of operations or financial position

Credit Risk and the Fair Value of Financial Assets and Liabilities

On January 20 2009 the Emerging Issues Committee EIC issued new abstract EIC173 Credit Risk and the Fair Value of

Financial Assets and Financial Liabilities This abstract concludes that an entitys own credit risk and the credit risk of the counterparty

should be taken into account when determining the fair value of financial assets and financial liabilities including derivative financial

instruments This abstract appFies to all financial assets and liabilities measured at fair value in interim and annual financial statements

for periods ending on or after January 20 2009 The adoption of this abstract did not have material impact on the Companys
results of operations or financial position

The Company also adopted the following amendments to accounting standards issued by the CICA

Financial Instruments

Effective July 2009 Section 3855 Financial Instruments Recognition and Measurement was amended to add guidance on

the assessment of embedded derivatives upon reclassification of financial asset from the held-for-trading category This amendment

did not have any impact on the Companys results of operations or financial position

Financial Instruments Disclosures

Effective October 2009 Section 3862 Financial Instruments Disclosures was amended to include additional disclosure

requirements for fair value measurements of financial instruments and to enhance liquidity risk disclosure requirements The

amendment requires the classification and disclosure of fair value measurements using three-level hierarchy that reflects the

significance of the inputs used in making the fair value measurements This amendment affected disclosure only and did not impact
the Companys accounting for financial instruments note 13
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OTHER LONG-TERM ASSETS

2009 2008

2119

Other 18 24

18 2143

Less current portion 1851

18 292

PROPERTY PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

2009 2008

Accumulated Accumulated

and and

depletion depletion

Cost depreciation Net Cost depreciation Net

ntional crude oil and naturalas_
North America 38259 16425 21834 36532 14381 22151

North Sea 3879 2067 1812 4167 2119 2048

Offshore West Africa 2861 978 1883 2671 777 1894

Other 42 14 28 40 14 26

Oil Sands Miaprdirg 13481 186 13295 12573 12573

Midstream 284 81 203 278 72 206

Head office 200 140 60 190 122 68

59006 19891 39115 56451 17485 38966

During the year ended December 31 2009 the Company capitalized directly attributable administrative costs of $41 million

2008 $55 million 2007 $47 million in the North Sea and Offshore West Africa related to exploration and development and

$79 million 2008 $404 million 2007 $312 million in North America related to Oil Sands Mining and Upgrading

During the year ended December 31 2009 the Company capitalized $106 million 2008 $481 million 2007 $356 million in

construction period interest costs related to Oil Sands Mining and Upgrading

Included in property plant and equipment are unproved land and major development projects that are not currently subject to depletion

or depreciation

Crude oil and NGLs

2009 2008

North America

VVTI at Cushing US$/bbl 79.17 84.46 86.89 90.20 92.01 2%

Western Canada Select C$Ibbl 74.14 78.29 76.86 78.87 79.49 2%

Edmonton Par C$/bbl 84.25 89.99 92.61 96.19 98.13 2%

North Sea and Offshore West Africa

North Sea Brent US$/bbl 77.92 83.19 85.59 88.88 90.65 2%

Natural gas

North America

Henry Hub Louisiana US$/mmbtu 5.70 6.48 6.70 7.43 8.12 2%

AECO C$/mmbtu 5.36 6.21 6.44 7.23 7.98 2%

Huntingdon/Sumas C$/mmbtu 5.61 6.46 6.69 7.48 8.23 2%

Offshore West Africa property plant and equipment has been reduced by $115 million to reflect the impact of ceiling test impairment

charge as at December 31 2009 The impairment charge has been included in depletion depreciation and amortization expenses

ntional crude oil and atu ral as

North America 2102 2271

NorthSea 12

Offshore West Africa 666 595

Other 28 26

Oil Sands Mining and Upgrading
752 12573

15477

The Company has used the following estimated benchmark future prices escalated pricing in its full cost ceiling tests for conventional

crude oil and natural gas activities prepared in accordance with Canadian GAAP as at December 31 2009

Average

annual

increase

2013 2014 thereafter2010 2011 2012
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LONG-TERM DEBT

Canadian dollar denominated debt

Bank credit facilities

Bankers acceptances 1897 4073

Medium-term_notes 4ÔO 4005.50% unsecured debentures due December 17 2010

4.50% unsecured debentures due January 23 2013 400 400

4.95% unsecured debentures due June 2015 400 400

3097 5273

US_dollar denominated_debt --
Senior unsecured notes

-____________

Adjustable rate due May 2720092009US $n 2008 US$31 mWion 38

US dollar debt securities

6.70%dueiulyls 2011 2009and2008US$400million 419 490

5.45% due October 2012 2009 and 2008 US$350 million 429

5.15% due February 2013 2009 and 2008 US$400 million 419 490

4.90% due December 2014 2009 and 2008 US$350 million 366 429

2009 and 2008US$250 million 262 306

2009 and 2008 US$1100 million 1151 1346

5.90% due February 20182009 and 2008US$400 million 419 490

7.20% due January 15 2032 2009 and 2008 US$400 million 419 490

6.45% due June 30 2033 2009 and 2008 US$350 million 366 429

5.85% due February 2035 2009 and 2008 US$350 million 366 429

6.50% due February 15 2037 2009 and 2008 US$450 million 471 551

6.25% due March 15 2038 2009 and 2008 US$1100 million 1151 1346

6.75% due February 2039 2009 and 2008 US$400 million 419 490

Less original issue discount on senior unsecured notes and US dollar dE securities 22 23
6572 7730

Fair value impact of interest rate swaps on US dollar debt securities 38 68

6610 7798

Long-term debt before transaction costs 9707 13071

Less transaction costs 49 55
9658 13016

Less current portion 420

9658 12596

Bank Credit Facilities

As at December 31 2009 the Company had in place unsecured bank credit facilities of $3955 million comprised of

$200 million demand credit facility

revolving syndicated credit facility of $2230 million maturing June 2012

revolving syndicated credit facility of $1500 million maturing June 2012 and

15 million demand credit facility related to the Companys North Sea operations

The revolving syndicated credit facilities are extendible annually for one year periods at the mutual agreement of the Company and the

lenders If the facilities are not extended the full amount of the outstanding principal would be repayable on the maturity date

Borrowings under these facilities can be made by way of Canadian dollar and US dollar bankers acceptances and LIBOR US base rate

and Canadian prime loans

2009 2008

The company has included unamortized original issue discounts and directly attributable transaction Costs in the
carrying value of the outstanding debt

The carrying value of Us$350 million of 5.45% notes due October 2012 and Us$350 million of 4.90% notes due December 2014 have been
adjusted by $38 million

2008 $68 million to reflect the fair value impact of hedge accounting

Transaction costs primarily represent underwriting commissions charged as percentage of the related debt offerings as well as legal rating agency and other professional fees

66 CANADIAN NATURAL



During 2009 the Company repaid the remaining $2350 million outstanding on the non-revolving syndicated credit
facility

related to

the acquisition of Anadarko Canada Corporation ACC and cancelled the facility In March 2007 $1500 million was repaid

During 2009 the Company renegotiated its demand credit facility increasing it to $200 million

The Companys weighted average interest rate on bank credit facilities outstanding as at December 31 2009 was 0.8% 20082.2%

In addition to the outstanding debt letters of credit and financial guarantees aggregating $358 million including $300 million related

to Horizon were outstanding at December 31 2009

Medium-term Notes

During 2009 the Company filed base shelf prospectus that allows for the issue of up to $3000 million of medium-term notes in

Canada until November 2011 If issued these securities will bear interest as determined at the date of issuance

Senior Unsecured Notes

During 2009 the remaining US$31 million of senior unsecured notes bearing interest at 6.54% was repaid

US Dollar Debt Securities

During 2009 the Company filed base shelf prospectus that allows for the issue of up to US$3000 million of debt securities in the

United States until November 2011 If issued these securities will bear interest as determined at the date of issuance

In January 2008 the Company issued US$1200 million of unsecured notes under previous US base shelf prospectus comprised of

US$400 million of 5.15% unsecured notes due February 2013 US$400 million of 5.90% unsecured notes due February 2018 and

US$400 million of 6.75% unsecured notes due February 2039 Proceeds from the securities issued were used to repay bankers

acceptances under the Companys bank credit facilities

During 2008 US$8 million of US dollar debt securities was repaid

During 2008 the Company terminated the interest rate swaps that had been designated as fair value hedge of US$350 million of

5.45% unsecured notes due October 2012 Accordingly the Company ceased revaluing the related debt for subsequent changes in fair

value from the date of termination of the interest rate swaps The fair value adjustment of $20 million at the date of termination is being
amortized to interest

expense over the remaining term of the debt with $14 million remaining at December 31 2009

Required Debt Repayments

Required debt repayments are as follows

Year
Repayment

2010 400
2011 419

2012 366

2013 819
2014 366
Thereafter 5424

No debt repayments are reflected in the above table for $1897 million of revolving bank credit facilities due to the extendable nature

of the facilities Should the bank credit facilities not be extended by mutual agreement of the Company and the lenders the amounts

outstanding under these facilities would be due in 2012

OTHER LONG-TERM LIABILITIES

2009 2008

Asset retirement obligations 1610 1064
Stock-based compensation 392 171

Risk management note 13 309
Other 180 119

2491 1354
Less current portion 643 230

1848 1124
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Asset Retirement Obligations

At December 31 2009 the Companys total estimated undiscounted costs to settle its asset retirement obligations were approximately

$6606 million 2008 $4474 million 2007 $4426 million Payments to settle these asset retirement obligations will occur on an

ongoing basis over period of approximately 60 years and have been discounted using weighted average credit-adjusted risk-free

interest rate of 6.9% 2008 6.7% 2007 6.6% reconciliation of the discounted asset retirement obligations is as follows

2009 2008 2007

Bajeifly_ 1064 1074 1166

Liabilities incurred 299 18 21

Liabilitieçgjred

Liabilities disposed

Liabilities settled 48 38 71

Asset retirement obligation accretion 90 71 70

Revision of estimates 276 56 35

Foreign exchange
71 92 82

Balance end of year
1610 1064 1074

During 2009 the company recognized additional asset retirement obligations
related to Horizon and Gabon Offshore West Africa

Stock-Based Compensation

The Company recognizes liability for potential cash settlements under its Option Plan The current portion represents the maximum

amount of the
liability payable within the next 12-month period if all vested options are surrendered for cash settlement

2009 2008 2007

BalacInofye_______ 171 529

355 52 193

94 207 375

Transferred to common shares 42 76 91

Capitalized recovery to Oil Sands Mining and Upgrading 23 58

Balanceend of year
392 171 529

Less current portion
365 59 390

27 12 139

EMPLOYEE FUTURE BENEFITS

In connection with the acquisition of ACC the Company assumed obligations to provide defined contribution pension benefits to

certain ACC employees continuing their employment with the Company and defined benefit pension and other post-retirement

benefits to former ACC employees under registered and unregistered pension plans

The estimated future cost of providing defined benefit pension and other post-retirement
benefits to former ACC employees is actuarially

determined using managements best estimates of demographic and financial assumptions The discount rate of 5.5% 2008 7.0%

used to determine accrued benefit obligations is based on year-end market rate of interest for high-quality debt instruments with cash

flows that match the timing and amount of expected benefit payments Company contributions to the defined contribution plan are

expensed as incurred

The benefit obligation under the registered pension plan at December 31 2009 was $29 million 2008 $27 million As required by

government regulations the Company has set aside funds with an independent trustee to meet these benefit obligations As at

December 31 2009 these plan assets had fair value of $32 million 2008 $34 million The unregistered pension plan and other

post-retirement benefits are unfunded and have benefit obligation of $10 million at December 31 2009 2008 $9 million

TAXES

Taxes Other Than Income Tax

2009 2008 2007

Current PRT
210 97_

15 67 44

Provincial capital taxes and surcharges
21 35 24

106 178 165
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Income Tax

The provision for income tax is as follows

2009 2008 2007

Current income tax North America 28 33 96
Current income tax North Sea 278 340 210

Current income tax Offshore West Africa 82 128 74

inco tax rcove expe nse 99 607 456
Income tax expense recovery 289 108 76

The provision for income tax is different from the amount computed by applying the combined statutory Canadian Federal and

Provincial income tax rates to earnings before taxes The reasons for the difference are as follows

2009 2008 2007

Canadian statutory income tax rate 29.1% 29.8% 32.5%

Income tax provision at statutory rate 576 2166 877

Effect on income taxes of

Deductible UK petroleum revenue tax 43 72 71

COte dlvoire income tax rate changes 22
Non-taxable portion of foreign exchange gain loss 92 127 96
Stock options exercised in shares 27 63

Other 33 73 40

Income tax expense recovery 289 2108 76

The following table summarizes the temporary differences that give rise to the net future income tax asset and
liability

2009 2008

Future income tax liabilities

Property plant and equipment 6992 6303
Timing of partnership items 1127 1276
Unrealized foreign exchang 0-term debt 152 13

Unrealized risk management activities_ 651

Other 31

Future income tax assets

Asset retirement obligations 499 372
Loss carryforwards for income tax 84 62
Stock-based compensation 83 38
Unrealized risk management activities 69
Other

Deferred petroleum revenue tax 26 43
Net future income tax

liability 7541 7721
Less current portion of future income tax asset liability 146 585

Future income tax liability 7687 7136

During 2009 substantively enacted or enacted income tax rate changes resulted in reduction of future income tax liabilities of

$19 million in British Columbia

During 2008 substantively enacted or enacted income tax rate changes resulted in reduction of future income tax liabilities of

approximately $19 million in British Columbia and approximately $22 million in Côte dlvoire

During 2007 substantively enacted or enacted income tax rate and other legislative changes resulted in reduction of future income

tax liabilities of approximately $864 million in North America

As result of enacted income tax rate changes in 2007 the Canadian Federal corporate income tax rate is being reduced from 21% in

2007 to 15% in 2012

The Company is subject to income tax reassessments arising in the normal course The Company does not believe that any liabilities

ultimately arising from these reassessments will be material

CANADIAN NATURAL 69



SHARE CAPITAL

Authorized

200000 Class preferred shares with stated value of $10.00 each

Unlimited number of common shares without par value

Issued

2009 2008

Number Number

of shares of shares

Common shares thousands Amount thousands Amount

540991 2768 539729 2674

1336 24 1262 18

Previously recognized liability on stock options

exercised for common shares 42 76

Balance end of year
542327 2834 540991 2768

Dividend Policy

The Company has paid regular quarterly dividends in January April July and October of each year since 2001 The dividend policy

undergoes periodic review by the Board of Directors and is subject to change

On March 2010 the Board of Directors set the Companys regular quarterly dividend at $0.15 per common share 2009 $0105

per common share 2008 $0.10 per common share

Normal Course Issuer Bid

On March 2010 the Board of Directors approved resolution to file with the Toronto Stock Exchange notice of intention to purchase

by way of normal course issuer bid up to 2.5% of the Companys issued and outstanding common shares Subject to acceptance by the

Toronto Stock Exchange of the Notice of Intention the purchases would be made through the facilities of the Toronto Stock Exchange

and the New York Stock Exchange

Share split

On March 2010 the Companys Board of Directors approved resolution to subdivide the Companys common shares on two for

one basis subject to shareholder approval The proposal will be voted on at the Companys Annual and Special Meeting of Shareholders

to be held on May 2010

Stock Options

The Companys Option Plan provides for the granting of stock options to employees Stock options granted under the Option Plan have

terms ranging from five to six years to expiry and vest over five-year period The exercise price of each stock option granted is

determined at the closing market price of the common shares on the Toronto Stock Exchange on the day prior to the grant Each stock

option granted provides the holder the choice to purchase one common share of the Company at the stated exercise price or receive

cash payment equal to the difference between the stated exercise price and the market price of the Companys common shares on the

date of surrender of the option

The following table summarizes information relating to stock options outstanding at December 31 2009 and 2008

2009 2008

Weighted Weighted

Stock options average Stock options average

thousands exercise price thousands exercise price..
30962 51.94 30659 47.23

Granted 6736 67.91 7705 53.38

Surrendered for cash settlement 2833 27.31 3702 25.60

Exercised for common shares 1336 17.99 1262 14.61

Forfeited 1423 59.55 2438 56.56

Outstanding end of year 32106 58.54 30962 51.94

Exercisableend of year
10969 53.90 8809 44.58
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The range of exercise prices of stock options outstanding and exercisable at December 31 2009 was as follows

Stock options outstandina Stock options exercisable

Weighted Weighted Weighted

Stock options average average Stock options average

outstanding remaining exercise exercisable exercise

Range of exercise prices thousands term years price thousands price

$16.89$19.99 338 0.28 17.36 331 17.36

$20.00$29.99 1993 0.35 25.61 1342 25.35

$30.00 $39.99 755 0.63 33.28 528 33.29

$40.00$49.99 6523 4.06 46.38 1252 45.96

$50.00$59.99 4700 1.85 58.11 2609 58.04

$60.00$69.99 10601 3.84 65.58 2503 61.54

$70.00$79.99 6412 3.32 70.82 2363 70.72

$80.00 $89.99

$90.00 $92.50 784 4.53 92.50 41 92.50

32106 3.18 58.54 10969 53.90

10 ACCUMULATED OTHER COMPREHENSIVE LOSS INCOME

The components of accumulated other comprehensive income net of taxes were as follows

2009 2008

Derivative financial instruments designated as cash flow hedges 76 119

Foreign currency translation adjustment 180 143

104 262

During the next 12 months $1 million is expected to be reclassified to net earnings from accumulated other comprehensive income

During 2008 the Company determined that its operations in Offshore West Africa were operationally and financially independent and
the current rate method of translation was adopted for translation of the financial statements of its Offshore West African subsidiaries

This change was applied prospectively and increased assets by $32 million decreased liabilities by $4 million and increased accumulated

other comprehensive income by $36 million

11 CAPITAL DISCLOSURES

The Company does not have any externally imposed regulatory capital requirements for managing capital The Company has defined

its capital to mean its long-term debt and consolidated shareholders equity as determined each reporting date The Company is subject

to certain financial covenants in its long-term debt agreements and is in compliance with these covenants

The Companys objectives when managing its capital structure are to maintain financial flexibility and balance to enable the Company
to access capital markets to sustain its on-going operations and to support its growth strategies The Company primarily monitors

capital on the basis of an internally derived non-GAAP financial measure referred to as its debt to book capitalization ratio which is

the arithmetic ratio of current and long-term debt divided by the sum of the carrying value of shareholders equity plus current and

long-term debt The Company aims over time to maintain its debt to book capitalization ratio in the range of 35% to 45% However
the Company may exceed the high end of such target range if it is investing in capital projects undertaking acquisitions or in periods
of lower commodity prices The Company may be below the low end of the target range when cash flow from operating activities is

greater than current investment activities The ratio is currently below the target range at 33%

Readers are cautioned that the debt to book capitalization ratio is not defined by GAAP and this financial measure may not be

comparable to similar measures presented by other companies Further there can be no assurances that the Company will continue to

use this measure to monitor capital or will not alter the method of calculation of this measure at some point in the future

2009 2008

Long-term debt1 9658 13016
Total shareholders 19426 18374
Debt to book capitalization 33% 41

Includes the current portion
of

long-term debt
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12 NET EARNINGS PER COMMON SHARE

2009 2008 2007

Weighted average common shares outstanding

basic and diluted thousands of shares 541925 540647 539336

Net earnings basic and diluted 1580 4985 2608

Net earnings per common share basic and diluted 2.92 922 4.84

13 FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

The carrying values of the Companys financial instruments by category are as follows

2009

Loans and Held for Other financial

receivables at trading at liabilities at

Asset liability
amortized cost fair value amortized cost

13

Accounts receivable 1148

lon-termasset
ntsayable --40

Accrued liabilities

Other long-term liabilities 309 167

Long-term debt 9658
1148 296 11587

2008

Loans and Held for Other financial

receivables at trading at liabilities at

Asset liability
amortized cost fair value amortized cost

Cash and cash equivalents
27

Accounts receivable 1059

Othejtem assets 2119

Accounts payable
383

Accrued_liabilities
1802

Other long-term liabilities
105

Long-term debt1 13016

1059 2146 15306

Includes the current portion of iong-term debt

The carrying value of the Companys financial instruments approximates their fair value except for fixed-rate long-term debt as noted

below The fair values of the Companys financial assets and liabilities are outlined below

2009

Carrying value Fair value

Asset liability
11 Level Level

309

Fixed-rate long-term debt 12113 7761 8212
8070 8212 309

2008

Carrying value Fair value

Asset liability
Level Level

2119 2119

jongte.p liabilities

Fixed-rate long-term
1231 8943 7649

6824 7649 2119

Excludes financial assets and iiabilities where book vaiue approximates fair value due to the liquid nature of the asset or liability cash and cash equivalents accounts

receivable accounts payable and accrued liabilities

The carrying values of US$350 million of 5.45% notes due October 2012 and US$350 million of 4.90% notes due December 2014 have been adlusted by $38 million

2008 $68 million to reflect the fair value impact of hedge accounting

The fair value of fixed-rate long-term debt has been determined based on quoted market prices
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Risk Management

The changes in estimated fair values of derivative financial instruments included in the risk management asset liability were recognized
in the financial statements as follows

Asset liability

Balance $2119$1 474
Net cost of outstandin put tions 297

ana ement activities

rest expe nse 25 60nexchan
Other comprehensive income 78 18
Settlement of interest rate swaps 20

Add put premium financing obligations 2l
309r 2119

Less current portion 1851

127 268

Net gains losses from risk management activities for the years ended December 31 were as follows

2009 2008 2007

Net reali man ement ainloss 253 1860 162
Net unrealized risk management loss gain 1991 3090 1400

738 1230 1562

Financial Risk Factors

Market Risk

Subsequent to December31 2009 the Company entered into 400000 Gild of cs4.5o C$6.30 naturai gas AECO collars for the
period April to September 2010

The Companys outstanding commodity derivative financial instruments are expected to be settled monthly based on the applicable

index pricing for the respective contract month

There were no commodity derivative financial instruments designated as hedges at December 31 2009

2009 2008

Risk

management
mark-to-market

Risk

management

mark-to-market

The Company negotiated payment of put option premiums with various counterparties at the time of actuai settlement of the respective options These obligations were
reflected in the net risk management asset liability

Market risk is the risk that the fair value or future cash flows of financial instrument will fluctuate because of changes in market prices
The Companys market risk is comprised of commodity price risk interest rate risk and foreign currency exchange risk

Commodity Price Risk Management
The Company uses commodity derivative financial instruments to manage its exposure to commodity price risk associated with the sale

of its future crude oil and natural gas production At December 31 2009 the Company had the following net derivative financial

instruments outstanding to manage its commodity price exposures

Crude oil

Crude oil once collars

Remaining term Volume Weighted average price Index

Jan 2010 Mar2010 000 bbl/d US$60.00 US$10S.1 WTI
Jan 2010 Jun 2010 100000 bbl/d US$60.00 US$90.13 WTI
Jan 2010 Sep 2010 50000 bbl/d US$65.00 US$105.49 Wil
Jan 2010 Dec 2010 50000 bbl/d US$60.00 US$75.08 WTI
Jul 2010 Dec2010 50000 bbl/d US$65.00 US$108.94 Wfl

Remaining term Volume Weighted average price Index

Natural gas price collars Jan 2010 Dec 2010 220 000 GJ/d C$6 00 C$8 00 AECO
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Interest Rate Risk Management

The Company is exposed to interest rate price risk on its fixed rate long-term debt and to interest rate cash flow risk on its floating rate

long-term debt The Company enters into interest rate swap contracts to manage its fixed to floating interest rate mix on long-term debt

The interest rate swap contracts require the periodic exchange of payments without the exchange of the notional principal amounts on

which the payments are based At December 31 2009 the Company had the following interest rate swap contracts outstanding

Amount Fixed Floating

Remaining term millions rate rate

Interest rate

Jan 2010Dec2014_ US$350 4.90%_OR1L38%

foatintof010Feb201110680%3m0nthCD0Ro
Jan 2010Feb 2012 C$200 1.4475% month CDOR2

London Interbank Offered Rate

Canadian Dealer Offered Rate

All fixed to floating interest rate related derivative financial instruments designated as hedges at December 31 2009 were classified as

fair value hedges

Foreign Currency Exchange Rate Risk Management

The Company is exposed to foreign currency exchange rate risk in Canada primarily related to its US dollar denominated long-term debt

and working capital The Company is also exposed to foreign currency exchange rate risk on transactions conducted in other currencies

in its subsidiaries and in the carrying value of its self-sustaining foreign subsidiaries The Company periodically enters into cross currency

swap contracts and foreign currency forward contracts to manage known currency exposure on US dollar denominated long-term debt

and working capital The cross currency swap contracts require the periodic exchange of payments with the exchange at maturity of

notional principal amounts on which the payments are based At December 31 2009 the Company had the following cross currency

swap contracts outstanding

Exchange Interest Interest

rate US$IC$ rate US$ rate C$
Amount

millionsRemaining term

Cross curIçy
Swaps Jan 2010Aug2016 US$250 1.116 6.00% 5.40

Jan2OlOMay2Ql7 US$1100 1.170 5.70% 5.10%

Jan 2010 Mar 2038 US$550 1.170 6.25% 5.76%

All cross currency swap derivative financial instruments designated as hedges at December 31 2009 were classified as cash flow hedges

In addition to the cross currency swap contracts noted above at December 31 2009 the Company had US$1062 million of foreign

currency forward contracts outstanding with terms of approximately 30 days or less

Financial Instrument Sensitivities

The following table summarizes the annualized sensitivities of the Companys net earnings and other comprehensive income to changes

in the fair value of financial instruments outstanding as at December31 2009 resulting from changes in the specified variable with all

other variables held constant These sensitivities are prepared on different basis than those sensitivities disclosed in the Companys

other continuous disclosure documents are limited to the impact of changes in specified variable applied to financial instruments only

and do not represent the impact of change in the variable on the operating results of the Company taken as whole Further these

sensitivities are theoretical as changes in one variable may contribute to changes in another variable which may magnify or counteract

the sensitivities In addition changes in fair value generally can not be extrapolated because the relationship of change in an assumption

to the change in fair value may not be linear
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mpact on other

comprehensive

income

Commodity price risk

Increase VVTI US$1.00/bbl

Decrease WTI US$1.O0/bbl 20

Increase AECO C$0.10/mcf

DecreaseAECOC$0.1O/mcf

Interest rate risk

Increase interest rate 1% 12 14

Decrease interest rate 18
Foreign currency exchange rate risk

Increase exchange rate by US$0.01 29
Decrease exchange rate by US$0.01 29

Credit Risk

Credit risk is the risk that party to financial instrument will cause financial loss to the Company by failing to discharge an obligation

Counterparty Credit Risk Management

The Companys accounts receivable are mainly with customers in the crude oil and natural gas industry and are subject to normal

industry credit risks The Company manages these risks by reviewing its exposure to individual companies on regular basis and where

appropriate ensures that parental guarantees or letters of credit are in place to minimize the impact in the event of default At

December 31 2009 substantially all of the Companys accounts receivables were due within normal trade terms

The Company is also exposed to possible losses in the event of nonperformance by counterparties to derivative financial instruments

however the Company manages this credit risk by entering into agreements with counterparties that are substantially all investment

grade financial institutions and other entities At December 31 2009 the Company had net risk management assets of $7 million with

specific counterparties related to derivative financial instruments December 31 2008 $2119 million

Liquidity Risk

Liquidity risk is the risk that the Company will encounter difficulty in meeting obligations associated with financial liabilities

Management of liquidity risk requires the Company to maintain sufficient cash and cash equivalents along with other sources of

capital consisting primarily of cash flow from operating activities available credit facilities and access to debt capital markets to meet

obligations as they become due The Company believes it has adequate bank credit facilities to provide liquidity to manage fluctuations

in the timing of the receipt and/or disbursement of operating cash flows

The maturity dates for financial liabilities are as follows

Thereafter

Accounts payable 240

Accrued liabilities 1522

Risk management 182 15 48 64

Other long-term liabilities 96 18 32 21

Long-term debt 400 419 1551 5424

The long-term debt represents principal repayments only and does not reflect fair value adjustments original issue discounts or transaction costs No debt repayments are

reflected for $1897 million of
revolving bank credit facilities due to the extendable nature of the facilities

Impact on

net earnings

Less than to less than

year years

to less than

years
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14 COMMITMENTS AND CONTINGENCIES

The Company has committed to certain payments as follows

2010 2011 2012

162 $136 125 $126 1051

155 124 103 102 101 261

49

21 31 39 6479

Office leases 25 19$
Other 271 67 23 15 12 34

Amounts represent managements estimate of the future undiscounted payments to settle asset retirement obligations
related to resource properties facilities and production

platforms based on current legislation and industry operating practices
Amounts disclosed for the period

2010 2014 represent the minimum required expenditures to meet

these obligations
Actual expenditures in any particular year may exceed these minimum amounts

The Company is defendant and plaintiff in number of legal actions that arise in the normal course of business In addition the

Company is subject to certain contractor claims The Company believes that any liabilities that might arise pertaining to any
such

matters would not have material effect on its consolidated financial position

16 SEGMENTED INFORMATION

The Companys conventional crude oil and natural gas activities are conducted in three geographic segments North America North Sea

and Offshore West Africa These activities include the exploration development production and marketing of conventional crude oil

natural gas liquids and natural gas

The Companys Oil Sands Mining and Upgrading is separate segment from conventional crude oil and natural gas activities as the

bitumen will be recovered through mining operations

Conventional Crude Oil and Natural Gas

Noah America Noah Sea Qffshore West Africa

2009 2008 2007 2009 2008 2007 2009 2008 2007

Segmented revenue 7973 13496 10149 961$ 1769 1597 913 944 776

Less royalties 825 1876 1318 81 143 70

Revenuenetofroyaltils 71481 11620 8831 959 1765 1594 832 801 706

Segmented expenses

Production 1748 1881 1642 376 457 432 179 102 94

Transportation and bIendg 1213 1975 i7 10 16

Depletion depreciation

c2rtizatiofl__06___23SO 26i_ 317 340 335 132 165

Asset retirement

38 24 27

Realized risk

management activities 880 1861 129 373 33

Total segmented

expenses 4182 7995 5754 296 810 851 519 237 262

Segmented earnings

before the following 2966 3625 3077 663 955 743 313 564 444

mentedexenses
Administration

-basedcompensationexenserecove
Interest net _______________________________________

Unrealized risk management activities

Foreign exchange gain loss

Total non-segmented expenses

Taxes other than income tax

Current income tax expense

Future income tax recovery expense

Net earnings

2013 2014 Thereafter
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15 SUPPLEMENTAL DISCLOSURE OF CASH FLOW INFORMATION

Changes in non-cash working capital were as follows

2009 2008 2007

Changes in non-cash working capital

Accounts receivable and other 276 334

Accounts payable 151 456
Accrued liabilities 429 15 402
Net changes in non-cash working capital 856 92 524
Relating to

Operating activities 235 189 346
Financing activities 12 46

Investing activities 609 235 186

856 92 524

Other cash flow information 2009 2008 2007

Interest paid 516 574 556

Taxes other than income tax paid 52 300 16

Current income tax paid 216 258 302

Midstream activities include the Companys pipeline operations and an electricity co-generation system Activities that are not included

in the above segments are reported in the segmented information as other Inter-segment eliminations include internal transportation

electricity charges and natural gas sales

Oil Sands Mining Intersegment
and Upgrading Midstream imination and other Total

2009 2008 2007 2009 2008 2007 2009 2008 2007 2009 2008 2007

1253 72 77 74 94$ 113 53 $11078 $16173 $12543

36 936 2017 1391
1217 72 74 86 107 53 10142 14156 11152

683 19 25 22 18 14 2987 2451 2184
41 45 50 42 1218 1936 1570

187 33L 10 2819 2683 2863

21 90 71 70

1253 1860 162

932 28 33 30 96 74 48 5861 9001 6849

285 44 44 44 10 33 4281 5155 4303

181 180 208

355 52 193

410 128 276

1991 3090 1400

631 718 471

2306 2116 1606

1975 7271 2697
106 178 165

388 501 380

99 1607 456

$1580 4985 2608
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Capital Expenditures

2009 2008

Non cash and Non cash and

Net fair value Capitalized Net fair value Capitalized

expenditures changes costs expenditures changes costs

Conventional crude oil and natural gas

North America 1663 65 1728 2344 2337

North Sea 168 146

Offshore WestAfrica 544 111 655 811 817

Other

2377 322 2699 3475 128 3347

553 355 908 3912 10 3922

Midstream

13 17 17

2949$ 677 3626$ 7413 118 7295

Asset retirement obligations future income tax adjustments related to differences between carrying value and tax value and other fair value adjustments

Net expenditures for Oil sands Mining and Upgrading also include capitalized interest stock-based compensation and the impact of intersegment eliminations

Segmented Assets

2009 2008

Conventional crude oil and natural gas

North America 22994 24875

North Sea 1968 2638

Offshore West Africa 2033 2013

Other
42 64

13621 12677

Midstream ____________________
306 315

Head office 60 68

41024 42650

17 DIFFERENCES BETWEEN CANADIAN AND UNITED STATES

GENERALLY ACCEPTED ACCOUNTING PRINCIPLES

The Companys consolidated financial statements have been prepared in accordance with Canadian GAAP These principles conform in

all material respects with US GAAP except for those noted below Certain differences arising from US GAAP disclosure requirements are

not addressed

The application of US GAAP would have the following effects on consolidated net earnings loss as reported

millions of Canadian dollars except per common share amounts Notes 2009 2008 2007

1580 4985 2608

Depletion net of taxes of $7 million

2008 $2503 million 2007 $1 million ABCD 273 6169 10
Stock-based compensation net of taxes of $51 million

2008 $32 million 2007 $3 million 154_ 76 22
Future income taxes 234 234

Net earnings loss US GAAP 1153 1026 2342

Nngsloss-USGrcohare
Basic 2.13 .90 4.34

Diluted 2.13 1.90 4.32

Comprehensive income loss under US GAAP would be as follows

millions of Canadian dollars Notes 2009 2008 2007

çprehensiveincorneCanadianGAAP 1214 5175 2534

US GAAP earnings adjustments 427 6011 266

Comprehensive income loss US GAAP 787 836 2268
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The application of US GAAP would have the following effects on the consolidated balance sheets as reported

2009

Canadian Increase

millions of Canadian dollars Notes GAAP Decrease US GAAP

Current assets 1891 103 1994
Property plant and equipment ABCD 39115 8824 30291
Other long-term assets 18 49 67

41024 8672 32352

2405 387 2j92
jrmçbt 9658 49 9707

Other long-term liabilities 1848 35 1883
Future income tax ABCDF 7687 2474 5213
Share capital 2834 2834

16696 6669 10027
Accumulated other comprehensive income 104 104

41024 8672 32352

2008

Canadian Increase

millions of Canadian dollars Notes GAAP Decrease US GAAP

Current assets 3392 3392
Property plant and equipment ABCD 38966 8551 30415
Other long-term assets 292 55 347

42650 8496 341 54

Current liabilities 3420 150 3570
Long-term debt 12596 55 12651

1124 15 1139
Future income tax ABCDF 7136 2474 4662
Share capital 2768 2768
Retained earnings 15344 6242 9102
Accumulated other comprehensive income 262 262

42650 8496 34154

Notes

Under Canadian full cost accounting guidance costs capitalized in each country cost centre are limited to an amount equal to the

future net revenues from proved and probable reserves using estimated future prices and costs discounted at the risk-free rate plus

the carrying amount of unproved properties and major development projects the ceiling test as described in note 1l Under the

full cost method of accounting as set forth by the US Securities and Exchange Commission the ceiling test differs from Canadian

GAAP in that future net revenues from proved reserves are based on prices using the average first-day-of-the-month price during
the previous 12-month period and costs as at the balance sheet date and are discounted at 10% Capitalized costs and future net

revenues are determined on net of tax basis In addition beginning in 2009 the Companys Oil Sands Mining and Upgrading

activities are included in the Companys US GAAP full cost oil and gas cost center for Canada for ceiling test purposes These

differences in applying the ceiling test to current and prior years resulted in the recognition of ceiling test impairments under US

GAAP which reduced property plant and equipment by $8951 million in 2009 2008 $8697 million 2007 $36 million

For the year ended December 31 2009 US GAAP net earnings would have decreased by $815 million 2008 $6164 million net

of income taxes of $178 million 2008 $2501 million to reflect the impact of current year ceiling test impairment In addition

the impact of prior ceiling test impairments would have increased US GAAP net earnings by $551 million 2008 increased by
$3 million 2007 decreased by $4 million net of income taxes of $188 million 2008 $1 million 2007 $8 million to reflect the

impact of lower depletion charges The 2007 income tax effect includes the effect of enacted Canadian income tax rate changes on
this item

During 2009 the US Securities and Exchange Commission adopted revisions to its oil and gas reporting disclosures contained in

Regulation S-K and Topic 932 Extractive Activities Oil and Gas summary of the requirements included in Regulation S-X
These revisions change the price basis for calculating oil and gas reserves from single-day year-end price to monthly average

price based on first-day-of-the-month prices These revisions impacted the reserves used in the Companys calculation of the

ceiling test under US GAAP at December 31 2009 and will impact the calculation of depletion in future periods In addition oil and

gas activities are now determined based on the end product rather than the method of extraction As result the Companys Oil

and Sands Mining and Upgrading operations are now included in its full cost oil and gas cost center for Canada These revisions are

effective for filings made on or after January 2010 and will be applied prospectively with no retroactive restatement
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The Company accounts for its stock based compensation liability under Canadian GAAP using the intrinsic value method as

described in note 1P Under US GAAP effective January 2006 the Company would have adopted Financial Accounting Standards

Board Statement FASB Topic 718 Compensation Stock Compensation previously FAS 123R which requires companies to

account for all stock based compensation liabilities using the fair value method where fair value is measured using an option pricing

model The Company uses the Black Scholes option pricing model to determine the fair value of its stock based compensation

liability for US GAAP purposes The previous US GAAP standard FAS 123 required companies to account for cash settled

stock-based compensation liabilities using the intrinsic value method For the year ended December 31 2009 US GAAP net

earnings would have decreased by $154 million 2008 $76 million 2007 $22 million net of income taxes of $51 million

2008 $32 million 2007 $3 million related to the different valuation methodologies The 2007 income tax effect includes the

effect of enacted Canadian income tax rate changes on this item In addition US GAAP net earnings would have decreased by

$1 million 2008 $nil 2007 $nil net of income taxes of $nil 2008 $nil 2007 $nil related to the impact of the change in

capitalized stock-based compensation on depletion depreciation and amortization expenses

Under US GAAP the foreign currency component of business combination is not eligible for cash flow hedging The impact of

prior year adjustments would have decreased US GAAP net earnings by $7 million for the year ended December 31 2009

2008 $8 million 2007 $6 million net of income taxes of $3 million 2008 $3 million 2007 $7 million to reflect the impact

of higher depletion charges The 2007 income tax effect includes the effect of enacted Canadian income tax rate changes on this item

Under Canadian GAAP the Company began capitalizing interest on the Horizon Project when the Board of Directors approval was

received in 2005 For US GAAP capitalization of interest on projects constructed over time is mandatory and interest would have

been capitalized to the costs of construction beginning in 2004 As result of applying US GAAP an additional $27 million would

have been capitalized to property plant and equipment in 2004 During 2009 Horizon Phase assets were completed and available

for their intended use Accordingly capitalization of all associated Phase development costs including capitalized interest ceased

and depletion depreciation and amortization of these assets commenced For the year ended December 31 2009 US GAAP net

earnings would have decreased by $1 million 2008 $nil 2007 $nil net of income taxes of $nil 2008 $nil 2007 $nil

Under Canadian GAAP the Company is not required to include potential common shares related to stock options in the calculation

of diluted earnings per share as the Company has recorded the potential settlement of the stock options as liability
Under

US GAAP Topic 260 Earnings Per Share previously FAS 128 Earnings Per Share the Company would have included potential

common shares related to stock options in the calculation of diluted earnings per share For the year ended December 31 2009 nil

additional shares would have been included in the calculation of diluted earnings per share for US GAAP 2008 nil additional

shares 2007 3376000 additional shares

Under Canadian GAAP the effects of income tax changes are recognized when the changes are considered substantively enacted

Under US GAAP the income tax changes would not be recognized until the changes are enacted into law For the years
ended

December 31 2008 and 2007 the differences between substantively enacted and enacted tax legislation resulted in difference in

timing of the recognition of $234 million future income tax recovery

Under Canadian GAAP debt issue costs on long term debt must be included in the carrying value of the related debt Under

US GAAP these items must be recorded as deferred charge Application of US GAAP would have resulted in the balance sheet

reclassification of $49 million of debt issue costs from long term debt to deferred charges in 2009 2008 $55 million 2007 $51 million

In December 2007 the FASB issued Topic 805 Business Combinations previously FAS 141R Business Combinations which replaced

FAS 141 effective for fiscal years beginning after December 15 2008 Topic 805 retains the purchase method of accounting and requires

assets acquired and liabilities assumed in business combination to be measured at fair value at the date of acquisition The standard also

requires acquisition related costs and restructuring costs to be recognized separately from the business combination This standard is to be

applied prospectively to all business combinations subsequent to the effective date and does not require restatement of previously

completed business combinations The adoption of this standard did not result in US GAAP reconciling item
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SUPPLEMENTARY OIL GAS INFORMATION UNAUDITED

This supplementary crude oil and natural gas information is provided in accordance with the United States Financial Accounting
Standards Board FASB Topic 932 Extractive Activities-Oil and Gas and where applicable is reconciled to the financial information

prepared in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles in the United States US GAAP

NET PROVED CRUDE OIL AND NATURAL GAS RESERVES

The Company retains qualified independent reserves evaluators to evaluate the Companys proved crude oil and natural gas reserves

For the year ended December 31 2009 the reports by GLJ Petroleum Consultants Ltd GLJ covered 100% of the Companys
synthetic crude oil reserves With the inclusion of the non-traditional resources within the definition of oil and gas producing

activities within the SECS modernization of oil and gas reporting rules Final Rule effective January 2010 these reserves

volumes are now included within the Companys crude oil and natural gas reserves totals

For the year ended December 31 2009 and 2008 the reports by Sproule Associates Limited Sproule covered 100% of the

Companys bitumen coal bed methane crude oil and natural gas liquids and natural
gas reserves

For the years ended December 31 2007 and 2006 the reports by Sproule and Ryder Scott Company covered 100% of the

Companys bitumen coal bed methane crude oil and natural gas liquids and natural gas reserves

Proved crude oil and natural gas reserves as defined within the SECS Regulation S-X under the Final Rule are the estimated quantities

of oil and gas that geoscience and engineering data demonstrate with reasonable certainty to be economically producible from given
date forward under known reservoirs under existing economic conditions operating methods and government regulations Proved

developed reserves are reserves that can be expected to be recovered from existing wells with existing equipment and operating

methods or in which the cost of the required equipment is relatively minor compared to the cost of drilling new well and through

installed extraction equipment and infrastructure operational at the time of the reserves estimate is the extraction is by means not

involving well

Estimates of crude oil and natural gas reserves are subject to uncertainty and will change as additional information regarding producing
fields and technology becomes available and as future economic and operating conditions change
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The following table summarizes the Companys proved and proved developed crude oil and natural gas reserves net of royalties as at

December 31 2009 2008 2007 and 2006

Crude Oil and NGLs mmbbl

Synthetic
North Offshore

Crude Crude Oil America North West

Oil Bitumen NGLs Total Sea Africa Total

Net Proved Reserves

Reserves December 31 2006 887 299 130 1316

Extensions and discoveries 30 30

19

Purchases of reserves in place

Sales of reserves in place

Production 77 20 10 107

Revisions of prior estimates 66 28 102

Reserves December 31 2007 920 310 128 1358

Extensions and discoveries
51 51

17 27

Purchases of reserves in place

Sales of reserves in place

Production 76 17 101
28 81 45

Revisions of prior estimates .38 1Q.6
Reserves December 31 2008 690 258 948 256 142 1346

24 30 30

75 83 83

SEC reliable technology

SEC rule transition 1650 1650 1650

Purchases of reserves in place

Sales of reserves in place

Production 49 24 73 14 11 98
Economic revisions due to prices 64 72 57 19
Revisions of prior estimates 79 11 90 59 27

Reserves December 31 2009 1650 695 319 2664 240 123 3027

oveddeveloedreserves
December 31 2006 420 214 63 697

December31 2007 426 240 70 736

December 31 2009 1589 268 204 2061 94 106 2261

Prior to December 31 2009 the companys Horizon sco reserves were reported separately in accordance with the SEcs Industry Guide With the SECS Final Rule in effect

January 2010 this synthetic crude oil is now included in the companys crude oil and natural gas reserves totals

Bitumen as defined by the SEC under the Final Rule is petroleum in solid or semi-solid state in natural deposits with viscosity greater than 10000 centipoise
measured

at original temperature in the deposit
and atmospheric pressure on gas free basis Under this definition all the Companys thermal and

primary heavy oil reserves have

been classified as bitumen Prior to December31 2009 these reserves would have been classified within the Companys conventional crude oil and NGL totals

Revisions of prior estimates for the
year

ended December31 2007 include the impact of economic revisions due to prices

SEC reliable technology accounts for reserves volumes added due to the reserves rule changes

For continuity purposes with respect to the transition from Industry Guide into the SECS Final Rule the following
SCO table has been provided to illustrate the changes in

the Companys Horizon SCO reserves for the 2009 year

Horizon SCO Reserves
Net proved mmbbl

Reserves December31 2008 1946

Production
18

evisions due to rices________ 307

Revisions of prior estimates
29

Reserves December 31 2009 1650
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Natural Gas bcf

Net Proved Reserves

Reserves December 31 2006

Extensions and discoveries

Purchases of reserves in place

Sales of reserves in place

Production

North

America

North Offshore

Sea West Africa Total

2008

North North Offshore

millions of Canadian dollars America Sea West Africa Other Total

Proved properties 34386 4155 2076 14 40631

Unproved properties 2271 12 595 26 2904

36657 4167 2671 40 43535
Less accumulated depletion

and depreciation 21857 3366 777 14 26014
Net capitalized costs 14800 801 1894 26 17521

3705 37 56 3798
134 134

132 135

12 12

503 512
Revisions of prior estimates 41 46 12 99

Reserves December 31 2007 3521 81 64 3666
Extensions and discoveries 140 140

Improved recovery 52 57

Purchases of reserves in place 77 77

Sales of reserves in place

Production 449 457
Economic revisions due to prices 19 56 69
Revisions of prior estimates 202 47 22 271

Reserves December 31 2008 3523 67 94 3684
Extensions and discoveries 92 92

Improved recovery 11

Purchases of reserves in place 15 15

Sales of reserves in place

Production 443 453
Economic revisions due to prices 335 12 327
Revisions of prior estimates 170 163

Reserves December 31 2009 3027 67 85 3179

Net proved developed reserves

December 31 2006 2934 17 12 2963
December 31 2007 2731 58 53 2842
December3l2008 2690 45

December 31 2009 2333 45 81 2459

Revisions of prior estimates for the year ended December31 2007 include the impact of economic revisions due to prices

CAPITALIZED COSTS RELATED TO CRJJD OIL AND NATURAL GAS ATIVJTIES

2009

North North Offshore

millions of Canadian dollars America Sea West Africa Other Total

Proved properties 49052 3875 2195 14 55136

Unproved properties 2854 666 28 3552

51906 3879 2861 42 58688

Less accumulated depletion

and depreciation 24216 3260 1170 14 28660
Net capitalized costs 27690 .1 1691 30028

As at December 31 2009 the companys Oil sands Mining and upgrading segment has been included in North America capitalized costs in accordance with revisions to the

US Securities and Exchange commission oil and gas disclosures in Regulations SK and SX and FASB
Topic 932 Extractive Activities Oil and Gas
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2007

North North Offshore

America Sea West Africa

droperties$32061$3164$1695$
Unproved properties 2259 10 138 25 2432

3174 833 39 39 66

Less accumulated depletion

and depreciation 12213

millions of Canadian dollars
Other Total

Property acquisitions

Proved

Unproved
69 69

Exploration
173 36 210

Development 1480 277 654 2413

Costs incurred 1728 313 655 2$ 2698

Excludes additions related to the Companys Oil Sands Mining and Upgrading Segment

____________
2008

pyq
Proved 299 44 336roved846

tion
Development 1810 195 772 2777

Costs incurred 2337 192 817 3347

2007

North North Offshore

millions of Canadian dollars America Sea West Africa Other Totalrtacquisitionsed 5$-$-$17
ve

ation 239 19 1259

Development 2173 380 148 2701

Costs incurred 2480 362 148
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millions of Canadian dollars

Net capitalized costs

Other Total

14 36934

1446
22107 1728 1188

COSTS INCURRED IN CRUDE OIL AND NATURAL GAS ACTIVITIES

645 14 14318

25 25048

North

America

2009

North

Sea

Offshore

West Africa

millions of Canadian dollars

North

America

North Offshore

Sea West Africa Other Total

2991



RESULTS OF OPERATIONS FROM CRUDE OIL AND NATURAL GAS PRODUCING ACTIVITIES

The Companys results of operations from crude oil and natural gas producing activities for the years ended December 31 2009 2008
and 2007 are summarized in the following tables

2009

North North Offshore

millions of Canadian dollars America Sea West Africa Total

Crude oil and natural gas revenue

costs 7121 1334 832 9287
Production 1748 376 179 2303
Transportation 284 293

and amortization 2186 207 527 2920
Asset retirement obligation accretion 41 24 69
Petroleum revenue tax 85 85
Income tax 833 317 30 1180
Results of operations 2029 317 91 2437

Excludes results of operations from the Companys Oil Sands Mining and Upgrading segment

Includes the impact of ceiling test impairment at December31 2009 of $993 million pre-tax

2008

North North Offshore

millions of Canadian dollars America Sea West Africa Total

Crude oil and natural gas revenue

net of royalties and blending costs 8126 1731 801 10658

Production 1881 457 102 2440
Transportation 327 10 338
Depletion depreciation and amortization 9661 1564 132 11357
Asset retirement obligation accretion 42 27 71
Petroleum revenue tax 143 143
Incometax 1128 235 141 1222

Results of operations 2657 235 423 2469

Includes the impact of ceiling test impairment at December 31 2008 of $8665 million pre-tax

2007

North North Offshore

millions of Canadian dollars America Sea West Africa Total

Crude oil and natural gas revenue

net of royalties and blending costs 7441 1522 709 9672
Production 1642 432 94 2168
Transportation 335 16 352
Depletion depreciation and amortization 2359 340 165 2864
Asset retirement obligation accretion 38 30 70
Petroleum revenue tax 141 141
lncometax 997 282 121 1400
Results of operations 2070 281 326 2677
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STANDARDIZED MEASURE OF DISCOUNTED FUTURE NET CASH FLOWS FROM PROVED CRUDE OIL AND

NATURAL GAS RESERVES AND CHANGES THEREIN

The following standardized measure of discounted future net cash flows from proved crude oil and natural gas reserves has been

computed using the average first-day-of-the-month price during the previous 12-month period costs as at the balance sheet date and

year-end statutory income tax rates discount factor of 10% has been applied in determining the standardized measure of discounted

future net cash flows The Company does not believe that the standardized measure of discounted future net cash flows will be

representative of actual future net cash flows and should not be considered to represent the fair value of the crude oil and natural gas

properties Actual net cash flows will differ from the presented estimated future net cash flows due to several factors including

Future production will include production not only from proved properties but may also include production from probable and

possible reserves

Future production of crude oil and natural gas from proved properties will differ from reserves estimated

Future production rates will vary
from those estimated

Future rather than average first-day-of-the-month prices during the previous 12-month period and costs as at the balance sheet

date k.Nill apply

Economic factors such as interest rates income tax rates regulatory and fiscal environments and operating conditions will change

Future estimated income taxes do not take into account the effects of future exploration expenditures and

Future development and asset retirement obligations will differ from those estimated

Future net revenues development production and restoration costs have been based upon the estimates referred to above The

following tables summarize the Companys future net cash flows relating to proved crude oil and natural gas reserves based on the

standardized measure as prescribed in FASB Topic 932 Extractive Activities Oil and Gas

2009

North North Offshore

millions of Canadian dollars America Sea West Africa Total

Future cash inflows 176866 16304 8305 201475

88134 6929 3255 98318

22767 5271 975 2901

Future income taxes 11237 3487 1229 15953

10% annual discount for timing

of future cash flows 35526 275 1345 37146

Standardized measure of future net cash flows 19202 342 1501 21045

2008

North North Offshore

millions of Canadian dollars America Sea West Africa Total

recashinflows 13$13681$6789$72383
prod uction costs 23 747 845 3000 33592

edevelopmentandassetretirementobliation59238467436414276
Future income taxes 3097 2011 1061 6169

renetcashflows 1831151236418346
10% annual discount for timing

of future cash flows 6872 76 1011 7959

Standardized measure of future net cash flows 8959 75 1353 10387
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2007

North North Offshore

millions of Canadian dollars America Sea West Africa Total

Future cash inflows 71069 30269 9921 111259

Future production costs 23729 9316 2419 35464
Future development and

asset retirement obligations 7938 4021 621 12580
Future income taxes 9508 1376 1978 22862

Future net cash flows 29894 5556 4903 40353
10% annual discount for timing

of future cash flows 13952 2176 2505 18633
Standardized measure of future net cash flows 15942 3380 2398 21720

The principal sources of change in the standardized measure of discounted future net cash flows are summarized in the following table

millions of Canadian dollars 2009 2008 2007

Sales of crude oil and natural gas produced

net of production costs 5437 9679 7150
Net changes in sales prices and production costs 16808 14680 7412

4222 820 1429
Changes in estimated future development costs 2752 715 169
Purchasfproved reserves in place 53 13 39

Sales of proved reserves in place 103...
Revisions of previous reserve estimates 220 12 2380
Accretion of discount 1375 3468 2760
SEC reliable technology 254

SEC rule transition 7332

Changes in production timing and other 2788 767 508

Net change in income taxes 8622 8462 3378
Netchange 10658 11333 3728
Balance beginning of year 10387 21720 17992

Balanceend of year 21045 10387 21720
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TEN-YEAR REVIEW

FINANCIAL

Net earnings 1580 4985 2608 2524 1050 1405 1403 539 639 758

Per share basic 2.92 9.22 4.84 4.70 1.96$ 2.62 2.62 1.06 1.32 1.62

Cash flow from operations

6090 6969 6198 4932 5021 3769 3160 2254 1920 1884..
Persharebasic 11.24 12.89 11.49 9.18 9.36 7.03 5.88 4.41 3.96 4.04

Capital expenditures net of dispositions including business combinations

2997 7451 6425 12025 4932 4633 2506 4069 1885 2823

Balance sheet information

Working capital surplus

deficiency 514 28 1382 832 1774 652 505 14 77

Property plant and

equipment net 39115 38966 33902 30767 19694 17064 13714 12934 8766 7439

Total assets 41024 42650 36114 33160 21852 18372 14643 13793 9290 8051

1043 3321 3538 2748 4200 27882573
Shareholders equity 19426 18374 13321 10690 8237 7324 6006 4754 3928 3297

SHARE INFORMATION 11

Common shares

537903 536348 536361 534926 535104 484804 489116

Weighted average shares

outstanding thousands 541925 540647 539336 537339 536650 536223 536940 51 1532 485200 466804

Dividends declared

per common share 0.42 0.40 0.34 0.30 0.24 0.20 0.15 0.13 0.10

jtatistics11
TSXC$

Trading volume

thousands 520160 679738 429034 508935637992 606024 590702 619316 534976567412

Share Price $/share

High 79.00 $111.30 80.02 73.91 $62.00 2758$ 16.81 13.64 13.09 $14.05

Low 35.85 34.19 52.45 45.49 $2428 15.96 11.30 9.40 8.98 7.45

Close 76.00 48.75 72.58 62.15 $57.63 25.63 16.34 11.70 9.58 $10.38

NYSEUS$

Trading volume

thousands 757307 967228 486266 401909 251554 125468 46916 31864 20764 3172

Share Price $/share

76.51 $109.32 $87.17 64.38 54.05 22.37 $12.85 8.72 8.63 9.46

Low 27.69 26.43 $44.56 40.29 $19.74 11.94 $7.32 5.89 5.70$ 6.19

Close 71.95 39.98 $73.14 53.23 $49.62 21.39$ 12.61 7.42 6.10 6.88

RATIOS

Debt to book capitalization

33% 41% 45% 51% 29% 34% 33% 47% 42% 44%

Return on average common shareholders equity after tax

8% 33% 22% 27% 14% 21% 26% 13% 18% 29%

Daily production before royalties per ten thousand common shares boe/d

10.6 10.4 11.3 10.8 10.3 9.6 8.5 8.2 7.4 6.6

Total proved and probable reserves per common share boe

11.5 6.1 6.3 6.4 4.8 4.3 4.0 3.3 3.1 2.9

Net asset value per common share 15

$129.83 79.78 68.93 56.41 60.44 33.13 23.35 19.57 16.88 20.54

Restated to reflect two-for-one share splits in May 2004 and May 2005

Cash flow from
operations is non GA.AP measure that

represents
net earnings adjusted for non cash items before working capital adjustments The Company evaluates its

performance based on cash flow from operations Cash flow from operations may not be comparable to similar measures used by other companies

Refer to the Liquidity and Capital Resources section of the MDA for the definitions of these items

Based upon Company gross reserves constant price
and costs before royalties using year

end common shares outstanding Excludes Horizon SCO reserves prior to 2009

Based upon 100/ discounted forecast price pre
tax proved and probable net present

values as reported in the Company Annual Information Form AIF or reserves with

$250/acre added for core undeveloped land from 2005 to 2009 $75/acre for all years prior
less net debt Excludes Horizon SCO reserves prior to 2009 Future development

costs and associated material well abandonment costs have been applied against future net reserves Refer to the Year-End Reserves section of the Annual Report

Years ended December31 2009 2008 2007 2006 2005 2004 2003 2002 2001 2000
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Yearsended December31 2009 2008 2007 2006 2005 2004 2003 2002 2001 2000

OPERATING INFORMATION
Crude oil and NGLs mmbbl ____________________________
Company net proved reserves after royalties

North America 2664 948 920 887 694 648 588 571 583 568

North Sea 240 256 310 299 290 303 222 202 78 93

Offshore West Africa 123 142 128 130 134 115 85 75 60 30

3027 1346 1358 1316 1118 1066 895 848 721 691

Horizon SCO 1946 1761 1596 1626

probable reserves after royalties

North America 4172 1599 1545 1502 1035 926 857 636 670 643

North Sea 387 399 405 422 417 415 317 277 100 124

Offshore West Africa 179 191 186 195 206 196 133 121 103 37

4738 2189 2136 2119 1658 1537 1307 1034 873 804

Horizon SCO 2944 2680 2542 2566

Natural gbd
Company net proved reserves after royalties

North America 3027 3523 3521 3705 2741 2591 2426 2446 2064 1895
North Sea 67 67 81 37 29 27 62 71 94 91

Offshore West Africa 85 94 64 56 72 72 64 71 67 53

3179 3684 3666 3798 2842 2690 2552 2588 2225 2039

probable reserves after royalties

North America 3992 4619 4602 4857 3548 3319 2919 2765 2344 2214
North Sea 94 94 113 93 69 57 102 89 118 114

Offshore West Africa 124 131 88 99 10 90 72 90 88 67

4210 4844 4803 5049 3727 3466 3093 2944 2550 2395

Total proved reserves after royalties mmboe
3557 1960 1969 1949 1592 1514 1320 1279 1092 1031

Total proved and probable reserves after royalties mmboe
5440 2996 2937 2961 2279 2115 1823 1525 1298 1203

Dyproduction before royalties

Crude oil and NGLs mbbVd
North America Conventional

_________
234 244 247 235 222 206 175 169 167 155

North America Oil Sands Mining and Upgrading

50

North Sea 38 45 56 60 68 65 57 39 36 17

Offshore WestAfrica 33 27 28 37 23 12 10

355 316 331 332 313 283 242 215 206 174

Natgas mmcfld
______________________

North America 1287 1472 1643 1468 1416 1330 1245 1204 906 793
North Sea 10 10 13 15 19 50 46 27 12

Offshore West Africa 18 13 12

1315 1495 1668 1492 1439 1388 1299 1232 918 794

Total production before royalties mboe/d

575 565 609 581 553 514 459 421 359 306

Prod uct
Average crude oil and NGLs price $/bbl

5768 82.41 55.45 53.65 46.86 37.99 32.66 31.22 23.45 31.89

Average natural gas price $Imcf

4.53 8.39 6.85 6.72 8.57 6.50 6.21 3.77 5.45 4.92
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GENERAL INFORMATION

Corporate Governance

Canadian Naturals corporate governance practices and disclosure of

those practices are in compliance with National Policy 58-201 Corporate

Governance Guidelines and National Instrument S-101 Disclosure

of Corporate Governance Practices Canadian Natural as foreign

private issuer in the United States may rely on home jurisdiction listing

standards for compliance with most of the New York Stock Exchange

NYSE Corporate Governance
Listing

Standards but must disclose

any significant differences between its corporate governance practices

and those required for U.S companies listed on the NYSE

Canadian Natural follows Toronto Stock Exchange TSX rules

with respect to shareholder approval of equity compensation plans

TSX rules provide that only the creation of or material amendments

to equity compensation plans which provide for new issuance of

securities are subject to shareholder approval 1-lowever the NYSE

requires shareholder approval of all equity compensation plans and

material revisions to such plans Canadian Natural has share bonus

plan pursuant to which common shares are purchased through the

TSX This is not new issue of securities under the share bonus plan

and under TSX rules the plan is not subject to shareholder approval

Canadian Natural has included as exhibits to its Annual Report on Form

40-F for the 2009 fiscal year filed with the United States Securities and

Exchange Commission certificates of the Chief Executive Officer and

Chief Financial Officer certifying the quality of its public disclosure

CORPORATE OFFICES

Head Office

Canadian Natural Resources Limited

2500 855 Street S.W

Calgary AB T2P 4J8

Telephone 403 517-6700

Facsimile 403 517-7350

Website www.cnrl.com

Investor Relations

Telephone 403 514-7777
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Email ir@cnrl.com
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Company Definition

Throughout the annual report Canadian Natural Resources Limited

is referred to as us we our Canadian Natural or

the Company

Currency

All amounts are reported in Canadian currency unless otherwise stated

Abbreviations

Abbreviations can be found on page 21

Metric Conversion Chart

To convert To Multiply by

barrels cubic metres 0.159

thousand cubic feet cubic metres 28.174

feet metres 0.305

miles kilometres 1.609

acres hectares 0.405

tonnes tons 1.102

Common Share Dividend

The Company paid its first dividend on its common shares on

April 2001 Since then dividends have been paid on the first

day of every January April July and October The following table

shows the aggregate amount of the cash dividends declared per

common share in each of its last three years ended December 31

2009 2008 2007

Cash dividends declared

per common share 0.42 0.40 0.34

Notice of Annual Meeting

Canadian Naturals Annual and Special Meeting of the Shareholders

will be held on Thursday May 2010 at 300 p.m Mountain Daylight

Time in the Ballroom of the Metropolitan Centre Calgary Alberta

Stock Listing CNQ

The Toronto Stock Exchange

The New York Stock Exchange
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